
CORPORATION OF THE 

TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 

 

AGENDA 

February 22nd, 2022 7:30 p.m.                    Electronic 

  

 

1. OPEN 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA         

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST        

 

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES   

a) Special Council Meeting 

Minutes – January 27, 

2022 

b) Regular Council Meeting 

Minutes – February 1, 

2022 

c) Special Council Meeting 

Minutes – February 15, 

2022 

5. DELEGATIONS  

 

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS  

a) Rural Ontario Municipal 

Association Conference 

Update 

b) Lake Kagawong 

Resource Committee 

Report – Feb 3, 2022 

7. OLD BUSINESS 

             

8. NEW BUSINESS  

a) Asset Management Plan 

b) Community Emergency 

Management Coordinator 

c) Kagawong Capital and 

Maintenance  

d) Summer Students 

e) Recommendation from 

the Lake Kagawong 

Resource Committee 

f) 2022 Elemental Festival 

Support 



g) Main Street Hill Project – 

Additional Asphalt 

Submission 

h) Landfill Hours 

i) Community Energy and 

Emissions Plan 

j) 2022-10 Shoreline Road 

Allowance By-Law 

k) Employee Wellness 

Program 

l) Fire Hall 

m) Advertising for Vacancies 

9.  CORRESPONDENCE 

a) Saturday Landfill Hours – 

Bill Concannon 

10. INFORMATION 

a) Lake Kagawong 

Resource Committee 

Minutes – February 3, 

2022 

b) Memo from the Deputy 

Minister 

c) Evacuation Planning 

d) Climate Action 

Committee Meeting 

Minutes – Nov 24, 2021 

e) Economic Development 

Committee Meeting 

Minutes – Dec 15, 2021 

f) Economic Development 

Committee Meeting 

Minutes – Jan 18, 2022 

g) 2021 Year End By-Law 

Report 

11. ACCOUNTS FOR PAYMENT 

 

12. CLOSED SESSION  

a) Labour Relations 

 

13. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT     

    



 

 

Memorandum 
To:   Mayor, Council  

cc:    Staff, Public 

From:  Staff 

Date:   February 17 th, 2022 
 

RE:   February 22nd, 2022 Council Meeting 

4. Minutes 

 

a) Special Council Meeting Minutes – January 27, 2022 

 

Please review the minutes for approval. 

 

b) Regular Council Meeting Minutes – February 1, 2022 

 

Please review the minutes for approval. 

 

c) Special Council Meeting Minutes – February 15, 2022 

 

Please review the minutes for approval. 

 

5. Delegations 

 

 None. 

 

6. Committee Reports 

 

a) Rural Ontario Municipal Association Conference Update 

 

Councillor Sharon Jackson to deliver report to Council. 

 

b) Lake Kagawong Resource Committee Report – February 3, 2022 

Councillor Bryan Barker to deliver report to Council.  

7. Old Business 

 

None. 

 

8. New Business 

 

a) Asset Management Plan 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council accept the Asset Management Plan as presented. 

 

b) Community Emergency Management Coordinator 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council instructs the CAO to review the staff applications for the Community Emergency 

Management Coordinator (CEMC) to be effective April 1, 2022, and that the CEMC be paid $4000 per 

year, funds to be paid quarterly. 



 

 

 

The previous Community Emergency Management Coordinator (CEMC), Megan Bonenfant, has 

stepped down from the position and there is a need to fill the back-up CEMC position as well. 

 

Megan has completed the annual compliance reporting for 2021 in December; Billings was not 

compliant for 2021 for a few items: 

• The Emergency Information Officer is not a municipal employee 

• The EMPC did not complete annual training, conduct an exercise, or complete a fulsome review of 

the municipal EM program.  

While these items are not trivial, I do want to stress that I don’t believe the township’s ability to 

respond to an emergency were affected by these items being incomplete for 2021. The MECG was in 

fact operating under a state of emergency for a large portion of the year, successfully implementing 

their emergency program.  

Megan’s recommendation is that the next CEMC be a staff member with regular connection to the 

municipal office. Communication is key for the role, and being an off-site volunteer is a challenge.  

We suggest hiring internally to fill the CEMC position. Currently we have two applications. 

c) Kagawong Capital and Maintenance Recommendations 

Recommendation: 

That Council approves the 2022 expenditures as outlined on the OCWA budget. 

 

Please review the attached 2022 Expenditures for Billings Township as outlined by the Ontario Clean 

Water Agency (OCWA). 

 

d) Summer Students 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council approves the advertising and hiring of summer students. 

 

Attached is a copy of the advertisement that has been prepared for Council’s approval. We have 

applied for funding for these positions but have yet to receive notice as to whether or not we will 

receive funding. All of these positions are crucial. The marina students are required to operate the 

Marina, the library student will allow the Library to be open for patrons all summer, the museum 

students will allow for the Museum to be open seven days a week and the Public Works students will 

assist with grounds maintenance and at the landfill.  

 

e) Recommendation from the Lake Kagawong Resource Committee 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council includes, as part of the Oakville Energy Corporation Kagawong Water Generation Station 

lease, that any convention of terms of the lease may result in a review of the lease and subject to a 

mandatory five-year evaluation of the existing lease for purposes of legal review, example changes 

made by the lessee or lessor, or outside agencies, environmental impacts and climate change. 

 

The Lake Kagawong Resource Committee made the following motion at their February 3rd, 2022 

Committee meeting:  

 

Moved by Brian Foreshew, seconded by Bob Clifford 

That the Committee recommends the following to be included as part of lease agreement: 

That any convention of terms of the lease may result in a review of the lease. 



 

 

And 

Subject to a mandatory five-year evaluation of the existing lease for purposes of legal review, 

example changes made by the lessee or lessor, or outside agencies, environmental impacts 

and climate change. 

       Carried 

 

f) 2022 Elemental Festival Support 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council provides in-kind support to 4elements living arts for the 2022 Elemental Festival by 

allowing the use of the Park Centre, and the Old Church on the Hill on September 10th and 11th, 2022 

provided that they follow all of the COVID-19 protocols that are in place at that time. 

 

As requested in previous years, 4elements is seeking the use of the Park Centre and the Old Church 

on the Hill for the 2022 Elemental Festival on September 10th and 11th, 2022. 

 

g) Main Street Hill Project – Additional Asphalt Submission 

 

Recommendation: 

That as a show of good faith, the Township offer a onetime payment of $30,000 to resolve the 

additional asphalt quantity submission with Denis Gratton Construction Limited. 

 

To be considered: 

• Billings Township has paid all invoices received. The final holdback on the project has been 

paid. 

• The Township has fulfilled its obligations on this project. 

• Gratton misplaced asphalt delivery tickets in excess of $60,000. 

• Our contract states that delivery tickets may not be accepted if they are not submitted at the 

proper time. 

• We are not obligated to settle with Gratton – it was not our error. 

• We were satisfied with the services provided by Gratton and will have future projects that we 

may wish them to tender on.     

• The additional asphalt was installed on our project. 

• Settling this matter would be ethically correct. 

• EXP has suggested that as an act of good faith the Township consider negotiating with 

Gratton and suggested that we offer a one-time payment of $ 30,000 to resolve the issue. 

 

h) Landfill Hours 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council open the landfill on Saturday. 

 

As discussed at the September 20th, 2021 Regular Council Meeting, Council planned to discuss 

changing the current landfill hours in the Spring of 2022. 

2021-314 Alkenbrack – Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council keep the landfill hours as is for the Winter 2021/22 and will re-

evaluate in the Spring of 2022. 

        Carried. 

An email was received by Bill Concannon to reconsider the landfill hours to include Saturdays. This 

email is attached in correspondence. 

 



 

 

The current landfill hours are: 

Tuesday & Thursday 2pm – 6pm 

Sunday 10am – 4pm 

 

Prior to COVID, the landfill hours were: 

April 1 – October 31  

  Tuesday & Thursday 4pm – 8pm 

Saturday 10am – 6pm 

Sunday 1pm – 6pm 

November 1 – March 31 

 Tuesday & Thursday 2:30pm – 6:30pm 

Saturday 10am – 6pm 

Sunday 1pm – 6pm 

 

If Council decides to re-open the landfill on Saturdays, they will need to decide which hours it will be 

open and if the hours will need to change for any other day(s) as well. 

Currently, Dennis is available by appointment on Saturdays for resorts and businesses. This allows 

him to do the necessary cleanup in order to comply with Ministry orders regarding the landfill. If the 

landfill is open to the public on Saturdays, we may need to re-evaluate if Dennis is no longer able to 

complete the necessary cleanup to comply with the Ministry orders. 

i) Community Energy & Emissions Plan 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council approve the final version of the Community Energy & Emissions Plan. 

 

Once the final version of the Community Energy & Emissions Plan (CEEP) has been approved then 

township will be eligible to receive approximately $5,000 in Provincial Ministry of Energy (MEP) 

funding. 

 

j) 2022-10 Shoreline Road Allowance By-Law 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council accepts By-Law 2022-10, Being a bylaw to control the land usages for land identified as 

Shoreline Road Allowances within Billings Township, be given first, second, third reading and enacted. 

 

This By-Law was initially reviewed during a Special Council Meeting on November 22, 2021. All edits 

are highlighted in yellow to discuss. 

 

k) Employee Wellness Program 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council approves the request to budget $800.00 to implement a program to support the 

Employee Wellbeing Policy. 

In September 2021, I had all staff in the 3 Municipalities that I provide health and safety services to, 

take part in a Health and Safety Cultural Survey as part of a topical submission in the WSIB Program 

of Excellence Premium Rebate Program. 

As part of the Health and Safety Cultural Survey, I posed this statement where staff were to agree or 

disagree: 



 

 

The Municipality/Township is committed to the mental well being of its employees. 

Only 60% of the employees agreed with this statement. An average of 85% was observed for all other 

survey statements.  

This information along with discussions that I have had with employees identified that there was a 

void in the health and safety program when it came to the emotional and physical well being of the 

staff. As we are all aware, mental and physical well being is an issue that has been gaining a higher 

and higher prominence in the public and social realm for all of us for some time now. 

As a result, I have presented a draft copy of an Employee Wellbeing Policy and Procedure to the 

CAO/Clerks and the Joint Health and Safety Committees within each Municipality that would be 

included as part of the Township Health and Safety Policy and Procedures (attached). I was directed 

to continue to develop a program to support the policy. 

The concept of the policy is that the Township will commit itself to a program where there will be a 

continuing awareness and educational program that promotes mental and physical wellbeing to staff. 

I have researched various sources for program information and I found that the Canadian Centre for 

Occupational Health and Safety and Mood Disorders Society of Canada have established programs 

that present the message of wellbeing in a manner that will be easily understood without being overly 

clinical. 

The delivery method I am suggesting is as follows. 

1. Management staff and supervisors receive a 30 – 60 minute training session to provide 

background information to be able to support the objectives of the Wellness Policy and its 

implementation. 

2. Staff will meet once per month for a 15 – 30 minute topical wellness presentation and 

discussion. The topic will be supported with promotional posters and educational reading 

materials distributed at the employee information sessions or to the break and lunch areas. 

3. An annual half – full day wellbeing seminar that will feature workshops, testimonials and 

guest speakers. The seminar would include all employees from all 3 of the municipalities that 

I provide health and safety services to. 

There will be a cost associated to the program, but I believe that these costs should be considered as 

an investment in the Township’s employees and their families. 

I am asking Council to approve reserving an amount of $800.00 to cover the costs that will be 

associated with operating the program to support the Employee Wellbeing Policy.  

The $800.00 would provide funds for: 

1. Enrollment in a program from the Mood Disorders Society of Canada called Elephant in the 

Room. This program addresses the stigmas attached with Mental Wellness. (See attached 

quote) 

2. Covering costs for guest speakers and refreshments at the ½ day wellness seminar. 

 

It should be noted that by implementing this policy and program, I would be completing another topic 

submission for the WSIB program and each Municipality would qualify for premium rebate ($1000). 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Arthur Moran, Health and Safety Coordinator 

The Township of Billings 

Municipality of Central Manitoulin  

Tehkummah Township 

 



 

 

l) Fire Hall 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council agrees to renovate the existing hall (2100 sq ft.) + mezzanine as presented by Tulloch 

Engineering and directs staff to work on an RFP for the renovations. 

 

Earlier this fall, Council contracted Tulloch Engineering to prepare a “Fire Hall Renovation vs New 

Build Report” to examine the cost-benefit and implications of the two approaches.  

 

A Special Council Meeting was held on January 27th, 2022 to discuss, in depth, the pros and cons of 

each option. Council had indicated the “renovate” option as the best choice of the three options 

provided by Tulloch Engineering. 

 

To reference the following are the estimated costs that were determined by Tulloch Engineering (all 

costs exclusive of HST): 

 

Renovate existing hall (2100 sq ft.) + mezzanine $556,250.00 

Demo existing hall and replace same size on site $845,000.00 

Construct new pre-engineered bldg. (4830 sq. ft.) $1,753,875.00 

 

m) Advertising for Vacancies 

 

Recommendation: 

That Council directs staff to advertise for the CAO/Clerk position.  

 

A Special Council Meeting was held on February 15th, 2022 to discuss the replacement of 

management positions in the Township. Council was given three options for how they could fill these 

vacancies: 

1. Hire from within – is there anyone who is capable/willing to fill that position 

2. Advertise/Recruit for the position, outside the organization, ourselves  

3. Hire a Recruitment Agency to advertise and recruit select candidates on our behalf 

 

Council had suggested that advertising for this position on our own would be a good first step. 

 

9. Correspondence  

 

a) Saturday Landfill Hours – Bill Concannon 

 

Please review email received from Bill Concannon. 

 

10. Information 

 

There are a number of items attached for Council’s information. Council may move any of these items to new 

business during the agenda approval for discussion at this meeting, or request that an item(s) be included on 

a future agenda for discussion. 

 

a) Lake Kagawong Resource Committee Minutes 

b) Memo from the Deputy Minister 

c) Evacuation Planning 

d) Climate Action Committee Meeting Minutes – Nov 24, 2021 

e) Economic Development Committee Meeting Minutes – Dec 15, 2021 

f) Economic Development Committee Meeting Minutes – Jan 18, 2022 

g) 2021 Year End By-Law Report 

 



 

 

12. Closed Session 

There will be a closed session to discuss a matter pertaining to labour relations. 



The Corporation of the 

Township of Billings 

Special Council Meeting 

 

January 27th, 2022 7:00 p.m.            Electronic Meeting    

 

Present: Mayor Anderson, Councillors Sharon Alkenbrack, Bryan Barker, Michael Hunt 

and Sharon Jackson 

Staff: Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk; Tiana Mills, Deputy Clerk; Todd Gordon, MPM; 

Cheryl McCulligh, Treasurer; Martin Connell, Fire Chief 

Media: Lori Thompson 

Members of the General Public 

 

1. OPEN 

 2022-19 Barker - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that this special meeting of Council be opened with a 

quorum present at 7:03 p.m. with Mayor Anderson presiding. 

Carried 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA    

 2022-20 Alkenbrack - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the agenda for the January 27th, 2022 special meeting of 

Council be accepted as presented.   

Carried 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST  

None. 

 

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES   

 None.         

 

5. DELEGATIONS 

 None 

       

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS  

 None. 

        

7. OLD BUSINESS 

None. 

                

8. NEW BUSINESS 

a) Fire Hall Scoping Report and Options 

Council discussed their options to repair or rebuild the Fire Hall. 

 

9.  CORRESPONDENCE 

a) Fire Hall Considerations – Sandy Cook and Ted Kilpatrick 



Council received letter. 

 

10. INFORMATION 

 None. 

 

11. ACCOUNTS FOR PAYMENT 

 None. 

 

12. CLOSED SESSION  

 None. 

 

13. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 

2022- 21 Alkenbrack - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that By-law 2022-03, being a by-law to confirm the 

proceedings of Council be given first, second, third reading and enacted. 

      Carried 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT  

 2022-22 Barker - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that this special meeting of Council be adjourned at 8:22 

p.m.    

Carried 

  

   

 

 

_________________________________       _________________________________ 

Ian Anderson, Mayor     Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk 



The Corporation of the 

Township of Billings 

Regular Council Meeting 

 

February 1st, 2022 7:30 p.m.            Electronic Meeting    

 

 

Present: Mayor Anderson, Councillors Sharon Alkenbrack, Bryan Barker, Michael Hunt 

and Sharon Jackson 

Staff: Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk; Tiana Mills, Deputy Clerk; Todd Gordon, MPM; 

Arthur Moran, By Law Officer; Cheryl McCulligh, Treasurer; Floyd Becks, Public 

Works Superintendent 

Media: Tom Sasvari 

Members of the General Public 

 

1. OPEN 

 2022-23 Barker - Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that this regular meeting of Council be opened with a 

quorum present at 7:30 p.m. with Mayor Anderson presiding. 

Carried 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA    

 2022-24 Hunt - Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that the agenda for the February 1st, 2022 regular meeting of 

Council be accepted as amended. 

Carried 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST  

None. 

 

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES   

a) Regular Council Meeting Minutes - January 17th, 2022 

2022-25 Barker - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the minutes for the January 17th, 2022 regular 

meeting of Council be accepted as presented. 

       Carried 

   

5. DELEGATIONS 

a) Asset Management Plan Presentation – Imad Alvi, PSD Citywide Inc. 

Council received presentation followed by a question-and-answer session. 

    

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS  

a) Economic Development Committee Report – Jan 18, 2022 

Council received the report. 

 

b) Parks, Recreation and Wellness Committee Report – Jan 24, 2022 



Council received the report. 

 

c) Community Policing Advisory Committee Report – Jan 12, 2022 

Council received the report. 

 

d) Lake Kagawong Resource Committee Report – Jan 20, 2022 

Council received the report. 

 

e) Library Board Report – Jan 18, 2022 

Council received the report. 

        

7. OLD BUSINESS 

None. 

                

8. NEW BUSINESS 

a) 2022-04 Enter into an Agreement with the Ontario Trillium Foundation 

2022-26 Alkenbrack - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council accept By-Law 2022-04, being a By-Law to 

enter into an agreement with the Ontario Trillium Foundation, as presented. 

       Carried 

 

b) 2022-05 Enter into Funding Agreements 

2022-27 Barker - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council accept By-Law 2022-05, being a By-Law to 

enter into funding agreements from Government Agencies, as presented. 

       Carried 

 

c) 2022-06 Signing Officer By-Law 

2022-28 Alkenbrack - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council accept By-Law 2022-06, being a By-Law to 

establish the Signing Officers who have authority to sign on municipal 

accounts, accepted as presented. 

       Carried 

 

d) Parks, Recreation and Wellness Committee Motion 

2022-29 Barker - Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council approve the motion received from the 

Parks, Recreation and Wellness Committee requesting $300 to host a Family 

Day Skate and Slide Event. 

       Carried 

 

e) 2022-07 Climate Action Committee Terms of Reference 

2022-30 Barker - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council accept By-Law 2022-07, being a By-Law to 

change the mandate and to amend the Terms of Reference of the Climate 

Action Committee, as presented. 



       Carried 

 

9.  CORRESPONDENCE 

a) Ontario Provincial Police Project Lifesaver Request for Support 

2022-31 Jackson - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council supports, in principle, the Ontario 

Provincial Police in bringing Project Lifesaver to Manitoulin Island with a 

mission to provide timely response to save lives and reduce potential injury 

for adults and children who wander. 

        Carried 

 

10. INFORMATION 

a) Lake Kagawong Resource Committee Meeting Minutes – Jan 19, 2022 

Council Received Report 

 

b) Parks, Recreation and Wellness Committee Meeting Minutes – Jan 24, 

2022 

Council Received Report 

 

c) Safer and Vital Communities Grant - All Chiefs Memo 

Council Received Report 

 

11. ACCOUNTS FOR PAYMENT 

2022-32 Barker - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council Authorizes the following accounts for payment: 

 General Accounts  $76,178.09 

and that cheques numbered 7112 to 7135 be authorized for signing as described in 

the attached register. 

       Carried 

 

12. CLOSED SESSION  

2022-33 Alkenbrack - Barker 

BE IT RESOLVED that in accordance with Section 239. (2)(h) information that 

is explicitly supplied by confidence to a municipality or local board by Canada, a 

province or territory or a Crown agency of any of them. 

       Carried 

… 

 

2022-34 Alkenbrack - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council move out of Closed Session at 8:48 p.m. and 

resume their regular meeting. 

        Carried 

 

13. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 

2022-35 Barker - Alkenbrack 



BE IT RESOLVED that By-law 2022-08, being a by-law to confirm the 

proceedings of Council be given first, second, third reading and enacted. 

        Carried 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT  

 2022-36 Barker - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that this regular meeting of Council be adjourned at 8:50 

p.m.    

Carried 

  

   

 

 

_________________________________       _________________________________ 

Ian Anderson, Mayor     Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk 



The Corporation of the 

Township of Billings 

Special Council Meeting 

 

February 15th, 2022 7:00 p.m.            Electronic Meeting    

 

Present: Mayor Anderson, Councillors Sharon Alkenbrack, Bryan Barker, Michael Hunt 

and Sharon Jackson 

Staff: Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk; Tiana Mills, Deputy Clerk; Todd Gordon, MPM; 

Cheryl McCulligh, Treasurer 

Media: Tom Sasvari 

Members of the General Public 

 

1. OPEN 

 2022-37 Barker - Alkenbrack 

BE IT RESOLVED that this special meeting of Council be opened with a 

quorum present at 7:00 p.m. with Mayor Anderson presiding. 

Carried 

 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA    

 2022-38 Hunt - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that the agenda for the February 15th, 2022 special meeting 

of Council be accepted as presented.   

Carried 

 

3. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST  

None. 

 

4. ADOPTION OF MINUTES   

 None.         

 

5. DELEGATIONS 

 None 

       

6. COMMITTEE REPORTS  

 None. 

        

7. OLD BUSINESS 

None. 

                

8. NEW BUSINESS 

a) District Social Services Board Apportionment  

2022-39 Alkenbrack - Barker 

BE IT RESOLVED that Council agrees with the current apportionment 

formula from the District Social Services Board and does not support a change 



in the way the apportionment is calculated by the Municipal Tax Equity 

Consultants. 

       Carried 

 

b) Planning for Future Vacancies in Management Positions 

Council received memo. 

 

9.  CORRESPONDENCE 

 None. 

 

10. INFORMATION 

 None. 

 

11. ACCOUNTS FOR PAYMENT 

 None. 

 

12. CLOSED SESSION  

 None. 

 

13. CONFIRMING BY-LAW 

2022- 40 Alkenbrack - Jackson 

BE IT RESOLVED that By-law 2022-09, being a by-law to confirm the 

proceedings of Council be given first, second, third reading and enacted. 

      Carried 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT  

 2022-41 Barker - Hunt 

BE IT RESOLVED that this special meeting of Council be adjourned at 7:30 

p.m.    

Carried 

  

   

 

 

_________________________________       _________________________________ 

Ian Anderson, Mayor     Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk 



ROMA CONFERENCE 2022
Prepared by Sharon Jackson

The theme of this year’s two day ROMA (Rural Ontario Municipal Association) conference
was “Opportunities for Rural Ontario in a Post-Covid World”.

Throughout the conference, delegates heard from ROMA Chair Robin Jones, AMO
President Jamie McGarvey, Premier Doug Ford, Andrea Horwath, Steven Del Duca and
during one of the concurrent sessions on Rural and Northern Health, Dr Stephen Cooper
who has been a member of the Manitoulin Health Centre’s health care team in Little
Current for 30 years, 13 of which he has been Chief of Staff. Dr Cooper was also
featured in a recent article in the Manitoulin Expositor urging the province to prioritize
health care in the north.

TVO’s host of The Agenda Nam Kiwanuka introduced the Conference’s keynote speaker
Chief Perry Bellegarde, former National Chief of the Assembly of First Nations who spoke
on How municipalities can and should work with Indigenious Peoples. He spoke about
hope and that Canadians are “getting it” when it comes to embracing conciliation so we
can all move forward. It’s an ugly truth, he stated, and said that the best history about
Canada is yet to be written. When it comes to relationship building, his take away was
that it “still needs work” through building trust with open communication. He asked how
often do we get together with First Nations to discuss common issues at joint meetings?
To build trust you have to communicate. It’s not them vs us. It is “we”. We’re all in this
together. He asked how do we grow the economy together? The fastest growing
demographic is our young people; through strong literacy they are looking into
entrepreneurship which will have a huge impact on the economy.

ROMA Chair Jones spoke about rural opportunities including their Plan for Action - future
for rural life developed by rural people. The old ideal was a model showing an urban
centre as the hub and rural areas as the spokes. ROMA wants to change this to untap
potential so we can move forward on our own terms. 19% of the total population of
Ontario lives in rural areas. And this means we deserve equitable access to resources
which include: job security, education, health care, civic engagement, purchasing power,
housing, safety, work-life balance, social connections, environmental quality and
subjective well-being.

Minister of Rural Economic Development Gudie Hutchings shared that because of the
significant population of rural municipalities in Ontario, we cannot just be considered an
afterthought. He shared that the province has invested $3 billion dollars across rural
Ontario to provide broadband access to 98% by 2026 and everyone by 2030. This of
course, is if the infrastructure is in place first.

Several concurrent sessions were held including:
Navigating the new regulations under the Conservation Authorities Act
Human services transformation for poverty reduction
Community Safety & Well Being
The continued quest to improve connectivity in Ontario
Homelessness in rural Ontario: Challenges and opportunities
Fines and enforcement: advancing the local administration of justice



Taking a pulse check on rural and northern Ontario
Climate change and municipalities: how community energy plans and land use planning
can help
Innovative housing solutions in rural Ontario

I attended two sessions per day, the first being Community Safety & Wellbeing. As of
January 1, 2019, the Province of Ontario legislated all municipalities in the province to
create and adopt a Community Safety & Wellness Plan. A community engagement
meeting was held June 17, 2021 (which I attended virtually along with our CAO and
Deputy Mayor). Our municipality’s Plan was compiled by ISN (Investigative Solutions
Network) and presented to Council at our August 3, 2021 meeting. The top four priorities
identified in our Plan are: mental health and addictions, domestic violence, housing and
seniors. A copy of our Plan is available on the Township’s website under the
Administration tab and then choose Public documents in the drop down menu.

Steven Jacques, General Manager of Community Development for the City of Sudbury
shared how in 2018 his city had a “call to action” which attracted no less than 178
community partners to create their top 10 priorities in a document entitled: Moving
Upstream: Greater Sudbury’s 10 Community Elected Priorities. Their top 10 are from 1
to 10: Indigenous, Families, Mental Health & Addictions, Housing, Compassionate City,
Age Friendly Community, Holistic Health, Play, Resiliency and Healthy Streets.
-One plan was established for each quadrant of the District as they all experienced the
same challenges across all communities
-The plans are similar in nature regarding the risk priorities.
-Working in collaboration with all service providers.
-Municipalities have some of the services, but partnerships are required.
-Continuous evaluation and evolution

Julie Gonyou, CAO for Elgin County since 2017 spoke next about how Elgin, St Thomas
and Aylmer worked towards their three year CSWB plan designed to “make our
communities safer, more inclusive places where all residents thrive.” Their top five
priorities are education and skills development, housing security, mental health and
well-being, public safety and substance use and addiction. The challenges they face
moving forward are to maintain momentum and support and many of the priority areas
are outside of the mandate of local municipalities and require an infusion of funding to
make a meaningful difference.

Homelessness in rural Ontario: challenges and opportunities. Homelessness was
broken down into two categories by speaker Carol Kauppi PhD Director of the Centre for
Research in Social Justice and Policy, Professor of Social Work at Laurentian University in
Sudbury. They are: hidden homelessness which includes couch surfing, survival sex, or
living temporarily in motels/single room units. Absolute homelessnes is just what it
suggests: no home, living on the street, in a shelter, or tent cities.

Polly Smith, Director of Employment & Social Services with the Municipality of
Chatham-Kent spoke about the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic in her region. Church
basements and women’s shelters were providing temporary housing until spring of 2020
when government mandated social distancing put people out. The men’s shelter closed,
the number of volunteers went down, hotels and motels were closed to the homeless.
There was no safe place to isolate: no access to food, washrooms and other basic needs.



The municipality sprang to action, opening 60 beds within a two week period in the
Recreation Centre and then they were able to secure the third floor of a hotel on the
outskirts of town.

Brian Marks, CAO of Cochrane District Social Services Admin Board asked the question:
“which is more complex rocket science or homelessness?” Rocket science is basically
getting a rocket off the ground, and putting it back. It takes a lot of money with few
casualties. In the case of homelessness, we are not realizing the potential of our
population because we allow for homelessness to exist. The Ministry’s method for
allocating funding through its largest homelessness programs, the Community
Homelessness Prevention initiative, is not based on population need, but rather follows
historical funding levels and is also based on outdated Statistics Canada data. This has
created unfairness in amounts provided to the 444 municipalities across the province.
The five things Mr Marks learned following a 2021 Homeless Enumeration (which
engaged 242 individuals) were:
-build the system to survive administrators and organizations
-focus the system on the individual because everyone has their own story
-trust no one. Create accountability and trust the accountability
-lay no blame. Blame abdicates an individual’s responsibility to change and improve
-don’t judge.

Taking a pulse check on rural and northern health - as I indicated earlier in my
preamble, Dr Stephen Cooper participated in this concurrent session. His priorities
include advocacy, unique health care needs, medical clinical recruitment and to support
recruitment and retention.

Climate change and municipalities: how community energy plans and land use
planning can help - some municipalities do not currently have a climate change plan.
Billings is fortunate in that we have a CEEP Plan in place. Lisa Shields, Chief Planner for
the City of Cambridge shared the following: look at what’s happening in the region and
build on that; interest in collaboration through access to data, local impacts, focus on
best practices. Don’t feel you can’t look at what cities are going. You can always learn;
don’t have to reinvent the wheel: look outward and then inward.

ROMA has formulated several recommendations as next steps in beginning to implement
its plan for Rural Ontario. Taken together, they set out an ambitious agenda for rural
Ontario. ROMA anticipates that implementation of these recommendations will take
several years and require active participation of dozens of other organizations as well as
the province, and in some cases, the federal government. The recommendations are:
-A new approach to analysis of Ontario’s economic strength and efficiency
-Increase Ontario’s economic resilience
-Digital connectivity now
-Encourage business adoption of digital technologies
-Improve infrastructure management planning
-Clarity in asset management planning
-Transportation planning that enhances tourism
-Plan for future with electric and connected autonomous vehicles
-Consider demographics in policy development
-Develop more in-province supply chains
-Community well-being as a foundation of policy



-New perspectives in labour market attraction and retention
-Attract people to rural Ontario
-Housing policy that reflects rural reality
-Planning policy that facilitates local decision-making
-Innovative path to market
-Collaborative networks to deliver service locally
-Coordination for success of much needed changes in long term care
-Overhauling funding approach for long term care

Who knew we would still be dealing with the pandemic nearly two years, since the first
case back in 2020? But here we are. Christine Elliott, Minister of Health and Deputy
Prime Minister stated we are not out of this yet and believes we will be dealing with
physical and mental health for a number of years to come.

-30-



COMMITTEE REPORT  

LAKE KAGAWONG RESOURCE COMMITTEE 

  03 February 2022 7:00 pm. 

VIRTUAL (ZOOM) 

 

Meeting was called to order by the chair at 7:00 pm. with a quorum present. 

PRESENT: Bryan Barker (Chair), Sharon Jackson (Councillor), Bob Clifford, Stan Pierce, Steve 
Weber, Kathy McDonald (CAO/Clerk, staff liaison) 

REGRETS: John Hoekstra 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

I. Report on Water Levels – Brian Foreshew was unable to gain access to the gauge due to 
due snow and ice.  Indicated that snow had not been removed.  Felt it was unsafe to go 
onto the ice.  Staff to check with OEC regarding their protocol for winter readings.  
 

II. Report on OEC Website – Stan Pierce reported that the OEC website was not up to date.  

Last reading 19 December 2021.  Staff to check with OEC regarding the status on OEC’s 

website. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

I. OEC – Discussion Regarding Extension of OEC Contract 

Discussion regarding suggestions for any changes or additions to the lease agreement.  
Numerous topics were discussed as outlined in the minutes. As a result, there were two 
recommendations to be presented to council for approval.  Wording of the 
recommendations outlined the basis of the issue and if approved by council forwarded 
to legal for appropriate wording. 

 

CORRESPONDENCE 

None 

 



INFORMATION 

None 

CLOSED SESSION 

None 

 

RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL 

Moved by Brian Foreshew, seconded by Bob Clifford 

That the Committee recommends the following to be included as part of lease agreement: That 
any contravention of terms of the lease may result in a review of the lease. 

And 

Subject to a mandatory five-year evaluation of the existing lease for purposes of legal review, 
example changes made by the lessee or lessor, or outside agencies, environmental impacts and 
climate change. 

 

NEXT MEETING 

24 March, 7:00 pm (virtual) 

MEETING ADJOURNED 

8:45 pm.  

Submitted by 

Councillor Bryan Barker (Chair LKRC) 



        i

Forecasted 

2022

Revised 

Estimate

Client 

Approved % Completed Completed

 Water Treatment Plant Y/N

New Pressure Relief Valve on plant discharge $4,200

Neutralization backwash tank pump $1,500

Total Estimate - Recommended  Capital $5,700

 WTP- Maintenance Capital (repairs, etc) 

SCADA/PLC Programming Improvements $2,100

Unit Heater Replacement $3,200

DWQMS Onsite and desk top audits (3rd Party) $2,100

Dehumdifiers Repair (motor Rebuild) $1,600

Roll Up Door Repairs $2,500

Zebra Mussel Chlorine line repair on intake(Requires Diver) $12,000

Clean/Paint Basement Ceiling $2,500

Low Lift Building Main Door Improvements $1,575

Replacement of Chemical Transfer Pump $2,100

Total Estimate - Recommended Maintenance Capital $29,675

Distribution/Storage 

Install Shut off valve at Rainbow Heights Line $6,500

Maple Ridge Subdivision - buried shut off valves need to be 

raised for access
$3,500

Repair 2" line that goes under the bridge at Marina - 

Replace existing watermain
TBD

Water Tower Level Indicator Repair $250

Total Estimate - Recommended Capital $10,250

Total Estimate - Recommended Maintenance Capital $0

 Kagawong WTP 

 Recommended Capital/Major Maintenance Year 2022

The Ontario Clean Water Agency has identified the following capital projects/ major maintenance for your review and approval. 

Planned Scope of Work Status Notes/Issues

Cost Esitmate

Page 1 of 2 Progress Report   2022-02-03             i



        i

 Kagawong WTP 

 Recommended Capital/Major Maintenance Year 2022

The Ontario Clean Water Agency has identified the following capital projects/ major maintenance for your review and approval. 

Page 2 of 2 Progress Report   2022-02-03             i



        i

Dec-18

OCWA work 

order Ref.

Or Town No. Scope of Work Recommended Capital 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

 Water Treatment Plant (New Equipment) l

Generator overheats due to poor ventilation

Post Chlorine Chemical Pump Board Replacement $24,000

Citric Acid Chemical Pump Board Replacement $24,000

Calcium Thiosulphate Pump Board Replacement $24,000

Caustic Soda Chemical Pump Board Replacement $24,000

New SCADA computer terminal $21,500 $28,000

Membrane Replacement $100,000

Chlorine analyzer for treated water $7,500

Turbidity meters for filters and Raw water Replacement $22,500 Current units are obsolete and no parts are available

New Pressure Relief Valve on plant discharge $4,200

Neutralization backwash tank pump $1,500

Total Estimate - Recommended  Capital $5,700 $29,000 $0 $22,500 $24,000 $100,000 $72,000 $28,000 $0 $0

 WTP- Maintenance Capital (repairs, etc) 

SCADA/PLC Programming Improvements $2,100 $2,100 $2,100 $2,200 $2,200 $2,200 $2,300 $2,300 $2,300 $2,400

Unit Heater Replacement $3,200

DWQMS Onsite and desk top audits (3rd Party) $2,100 $890 $890 $2,200 $900 $900 $2,200 $950 $950 $2,300

Clearwell Inspection and Cleaning $20,000

Dehumdifiers Repair (motor Rebuild) $1,600
Humidity is causing premature corrosion of computer/PLC 

components and other equipment

Clean/Paint Basement Ceiling $2,500

Air actuators and valves for membrane system $3,280 $3,280

Low Lift Building Main Door Improvements $1,575

Annual Inspection of water tower fall arrest system $2,327 $2,443 $2,565

Intake Inspection (Every 5 years) $5,785 $6,000

Raw water quality analysis $1,900 $1,950

PTTW Renewal $1,500

Roll Up Door Repairs $2,500

Zebra Mussel Chlorine line repair on intake(Requires Diver) $12,000

Replacement of Chemical Transfer Pump $2,100

Total Estimate - Recommended Maintenance Capital $29,675 $6,270 $12,055 $4,400 $25,000 $3,100 $6,000 $11,577 $5,693 $9,215

Distribution/Storage  

Install Shut off valve at Rainbow Heights Line $6,500

Maple Ridge Subdivision - buried shut off valves need to be 

raised for access
$3,500

Repair 2" line that goes under the bridge at Marina - Replace 

existing watermain
TBD

Water Tower Inspection (Every 5 Years) $9,500 $10,500

Water Tower Level Indicator Repair $250

$10,250 $9,500 $0 $0 $0 $0 $10,500 $0 $0 $0

Total Estimate - Recommended Maintenance Capital $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Kagawong Water Treatment Plant 

Cost Estimate

Rationale for Project 

Approved by 

Client

(10-Year Recommended Capital/Major Maintenance from 2022 to 2031)

The Ontario Clean Water Agency has identified the following capital projects/major maintenance for your review and approval for the year of 2022.  Future years will be re-evaluated in October and added to as required.

C
o

m
p

li
a

n
c

e

H
e

a
lt

h
 &

 

S
a

fe
ty

R
e

p
a

ir
 /

 

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c

e

L
if

e
c

yc
le

 

R
e

p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t

D
W

Q
M

S
 R

A
 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

*

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t

S
p

a
re

 P
a

rt
s

 

In
v

e
n

to
ry

Page 1 of 2 2022-02-03             i



        i

Dec-18

OCWA work 

order Ref.

Or Town No. Scope of Work Recommended Capital 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

Kagawong Water Treatment Plant 

Cost Estimate

Rationale for Project 

Approved by 

Client

(10-Year Recommended Capital/Major Maintenance from 2022 to 2031)

The Ontario Clean Water Agency has identified the following capital projects/major maintenance for your review and approval for the year of 2022.  Future years will be re-evaluated in October and added to as required.

C
o

m
p

li
a

n
c

e

H
e

a
lt

h
 &

 

S
a

fe
ty

R
e

p
a

ir
 /

 

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
c

e

L
if

e
c

yc
le

 

R
e

p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t

D
W

Q
M

S
 R

A
 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

*

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t

S
p

a
re

 P
a

rt
s

 

In
v

e
n

to
ry

Total Estimate - Recommended Capital $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0

Total Capital Estimate $45,625 $44,770 $12,055 $26,900 $49,000 $103,100 $88,500 $39,577 $5,693 $9,215 Keith Stringer

Legend: 

H

M

L

2022 Recommended Capital Presented by: 

Low priority recommended to be completed in years 4 to 5

High priority recommended to be completed in upcoming year

Medium priority recommended to be completed in 1 to 3 years

* NOTE : a requirement of DWQMS v. 2.0 is to consider the outcomes of the risk assessment (RA) documented under Element 8 as part of the system's infrastructure review

Page 2 of 2 2022-02-03             i



 

The Township of Billings is accepting applications for a number of seasonal student positions for the 

spring/summer of 2022. Contract length varies from 8-12 weeks depending on position and successful 

applicants’ availability. 

 

Marina Assistant (2 @ 35 hours per week) 

Public Works Assistant (2 @ 35 hours per week) 

Museum Assistant (35 hours per week) 

Library Assistant (35 hours per week) 

 

Eligible students must be planning to return to school full time in the fall, be eligible to work in Canada 

and be at least 15 years of age upon commencement of employment. 

 

Applications (cover letter and resume) will be accepted by the Municipal Office until February 25th, 2022 

at 4pm and must be submitted by email. Please direct enquiries and applications to: 

 

kmcdonald@billingstwp.ca 

15 Old Mill Road 

PO Box 34 

Kagawong ON P0P 1J0 

 

Please note that only those applicants selected for an interview will be contacted.  

Applicants must meet funding partner eligibility criteria, including age/student status for funded 

positions. 

 

mailto:kmcdonald@billingstwp.ca


 

 
 
 
 
 
Township of Billings 
Mayor and Council 
 
30 January 2022 
 
Dear Mayor Anderson and members of Council, 
 
4elements Living Arts is planning for Elemental Festival 2022, to be held September 
10-11, 2022. 
 
The 2021 Festival required adjustment due to COVID-19 precautions, but was held 
outdoors in Billings Township at the Old Church on the Hill. Despite the challenges 
posed by the requirements for outdoor events only, Elemental Festival 2021 was a 
success, drawing more than 80 attendees to our events across the days of the 
Festival, featuring artists, artisans, and musicians, and an exhibit at our mobile 
studio. Billings Township was a valued supporter of the Festival and we thank you 
for making it possible to feature community arts in this way. 
   
As we have done in previous years with your support, 4elements has submitted a 
grant proposal to the “Building Communities Through Arts and Heritage--Local 
Festivals” fund from the Government of Canada/Canadian Heritage. We received 
funding from this source in 2019, 2020, and 2021, all of which went to support the 
local costs of the Festival.  
 
In order to complete our application for 2022, 4elements is requesting that the 
Township of Billings commit to providing in-kind support for Elemental 
Festival 2022 by allowing the use of the Park Centre and the Old Church on the 
Hill on September 10 and 11, 2022. We will abide by all required COVID-19 
precautions in place at the time of the Festival, and will cancel or postpone the 
Festival if it is not possible to hold the event safely. 
 
Municipal support for the Festival is required in order to complete a proposal, which 
was submitted January 30, 2022 and now requires submission of this 
supplementary documentation.  
 
4elements Living Arts is in its 20th year and has made significant contributions to 
Billings Township, including partnering on the Billings Connections Trail, which was 
recognized with the Lieutenant Governor’s Ontario Heritage Award in 2018. Our 
mission is to nurture and inspire community engagement in land-based arts on 
Manitoulin Island. We will continue to seek funding opportunities and develop the 
concept and programming for Elemental Festival 2022, and will keep you informed 



 

as we proceed. Your ongoing support will be a meaningful contribution to the 
economic and social fabric of our community. 
 
We would be happy to answer any questions you may have. With thanks for your 
consideration and support, 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Susan Snelling, on behalf of the Board of Directors, 4elements Living Arts 

User
Susan Snelling



 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  
 
Corporation of the Township of Billings 
Address: 
15 Old Mill Road 
P.O. Box 34 
Kagawong, ON P0P 1J0 
 
Attention:  Kathy McDonald, Clerk/CAO 
 
Re:  Kagawong Main Street Reconstruction Contract – Additional Asphalt Quantity Submission  
 
 
Dear Ms. McDonald: 
 
The installation of the asphalt (paving) for the reconstruction of Main Street in Kagawong was 
completed July 23rd, 2021.  The original tender quantity for the Main Street Reconstruction project was 
a total of 1,283 tons of asphalt divided between the road surface (929 tons), the walking path (144 
tons), and the provisional road surface (210 tons).  Subsequently, a payment for 1467 tons of asphalt 
placed was included on Payment Certificate #5 date September 15, 2021. On November 16th Gratton 
Construction submitted a summary of the truck weigh tickets or delivery tickets for each load placed. 
This submission included a request for payment of an additional 260 tons of asphalt and the associated 
tickets. This submission occurred approximately 16 weeks after the placement of the asphalt was 
completed.  It is our (EXP’s) understanding that Gratton Construction’s asphalt subcontractor Beamish 
Construction Inc. had not previously handed these tickets to EXP or Gratton Construction. 
 
 
 
 

Description Item # 
Contract Estimated 

Quantity (tons) 
Installed Quantity 

(tons) 
Qty Above 

Contracted (tons) 
Road Surface Hot Mix 

Asphalt – Superpave 12.5 
FC1 or HL-4 (50mm) 

27 929 956 30 

Walking Path Hot Mix 
Asphalt - Superpave 12.5 

FC1 pr HL-4 (50mm) 
28 144 279 135 

Provisional Item - Hot Mix 
Asphalt Superpave 12.5 

FC1 or HL-4 (50mm) 
64 210 232 22 

 
Quantities in excess of those found in the original tender can be attributed to two sources.  The first is 
the addition of an asphalt lift which is greater than the specified 50 mm.  This occurs in part due to 
contractor ensuring the thickness of the asphalt exceeds the specified thickness, resulting in increased 
paving quantities.  An example of the asphalt thickness exceeding the minimum can be seen at the 
asphalt ditch next to the rock escarpment.  The asphalt lift needed to be increased in thickness and 
placed higher up on the rock cut to prevent undermining the ditching in that location (refer to figure 1 
for a plan view of the location).    

Table 1: Tender Item Quantity Breakdown 



exp Services Inc. 
   

Company: Corporation of the Township of Billings 

Re: Kagawong Main Street Reconstruction Contract – Additional Asphalt Quantity Submission 
Project Number:SUD-00020031-IC 

Date: February 1st, 2022 

 

2 

 
 

 
The second is the addition of asphalt in locations that were not a part of the original scope of the 
project.  These locations include additional asphalt added outside of the post office, additional asphalt 
on the road shoulder reaching retaining wall #3, additional asphalt placed during the restoration of the 
Kuku Hut location, and additional asphalt added to the ditching at the escarpment location.  Figures 2 – 
4 below show a plan view of the locations. 
 

 
 

Figure 1: Asphalt Shoulder with Increased Thickness 

Figure 2: Post Office Additional Asphalt 



exp Services Inc. 
   

Company: Corporation of the Township of Billings 

Re: Kagawong Main Street Reconstruction Contract – Additional Asphalt Quantity Submission 
Project Number:SUD-00020031-IC 

Date: February 1st, 2022 

 

3 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 3: Additional Asphalt Shoulder at Retaining Wall #3 

Figure 4: Approximate Location of Additional Asphalt at Kuku Hut 



exp Services Inc. 
   

Company: Corporation of the Township of Billings 

Re: Kagawong Main Street Reconstruction Contract – Additional Asphalt Quantity Submission 
Project Number:SUD-00020031-IC 

Date: February 1st, 2022 

 

4 

 
 

 
 

 
EXP has conducted a thorough review of the tickets submitted and the total area of asphalt placed on 
Main Street. Although we can confirm additional asphalt was certainly placed in specific areas that 
were not included in the contract drawings, we cannot confirm with 100% certainty that all 260 tons 
were placed on this project site.  
 
As per the contract, specifically,  OPSS.MUNI 310 – Construction Specification for Hot Mix Asphalt, 
Section  310.09, Measurement for Payment: 
 

The Contractor shall be responsible for ensuring that the truck weigh ticket or delivery ticket for 
each load is handed to the Contract Administrator inspecting the HMA paving operation at the 
time the delivery truck unloads at the paving site. The Contract Administrator may not accept 
delivery tickets that are not submitted at the proper time or are submitted in groups after the 
delivery trucks have left the paving site. 

 
 
At the contract price of $240.00 per ton the requested value is in excess of $60,000.00. Contractually 
the Client, the Township of Billings, is not obligated to pay the requested additional 260 tons. 
 
Taking all of the above into consideration and also the quality of work and the positive relationship the 
Township had with Gratton Construction during this project, EXP recommends the Township negotiate 
a settlement with Gratton Construction. For example, as a show of good faith, The Township offer a 
onetime payment of $XXXXX to resolve this issue. 
 
 
Yours truly, 
 
 
 
 
Mark Langille, P.Eng. 
Senior Director, Infrastructure 
EXP Services Inc. 

Figure 5: Asphalt Shoulder with Increased Footprint 



 

 

 
 

Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 
A Plan for Climate Action in the Township of Billings 

 

 
 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 

A Message from the Mayor 

On behalf of Billings Municipal Council and staff I would like to say a few words about our Community 
Energy and Emissions Planning Process. This plan has been a work in progress for several years as 
we collected data to support making wise and energy efficient changes and reduce green house gas 
emissions at both the municipal operations level and at the taxpayer level. 

Many committed citizens have provided valuable ideas and feedback thus far, and these have had a 
direct influence on the action plan contained in this report. We all need to become better stewards of 
our environment as global climate change is here, indisputably. There are many of areas of our daily 
lives where we can all make a difference if we focus and commit to making some changes. 

Energy consumption is a significant cost to the municipality of Billings as well as its constituent 
businesses and households, and energy use is one of the largest drivers of climate change. Therefore, 
reducing our energy consumption must be a top priority as we all need to find ways to reduce our 
energy use. The township can play its part by ensuring that our public buildings and infrastructure are 
as energy efficient as possible and by encouraging our residents to do the same. 

Something as simple as composting organic waste, as well as increasing our re-use and recycling, of 
products and materials, are small individual steps, but together they will make a measurable difference. 
We are so fortunate to live in a place with still clean waters, carbon capturing forests and world class 
natural attractions which all contribute to a better quality of life for us all. 

Together, we have a collective obligation to ensure no further degradation of our environment for future 
generations to come. We can create a community where our energy consumption is significantly 
reduced and create a safe and cleaner environment. With your help today, we will! 

 
Thank you, 

 
Mayor Ian Anderson 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 

A Message from the Billings Climate Action Committee 

(CAC) 

The collective actions of our society, along with our daily choices, have had an impact of raising GHG 
levels and thereby causing climate change. In response this committee was created to help forward the 
charge to reduce GHG emissions in our community by 50% by the year 2030. We all call this beautiful 
island home, and it is with love for our home that we all volunteered as committee members to help 
maintain its health and beauty for future generations. 

We are happy to submit this community energy and emissions plan as a guide to making real progress in 
the various areas identified, building on the community engagement achieved through the successful 
survey that was an integral part of the planning process. We are grateful for all the assistance of those 
involved in creating this rich and detailed document, especially the two Climate Change Coordinators who 
shouldered the bulk of the work and guided our committee process. 

Now we look forward to implementing the many local ideas set forth in this plan and taking concrete steps 
to meeting the global challenge of climate change. It is our sincere hope that continued community 
engagement and collaboration with other groups around the island will lead to successful implementation 
of the actions this plan contains. There are some big challenges ahead, if we are to leave the planet in 
better shape for our grandchildren in 2051. 

July 2021 

  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

Thank you to everyone that participated in the development of the Community Energy and Emissions 

Plan (CEEP). Strong leadership from Municipal Council and the Climate Action Committee (CAC) has 

helped to advance our community’s response to climate change. 

CLIMATE ACTION COMMITTEE (CAC) 

MUNICIPAL COUNCIL REPRESENTATIVES  COMMUNITY MEMBER REPRESENTATIVES 
Bryan Barker 
Deputy Mayor and Chair of CAC  

Bob Clifford  
Paul Darlaston 

Ian Anderson  
Mayor  

John Hoekstra 
Chris Theijsmeijer 
 

MUNICIPAL STAFF  

Kim Neale Climate Change Coordinator (July 2020 - May 2021) 
Kristen Koetsier  Climate Change Coordinator (May 2019 -June 2020) 
Kathy McDonald CAO/Clerk, Deputy Treasurer 
Megan Bonenfant  Deputy Clerk  
Tiana Mills  Deputy Clerk  
Todd Gordon Economic Development Officer  

 

LOCAL PARTNERS AND STAKEHOLDERS 

Manitoulin Streams Hydro One Manitoulin Secondary School 
United Manitoulin Island Transit  Quest Mindemoya Public School 
Manitoulin Expositor & Recorder Oakville Enterprises Alterum  
Climate Risk Institute ReThink Green  Ethelo 

This project was made possible by a two-year staff grant from the Government of Canada, the 
Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) and the Municipal Energy Program (MEP) through 
Ontario’s Ministry of Energy, Northern Development and Mines (ENDM). This staff grant was shared 
with the Municipality of Central Manitoulin and was a major source of funding for the development of 
the Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) and related activities, including the development 
of a Greenhouse Gas (GHG) inventory for corporate and community emissions, management of 
stakeholder/committee and community engagement initiatives, and research on local government 
climate change mitigation/adaptation best practices. 

The Township of Billings would also like to acknowledge the significant contributions from citizens and 

partnership organizations that participated in this planning process. Over 250 members of our 

community contributed to these consultation efforts by attending events/committee meetings and 

participating in a community-wide educational engagement survey on climate change. 

Copyright © The Township of Billings. All Rights Reserved. The preparation of this plan was carried out 

with the assistance from the Government of Canada, the Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM), 

Local Governments for Sustainability (ICLEI) and the Province of Ontario. Notwithstanding this support, 

the views expressed are the personal views of the authors and the Government of Canada, Federation 

of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) and Province of Ontario accept no responsibility for them. 

 

 

 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 

INDIGENOUS LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

As we gather and create community climate change plans – we are reminded that the Township of 

Billings is situated on treaty land that is steeped in the rich Indigenous history of the Ojibwe, Odawa, 

and Potawatomi peoples. Mnidoo Mnising/Manitoulin Island is sacred to the Anishinaabe people and 

stewardship of the land and water that surrounds us is the thing that binds us. 

Today and always the Township of Billings acknowledges the United Chiefs and Councils of Mnidoo 

Mnising (UCCMM) on whose traditional territory outlined by the1862 Manitoulin Island Treaties and 

the unceded territory of Wiikwemkoong make up the land that is called Manitoulin Island and where 

we all call home.  

May our collaborative efforts to prevent the impact of climate change on Manitoulin Island, protect and 

preserve our shared natural assets be led by the principles outlined in the 1990 Friendship Treaty, 

Maamwi Naadmaading Accord. 

 

  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 

Table of Contents 
Preface .................................................................................................................................................................................... 1 
A Letter From the Future – 2050 ............................................................................................................................................ 2 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................................. 3 
1 A Vision for Climate Action ............................................................................................................................................. 5 

1.1 Township of Billings – Prosperous and Resilient .................................................................................................... 5 
1.2 The Role of Local Governments in Climate Change Action ..................................................................................... 6 
1.3 The Corporate-Community Relationship: Terminology .......................................................................................... 7 
1.4 Township of Billings – Strategic Plan 2018 to 2021 ................................................................................................ 7 
1.5 Environmental Responsibility – Mitigation vs. Adaptation ..................................................................................... 8 
1.6 Vision and Targets ................................................................................................................................................... 9 
CEEP Mission Statement and Co-Benefit Framework ....................................................................................................... 11 

2 Planning for Change ...................................................................................................................................................... 12 
2.1 Applying a Guiding Framework for Climate Change Action .................................................................................. 12 
2.2 Planning Timeline and Community Engagement .................................................................................................. 13 

3 Climate Change in the Township of Billings .................................................................................................................. 15 
3.1 By 2050 – Local Climate Change Risk and Impact ................................................................................................. 15 
3.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions Update ...................................................................................................................... 16 

4 Taking Climate Action ................................................................................................................................................... 17 
4.1 Shared Natural Spaces .......................................................................................................................................... 17 
4.2 Challenges and threats .......................................................................................................................................... 18 

4.2.1 How do other communities overcome these barriers? ................................................................................ 18 
4.2.2 Strengths and Opportunity – Carbon credits & data sharing ....................................................................... 19 
4.2.3 Taking Action – Shared Natural Spaces ......................................................................................................... 20 

4.3 Buildings ................................................................................................................................................................ 25 
4.3.1 Municipal Buildings and Facilities ................................................................................................................. 25 
4.3.2 Taking Action: Municipal Buildings, Facilities ............................................................................................... 27 
4.3.3 Community Buildings .................................................................................................................................... 29 
4.3.4 Taking Action: Building Buildings on our Strengths ...................................................................................... 31 

4.4 Transportation ...................................................................................................................................................... 33 
4.4.1 Taking Action: The Municipal Fleet ............................................................................................................... 33 
4.4.2 Taking Action: Community Owned Transit ................................................................................................... 34 

4.5 Waste .................................................................................................................................................................... 36 
4.5.1 Challenges and threats .................................................................................................................................. 36 
4.5.2 Strengths and opportunities – Community engagement and shared procurement .................................... 37 
4.5.3 Taking Action: Municipal and Community Waste Reduction ....................................................................... 37 

5 Plan Implementation..................................................................................................................................................... 40 
5.1 Recognition of the Value of Collaboration ............................................................................................................ 40 

6 Conclusion ..................................................................................................................................................................... 43 
7 Glossary and Acronyms ................................................................................................................................................. 44 
8 Appendixes .................................................................................................................................................................... 46 

A. Climate Action Committee Terms of Reference ....................................................................................................... 46 
B. Local Climate Projections .......................................................................................................................................... 46 
C. Updated Greenhouse Gas Inventory for the Township of Billings ........................................................................... 46 
D. Community Engagement Survey ............................................................................................................................... 46 

 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 

List of Figures and Tables 

Figure 1: The Role of Local Governments in Climate Action ......................................................................................... 6 
Figure 2 The relationship between corporate and community climate action planning. ............................................. 7 
Figure 3: Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation ................................................................................................... 8 
Table 1: The CEEP structure – the vision statement in action (with action categories) .............................................. 10 
Table 2: CEEP – The Climate Action Co-Benefit Framework, with example community benefits ............................... 11 
Figure 4: The Township of Billings CEEP Process Milestones ...................................................................................... 13 
Table 3: Key CEEP events, milestones, and progress to-date ...................................................................................... 13 
Figure 5: Interactions of climate risk and impacts ....................................................................................................... 15 
Table 4: Planning natural asset management using the Co-Benefits Framework ....................................................... 19 
Table 5: Natural Shared Spaces – Key collaborative objectives for taking corporate and community climate action21 
Table 6: Action to protect, restore, enhance natural spaces, key actions, partners, roles, resources - N1, capacity . 21 
Table 7: Action to protect, restore, enhance natural spaces – actions, partners, roles, resources – N2, water ........ 22 
Table 8: Action to protect, restore, enhance naturals spaces – key actions, partners, roles, resources – N3, 

mitigation, adaptation ................................................................................................................................................. 23 
Table 9: Municipal Buildings - Key objectives, with detailed actions, notes and considerations ................................ 27 
Figure 6: Manitoulin energy poverty cost burden ....................................................................................................... 29 
Table 10: Community benefits from collaborative action on community buildings using the co-benefit framework 31 
Table 11: Residential heating equipment 2021 versus 2030 - results of the GHG inventory (Appendix C) ................ 32 
Table 12: Taking action - reducing energy poverty while improving community resilience, housing, affordability, 

and creating healthy, comfortable homes .................................................................................................................. 33 
Table 13: Community co-benefits from increased ride sharing and an electrified transit system for Manitoulin ..... 34 
Table 14: Taking action – Reducing transportation costs and developing a connected, safe community .................. 35 
Table 15: Community co-benefits from waste reduction, using the co-benefits framework ..................................... 38 
Table 16: Taking Action – waste management - reducing overall consumption and landfilling ................................. 38 
Table 17: Examples of successful climate-change-related collaborations .................................................................. 41 

 

 

file:///C:/Users/Todd/Documents/Economic%20Development%20Folders%20and%20Files/Energy%20-%20Energy%20Conservation/Rethink%20Green%20Project%20-%202017-18/CEEP%20Report/CEEP%20Final%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revision%20-%20D1%20-%20TMG.docx%23_Toc88046382
file:///C:/Users/Todd/Documents/Economic%20Development%20Folders%20and%20Files/Energy%20-%20Energy%20Conservation/Rethink%20Green%20Project%20-%202017-18/CEEP%20Report/CEEP%20Final%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revision%20-%20D1%20-%20TMG.docx%23_Toc88046383
file:///C:/Users/Todd/Documents/Economic%20Development%20Folders%20and%20Files/Energy%20-%20Energy%20Conservation/Rethink%20Green%20Project%20-%202017-18/CEEP%20Report/CEEP%20Final%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revision%20-%20D1%20-%20TMG.docx%23_Toc88046384
file:///C:/Users/Todd/Documents/Economic%20Development%20Folders%20and%20Files/Energy%20-%20Energy%20Conservation/Rethink%20Green%20Project%20-%202017-18/CEEP%20Report/CEEP%20Final%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revision%20-%20D1%20-%20TMG.docx%23_Toc88046387
file:///C:/Users/Todd/Documents/Economic%20Development%20Folders%20and%20Files/Energy%20-%20Energy%20Conservation/Rethink%20Green%20Project%20-%202017-18/CEEP%20Report/CEEP%20Final%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revision%20-%20D1%20-%20TMG.docx%23_Toc88046389
file:///C:/Users/Todd/Documents/Economic%20Development%20Folders%20and%20Files/Energy%20-%20Energy%20Conservation/Rethink%20Green%20Project%20-%202017-18/CEEP%20Report/CEEP%20Final%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revisions/November%202021%20Revision%20-%20D1%20-%20TMG.docx%23_Toc88046396


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   1 

PREFACE 

 
A child growing up in a Canadian town after World War II would have witnessed community sirens installed 
in neighbourhoods. They may have practiced crawling under their desks to prevent injury from debris 
resulting from the potential detonation of an atomic bomb. Nuclear war was (and still is) a threat to human 
existence. 
 
Children today are facing a new threat to their existence, one which was not considered when the threat 
and terror of total nuclear war haunted us. Humans are destabilizing the earth’s ecology in many ways. We 
are taking more and more resources out of the environment while pumping back massive quantities of 
waste and poison, changing the very composition of the earth’s soils, the water, and the atmosphere. 
Habitats become degraded, large numbers of plant and animal species are facing extinction or have already 
become so. Nuclear war is still a threat today, and for the foreseeable future, but a changing climate is a 
present reality, and its destructive impact for human existence is growing. There is scientific consensus that 
human activity, especially the generation and emission of what are collectively as greenhouse gases 
especially carbon dioxide, are causing the earth’s climate to change. 
 

“Hazards resulting from the increasing intensity and frequency of extreme weather events, such as 
abnormally heavy rainfall, prolonged droughts, abnormal extreme winds, environmental 
degradation, or sea-level rise and cyclones are already causing an average of more than 20 million 
people to leave their homes and move to other areas in their countries each year1.” 

Globally, people living along seacoasts and especially on islands are already feeling the effects of climate 
change. Forecast sea level rises and these environments will undoubtedly be disproportionately impacted 
by climate change. While the ecology is different – freshwater as opposed to salt water – Manitoulin is, in 
effect, an island in the centre of the vast inland sea complex of the Great Lakes. So, our island too faces 
the real possibility of experiencing disproportionate disruption from the increasing impacts of global climate 
change. However, there is opportunity for Manitoulin Islanders to learn from other island communities, be 
they in salt or fresh water, and begin planning a resilient and prosperous future that acknowledges the past 
can no longer predict. We must also acknowledge that the increased hazard and resulting stress on our 
infrastructure due to climate change must be factored into community planning and decision making. 

Manitoulin Island has a beautiful but fragile ecology. It is the meeting place for Boreal, Carolinian, and even 
Atlantic seaside plants. It is on the great eastern North American migratory bird flyway and with four distinct 
seasons, offers natural beauty and processes which are unparalleled in most of the world. The Island 
sequesters more carbon than it produces, and we depend on large nations to come to climate change 
accords to attempt a decrease in greenhouse gas emissions. Our small population can seemingly do little 
to affect the huge scope of the problem globally. What we can do is develop and implement a plan for our 
community to become part of the climate change solution rather than continuing to contribute the problem. 
 
Recognizing that this is the first planning period of what will be a 30-year challenge, we asked local students 
to project themselves "30 years into the future" and to report back to the present-day community revealing 
what they found – the conditions resulting from deliberate, collaborative, and local efforts to address climate 
change. What follows is their report. 
 

  

 
1 United Nations Refugee Agency: Climate Change and Disaster Displacement. https://www.unhcr.org/climate-
change-and-disasters.html 

 

https://www.unhcr.org/climate-change-and-disasters.html
https://www.unhcr.org/climate-change-and-disasters.html


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   2 

A LETTER FROM THE FUTURE – 2050  

Dear Manitoulin Residents of 2021, 
 

We just recently got together and took a trip around Manitoulin Island to experience where we all grew 
up and talked about all the improvements. Looking out through our self driving public transportation, it 
is clear that the land has been protected with the utmost care, and when our vehicle stopped to 
recharge, Lake Huron was wonderfully pristine. All the stewardship and care that has preserved the 
island over the last few decades was crucial to mitigate the effects of climate change, providing a 
sustainable role model for communities across Canada. 

 
Within the local townships, we stopped to visit the familiar heritage buildings that had been retrofitted 
for efficiency while maintaining the Manitoulin charm. We were delighted to see rooftop gardens on 
many of the municipal buildings and businesses, consistently solar powered homes and offices, and 
a highly visible composting program. We are pleased that new housing projects have undergone 
rigorous environmental assessment for approval ensuring that new residents contribute to the green 
vision. This includes restrictions on household waste and net-zero energy consumption. The addition 
of tiny homes in the community was also very welcomed and provided great eco-friendly places for 
tourists to stay. Thanks to the climate action plan and the subsequent incentives, all residents have 
gladly supported the improvements. 

 
After touring the communities, we re-lived our fond memories on Lake Manitou via the very popular 
paddle-share program, uncontaminated by pollution or invasive species. We returned to shore 
famished and quickly found one of the many organic community gardens. The youth greeting us 
shared that the organic garden was fully stocked by products from the co-operative farm and local 
suppliers. We learned that from their inception, these farms integrated the cultivation and harvesting 
of traditional foods and medicines in partnership with the Anishinabek on Manitoulin. These farms are 
both a source of food security for many locals, as well as a thriving Manitoulin attraction. 

 
Investment and concerted sacrifice at the global level has mitigated so many potential catastrophes: 
including violent weather and heatwaves, increased skin cancer and disease rates, water scarcity and 
mass extinction. We hope efforts continue on Manitoulin and in communities across the world. Our 
tour around the island has reminded us that the vibrancy and beauty of Manitoulin is a product of its 
citizen’s love. Manitoulin is a model that has moved past just surviving and is now focused on living 
harmoniously and graciously as stewards for future generations. 

 
Jocelyn Kuntsi, 46              
Ethan Theijsmeijer, 46 
Katie Chapman, 45 
Rhys Allison, 45 
Kal Alhadi, 48 
April Torkopoulos, 50 
Darci Debassige, 46 
Hadeel Alhadi, 50 
Victoria MacDonald, 51 

 

Connor Phillips, 48 
Zoe Redmond, 46 
Jacob Maxwell, 51 
Mackenzie Cortes, 48 
Emma Cassidy, 47 
Marshall Maciuk, 50 
Rachael Orford, 47  
Larissa Chevrette, 48 

 

 
 

  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   3 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The climate is changing – all over the world and in the Township of Billings. Past extreme weather, 
flooding and wildfire risks no longer provide adequate information to predict impacts and guide 
community planning efforts. Each community in Canada must develop community-specific plans to 
protect residents from climate change risk moving forward. A Community Energy and Emissions Plan 
(CEEP) will provide the Billings Community with a strategy to integrate climate risk considerations into 
to ensure that energy and emissions targets are fully integrated into all processes - both operational 
and planning. 
 
This Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) is the culmination of over two years of joint 

community-based2 study and consultation to investigate and articulate relevant climate change 

hazards and to assess the community’s current state of preparedness for eliminating, mitigating, or 
adapting to these hazards. The result is a unique climate action plan that includes corporate and 
broader community actions, with successful outcomes for many being dependent on collaboration with 
other local, provincial, federal, private and NGO supporting partners. In fact, it has been a key strategic 
goal to identify collaborative opportunities to share resources, minimize and avoid the duplication of 
effort in community action, while simultaneously considering the need for the municipality to adopt 
customized corporate climate change plans that are specific, ambitious, have wide-spread community 
support and are attainable. 
 
Small and rural local governments all over Canada are making similar plans all over those that have 
gone before Billings have provided the Township of Billings with useful examples and best practices 
to assist our community in the pursuit of sound decision-making that explicitly considers environmental 
responsibility. The plan also employs the concept of climate policy co-benefits as further incentive for 
the various actions.3 

 

MISSION STATEMENT 
TO CREATE A RESILIENT AND NET-ZERO COMMUNITY BY 2050 AND SET A 

PATHWAY FOR 50% ENERGY AND GHG EMISSION REDUCTIONS BY 2030 THAT: 

HEALTH  NATURE  
COMMUNITY 

BUILDING  
ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT  
INNOVATION  

 
 

Enhances Health 
and well-being of 

community members 

 
 

Preserves and 
enhances local 
biodiversity and 
natural systems 

 
 
Builds community 
through inclusion 

 
 

Fosters a 
prosperous and 
sustainable local 

economy 

 
 

Promotes 
innovation and 

growth 
 

 

  

 
2 The Township of Billings shared a Climate Change Coordinator (CCC) position with the Municipality of Central 
Manitoulin. The two municipalities are quite distinct in size, profile, and resources but there are commonalities. These 
will show in the different outcomes of their CEEP Plans. As the plans are operationalized, common actions may be 
shared where it makes sense to do so. 
3 Karlsson, Mikael; Alfredsson, Eva; & Westling, Nils, 2020. Climate policy co-benefits: a review. 
https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2020.1724070 

https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2020.1724070


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   4 

Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 
Vision Statement in Action 

Corporate (Ѻ) Actions 

Include actions that the local government has 
operational control over (e.g. - fully owns an asset 
or has jurisdiction to implement operational 
services and programs to enhance health, safety, 
and environmental policies) and will lead climate 
action. The local government will endeavour 
include these actions in strategic planning and 
annual budgets, leveraging funding and 
collaborative opportunities whenever possible.  

Community (Ө) Actions 

Include actions that are led by the community, as 
individuals or collectively, to reduce emissions within 
their local government boundary. Local government 
may have influence over these programs/services, but 
direct community involvement is critical to success of 
action. Community partners to take a leadership role 
and responsibility for action will be sought. Local 
government will play a leadership role and can provide 
financial assistance/incentive strategically, to support 
action. 

Shared Natural Spaces 

Minimize (mitigate) impacts of climate change on community by taking action to protect, restore and 
enhance natural systems. Protect people and property from natural hazards and promote sustainability 

best practices in the local agricultural, forestry, tourism sectors. 

Corporate natural spaces or Greenspace 
includes - forests, community gardens, beaches, 
wetlands, waterways, trails, and roadside 
stormwater drainage owned and operated by the 
municipality. 

Community natural spaces or Greenspace includes 
- forests, agricultural, beaches, wetlands, waterways, 
trails, hunt/nature/tourism camps owned by private 
residents, but influence community overall. 

Buildings 

Reduce by 50%, below 2018 levels, by 2030 

Actions will increase energy efficiency and the adoption of renewable energy and low carbon technologies 
and build climate resilience in new and existing buildings. 

Municipal Buildings and Facilities Community Homes and Buildings 

Transportation 

Reduce by 50%, below 2018, levels by 2030  

Actions reduce vehicle trips, promote active and public transportation, and accelerate low carbon/GHG 
transportation options. 

Municipal Transportation Community Transportation 

Waste Reduction 
Reduce by 50%, below 2018 levels before 2030  

Reduce overall consumption by promoting circular economy concepts and increase waste diversion 
through recycling rate increases and home composting program 

Efficient and effective operation of the landfill; the 
promotion of community awareness regarding, 
waste (landfill and recycling) services in the 
municipality 

Active community participation and engagement in the 
circular economy, waste reduction and diversion 
programs 

 

  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   5 

1 A VISION FOR CLIMATE ACTION 

The climate is changing – all over the world and in the Township of Billings. Each community in Canada 

will need to mitigate and adapt to climate change risk differently – this is the Township’s plan to integrate 

climate risk considerations into existing operations and help prepare our community for climate change.  

1.1 TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS – PROSPEROUS AND RESILIENT 
As residents of the world’s largest freshwater island, tucked in between where Lake Superior runs into Lake 

Huron and Georgian Bay blooms into the North Channel – our community is remote and unique. For 

generations, our remoteness has contributed to the development of a unique culture – grounded in 

resilience and ingenuity, unquestionably connected to the land, and indisputably influenced by the land and 

waterscape. 

Currently, our main economic drivers are tourism and agriculture – huge, broadly encompassing sectors of 

economic activity. Building these sectors over generations is a testament to our collective home-grown 

resilience, our commitment to sustainability, and our acknowledgement that protecting our land, air and 

water for future generations are deeply rooted values. Many of our local economic, environmental, social, 

and cultural practices demonstrate practical leadership in sustainability and resilience. These community 

values are a strength – in fact, the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) study that was conducted as part of this project 

found that our community absorbs (sequesters) more carbon than we create through human activity. 

For the Township of Billings, this GHG emissions reality puts our municipality in a small sub-set of local 

governments in Canada and it is both our strength and a weakness. While most municipalities in Canada 

will find it challenging to increase carbon sequestration to help mitigate the impact of climate change, our 

challenge will be to keep it and protect it from climate change risk so our shared natural assets can continue 

to sustain our way of life. 

Global average temperatures continue to rise, worsening extreme weather events and endangering vital 

ecosystems. This means the things we value and depend upon for our very survival – human health, water, 

agriculture, energy, transportation, and the environment – are at great risk. Around the world the climate 

crisis is intensifying and the impact in the Township of Billings has already begun. Out of 77 eco-regions 

across southern Canada, the Manitoulin-Lake Simcoe eco-region was identified in the top nine most 

significant and threatened places for biodiversity. As one of the top nine crisis areas, this eco-region hosts 

75 species that are included on the list of national Species-At Risk (SAR) and about 40 species of global 

concern4. Of greatest importance, however, is Manitoulin Island’s central location within the Great Lakes 

and how it connects this important eco-region with the rest of North America. This island is a key element 

of the Manitoulin-Lake Simcoe eco-region and just as indigenous peoples have used Manitoulin Island for 

centuries as a central meeting place for trade and socialization – the unique biodiversity hosted by this 

island continues to support human activity in Central North America. Reducing the GHG generation in 

Billings Township by a further 50% by 2030 will be a valuable contribution to ensuring the Government of 

Canada meets its GHG reduction commitments. As climate change continues to intensify our community is 

vulnerable – our reliance on natural assets to support our economy, in all its varied aspects, is at risk. 

 
4 Nature Conservancy of Canada “Unique study pinpoints key places to stem biodiversity loss in Canada’s South” 

(March 3, 2021). Retrieved From: https://www.natureconservancy.ca/en/who-we-are/news-room/in-the-news/unique-

study-pinpoints-key.html 

Many of our current local economic, environmental, social, and cultural 

practices demonstrate leadership in sustainability and resilience. 

https://www.natureconservancy.ca/en/who-we-are/news-room/in-the-news/unique-study-pinpoints-key.html
https://www.natureconservancy.ca/en/who-we-are/news-room/in-the-news/unique-study-pinpoints-key.html


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   6 

This reality above makes the global climate change challenge a local challenge that must be addressed. 

Any vision for climate action must first acknowledge our strengths and vulnerabilities, as well as the unique 
challenges and climate risks that are not entirely within the Township’s control. Developing this Community 
Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) provides a set of actions for the Township of Billings, as a municipal 
corporation and a community, to mitigate and adapt to the impact of climate change over the next 30 years, 
building upon the uniqueness and resilience of our culture. We need to remember that small actions to 
protect, preserve and enhance natural spaces locally will make an impact globally. 

1.2 THE ROLE OF LOCAL GOVERNMENTS IN CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION 
As the level of government in Canada closest to the everyday lives of citizens, Municipalities are in an ideal 
position to respond to climate change. According to the Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM), 
municipalities have control of 44-50 percent of Canada’s GHG emissions5. Municipalities are also 
responsible for providing affordable and reliable services to residents that will be impacted by climate 
change risk. If our municipality (corporately and as a community) has influence over 44-50% of GHG 
emissions within our jurisdiction, it is safe to say that the other 50 to 56% will be influenced by people and 
organizations who live in elsewhere, but travel to our township for work or pleasure. Figure 1 shows how 
local governments can influence the components of climate action6. 

 
The Township of Billings is undertaking this climate change planning process because it will provide an 
explicit climate change perspective as the municipality continues to pursue environmental, social, and 
economic sustainability. This is the township’s initial CEEP, and the approach taken will: 

• Primarily consider areas where the municipality has direct control and direct influence, per figure 
1. If the municipality does not currently provide a service in an area where a local government can 
have direct control/influence – potential partners and collaborative opportunities will be explored. 

• Where the municipality has indirect, or little control, comment in this plan will be high level with a 
focus on encouraging near-term partnership and collaboration to jump start community-based 
climate action. 

 
5 Federation of Canadian Municipalities, Act Locally: The Municipal Role in Fighting Climate Change (2009). 
https://fcm.ca/sites/default/files/documents/resources/report/act-locally-municipal-role-fighting-climate-change.pdf 
6 Dufferin Climate Action Plan “The Role of Local Governments p. 29” (April 2021). 

Figure 1: The Role of Local Governments in Climate Action 

https://fcm.ca/sites/default/files/documents/resources/report/act-locally-municipal-role-fighting-climate-change.pdf


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   7 

1.3 THE CORPORATE-COMMUNITY RELATIONSHIP: TERMINOLOGY 

For this report, and in keeping with commonly used practices to define the parameters for climate change 
mitigation planning, the land, services, and operational areas over which the municipality has direct control 
will be referred to as “corporate”. All other land, service or operational (living, lifestyle) areas will be referred 
to as “community”. This nomenclature is supported by the Partners in Climate Protection (PCP) program 
and the corporate and community categories are used to measure community carbon sequestration 
capacity, energy and GHG’s within a defined municipal boundary. Figure 2 outlines the commonly used 
structure in climate change planning that has been considered for the township’s CEEP and can help define 
the difference between corporate and community emissions for measurement, management, and 
implementation of local climate action7. Using this structured approach, it becomes possible to begin 
identifying areas for priority action, collaboration, and further investigation. 

This plan will also consider how the municipality will connect its other important planning processes to 
climate change to ensure critical services provided by the municipality continue to meet standards expected 
by the community as climate impacts increase and new opportunities emerge. 

1.4 TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS – STRATEGIC PLAN 2018 TO 2021 

This year Billings will create a new strategic plan for the next 4yr planning cycle. The CEEP, on the other 

hand, has a planning horizon for the next 30yrs, setting GHG reduction targets for 2030 and 2050, with a 

specific focus on implementing climate action to meet the townships environmental goals. The township 

may change specific environmental goals over the next 5 to 30 years but a continued commitment to 

environmental responsibility will remain at the core of the township’s vision for the foreseeable future, and 

this needs to be acknowledged in future strategic planning cycles. Manitoulin Island’s main economic 

 
7 Partners in Climate Protection (PCP) Protocol, Local Governments for Sustainability and Federation of Canadian 
Municipalities (FCM) (2014). Retrieved from: https://fcm.ca/sites/default/files/documents/resources/report/protocol-
canadian-supplement-pcp.pdf 

Billings Township Strategic Plan 2018 to 2021: Vision Statement 
The Township of Billings is a vibrant community where new people are excited to relocate and 

existing residents are happy to stay because of the sustainable economy, the artistic and cultural 
diversity, and the beauty of the environment. Guided by the vision of its citizens, Billings Township 

is a safe and progressive community that practices environmental responsibility, provides 
dependable services, and maintains its rich cultural heritage. 

Corporate - Ѻ

Municipal 
Buildings, Land, 
Services, 
Operations.

Community - Ө

Shared and private 
land, waterways, 

home & buildings, 
agriculture, tourism, 

transportation, public 
waste and 

consumption 

Community Energy 
and Emissions Plan 

(CEEP) 

Combines corporate and 
community sustainability 

planning to create 
efficiencies for climate 
action that lead to the 
greatest possible local 

impact.

Figure 2 The relationship between corporate and community climate action planning.  

https://fcm.ca/sites/default/files/documents/resources/report/protocol-canadian-supplement-pcp.pdf
https://fcm.ca/sites/default/files/documents/resources/report/protocol-canadian-supplement-pcp.pdf


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   8 

sectors, tourism, and agriculture, rely on the long-term protection and preservation of the environment and 

biodiversity. Our artistic and cultural diversity is fundamentally tied to the natural environment. This CEEP 

and any vision, mission and actions for this plan will provide a roadmap for the township to continuously 

pursue sound decision-making processes that consider environmental responsibility and the associated co-

benefits. Codifying a sustainability strategy into existing processes will ensure that the township 

continuously seeks to improve upon its commitment to environmental stewardship in the long-term. 

1.5 ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY – MITIGATION VS. ADAPTATION 

 

Figure 3 is a graphical depiction of the relationship between climate change mitigation and adaptation. In a 

finite system like planet earth, environmental responsibility is at the core of financial and social 

responsibility. If adequate planning and environmentally responsible policies and best practices are 

implemented by local government, it will ultimately lead to sound financial and social decision making. 

Billings has maintained a commitment to environmental responsibility throughout several long-term 

planning cycles. When the project to create a Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) was 

proposed – project coordinators sought to build upon the strong environmental approaches that Billings has 

already been applying, which have included the following: 

o Continuous maintenance of roads, stormwater, and other engineered community assets 

associated with roads and land-use 

o Implementation of a streetlight replacement project (2019-2020) 

o Deep Energy Retrofit (DER) measures to improve energy efficiency during the Old Mill municipal 

office renovation (2019/20) 

o Energy efficiency improvements were incorporated in the Kagawong Water Treatment Facility 

upgrade (2018) 

o A geothermal system was installed in the Kagawong Park Centre in 2009 

o The Township has had an active Waste Management/Go Green committee working on 

environmental responsibility initiatives of Council for over a decade and this transitioned into the 

development of a new Climate Action Committee (CAC) to provide stewardship and drive 

community engagement activities for the CEEP Process  

Climate Action 
is  

Environmental 
Responsibility

REDUCTION in 
GHG Emissions and 

Energy 

Climate Adaptation

An action taken to change 
societal, behavioural or 

infrastructure to 
anticipate the impact of 
more extreme weather 

Adjusting to the 
IMPACTS of 

climate chage   

Climate Mitigation 

Actions that contribute to 
the reduction of GHG 

emissions and/or increase 
carbon sequestration to 

prevent the worst impacts 
of climate change 

Figure 3: Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   9 

o A burgeoning energy conservation and management process for municipally owned buildings and 

facilities, based on building condition assessments conducted in 2018 

o Continuous maintenance of parks and natural shared spaces like the Bridal Veil Falls trail network, 

the Billings Connection Trail, and the Kagawong municipal marinas that provide access to the 

North Channel 

o An existing relationship with Manitoulin Streams to educate residents and visitors regarding the 

Kagawong River watershed, and promotion of sustainable use of the same, while implementing 

ecologically sound waterway restoration and maintenance projects  

Following from these, the purpose of this CEEP is to outline a vision for action to: 

• Increase and improve environmental responsibility for the long-term 

• Build on the excellent work that has been done by community members, municipal staff, and 

partners 

• Provide Billings a corporate GHG reduction plan and;  

• Apply a community-based collaborative approach for the implementation and monitoring of 

community GHG emission reductions and realization of the associated co-benefits. 

The Township is committed to building upon its capacity to pursue best practices in environmental 

sustainability and has already approved the continuation of collaborative partnership with the Municipality 

of Central Manitoulin (and other municipalities and First Nation communities) to continue implementing the 

actions outlined in this CEEP. 

In the current climate change context, municipal governments need to consider the reality that if the local 

government does not begin to increase its response to the impacts of climate change – the cost of inaction 

now will lead to unmanageable response costs later. These future costs will be large, and could take many 

forms, including carbon pricing costs, increased health costs, and costs associates with emergency 

response after a flood, wildfire, or similar extreme weather event. Thus, any vision for climate action must 

consider how environmental responsibility can be increased through proactive adaptation and mitigation 

actions (Figure 3) to respond to the impacts of climate change, while simultaneously considering the social 

and financial benefits which can accrue with adaptation and mitigation efforts. 

Mitigation and adaptation actions lead to Low-Carbon Resilience (LCR), a concept which allows a 

community to apply a lens that coordinates adaptation and mitigation strategies in planning, policy, and 

implementation processes. LCR strategies have co-benefits for health, equity, biodiversity, and community 

livability. These co-benefits will be the foundational elements of this CEEP’s mission and vision on a path 

to net-zero carbon by 2050. 

1.6 VISION AND TARGETS 
Throughout this climate change planning project, the Township of Billings has engaged the public, municipal 

leadership, staff, and several community groups and businesses to collect ideas and synthesize a vision 

for the future of an environmentally responsible and resilient community. This includes a commitment to 

building upon current programs, services, and partnerships, as well as seeking new opportunities for 

collaboration. 

Moving forward into the implementation, monitoring and adjustment phases of this plan, it will be helpful to 

align the vision, objectives, and actions into both Corporate (Ѻ) and Community (Ө) categories so there is 

a basis for determining what level of involvement the township will have in leading climate action. As the 

climate change survey results show (Appendix D), most community members are supportive of the 

municipality taking direct corporate climate action, as well as supporting community climate action. This 

Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) will recommend two primary approaches to mitigation: 1) 

carbon sequestration and energy/GHG reduction in the four main categories where the municipality has 

direct control and, 2) Exercising a positive influence on community actions. Table 3 provides a visual 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   10 

summary of the CEEP categories, goals and foundational objectives which will be extrapolated on in 

Section 4: “Taking Climate Action. 

Table 1: The CEEP structure – the vision statement in action (with action categories) 

Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 
Vision Statement in Action 

Corporate (Ѻ) Actions 

Include actions that the local government has 
operational control over (e.g. - fully owns an asset 
or has jurisdiction to implement operational 
services and programs to enhance health, safety, 
and environmental policies) and will lead climate 
action. The local government will endeavour 
include these actions in strategic planning and 
annual budgets, leveraging funding and 
collaborative opportunities whenever possible.  

Community (Ө) Actions 

Include actions that are led by the community, as 
individuals or collectively, to reduce emissions within 
their local government boundary. Local government 
may have influence over these programs/services, but 
direct community involvement is critical to success of 
action. Community partners to take a leadership role 
and responsibility for action will be sought. Local 
government will play a leadership role and can provide 
financial assistance/incentive strategically, to support 
action. 

Shared Natural Spaces 

Minimize (mitigate) impacts of climate change on community by taking action to protect, restore and 
enhance natural systems. Protect people and property from natural hazards and promote sustainability 

best practices in the local agricultural, forestry, tourism sectors. 

Corporate natural spaces or Greenspace 
includes - forests, community gardens, beaches, 
wetlands, waterways, trails, and roadside 
stormwater drainage owned and operated by the 
municipality. 

Community natural spaces or Greenspace includes 
- forests, agricultural, beaches, wetlands, waterways, 
trails, hunt/nature/tourism camps owned by private 
residents, but influence community overall. 

Buildings 

Reduce by 50%, below 2018 levels, by 2030 

Actions will increase energy efficiency and the adoption of renewable energy and low carbon technologies 
and build climate resilience in new and existing buildings. 

Municipal Buildings and Facilities Community Homes and Buildings 

Transportation 

Reduce by 50%, below 2018, levels by 2030  

Actions reduce vehicle trips, promote active and public transportation, and accelerate low carbon/GHG 
transportation options. 

Municipal Transportation Community Transportation 

Waste Reduction 
Reduce by 50%, below 2018 levels before 2030  

Reduce overall consumption by promoting circular economy concepts and increase waste diversion 
through recycling rate increases and home composting program 

Efficient and effective operation of the landfill; the 
promotion of community awareness regarding, 
waste (landfill and recycling) services in the 
municipality 

Active community participation and engagement in the 
circular economy, waste reduction and diversion 
programs 

 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   11 

CEEP MISSION STATEMENT AND CO-BENEFIT FRAMEWORK 
The following CEEP mission statement was developed from the community survey responses and the 

municipality’s commitment to climate action by linking carbon sequestration, energy and GHG emission 

reduction actions to the important co-benefits that are the pillars of a resilient and future net-zero 

community8: 

MISSION STATEMENT 
TO CREATE A RESILIENT AND NET-ZERO COMMUNITY BY 2050 AND SET A PATHWAY FOR 50% 

ENERGY AND GHG EMISSION REDUCTIONS BY 2030 THAT: 

HEALTH  NATURE  
COMMUNITY 

BUILDING  
ECONOMIC 

DEVELOPMENT  
INNOVATION  

 
Enhances Health 
and well-being of 

community members 

 
Preserves and 
enhances local 
biodiversity and 
natural systems 

 
Builds community 
through inclusion 

 
Fosters a 

prosperous and 
sustainable local 

economy 

 
Promotes 

innovation and 
growth 

 

 
When the township and community come together to implement these targets – the co-benefits can often 

be measured and have greater impact on a community than the direct environmental benefits associated 

with carbon sequestration and energy consumption/GHG reductions. Table 2 provides an overview of these 

co-benefits. The infographics denoting co-benefits will be used throughout this planning report to identify 

how each climate action will create a positive impact on the community and serve as a reminder that key 

performance indicators regarding impact are often more than just the energy measured or the GHG 

emissions that are saved. 

 

Table 2: CEEP – The Climate Action Co-Benefit Framework, with example community benefits 

Co-Benefit 

(Symbol) 

Example Community Co-Benefits 

 

Climate action enhances health and well-being of community members by: 

● Improving air quality, reducing risk of illness and disease 

● Addressing land-use based health inequities 

● Supportive infrastructure that encourages an active lifestyle 

● Reducing risk of injury and illness from extreme weather exposure  

● Reduces risk to critical water, sanitation, and power infrastructure 

● Reduces social isolation by providing pathways for everyone to participate 

 

Environmental responsibility is connected to climate action as described in Figure 4 

and can also result in: 

● Improved biodiversity 

● Improved water retention and absorption, reducing flood risk 

● Stable air quality and increasing natural carbon sequestration 

● Creates and protects habitat 

 
8 Karlsson, Mikael; Alfredsson, Eva; & Westling, Nils, 2020. Climate policy co-benefits: a review. 

https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2020.1724070  

https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2020.1724070


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   12 

Co-Benefit 

(Symbol) 

Example Community Co-Benefits 

● Improves water quality 

 

Climate actions can result in building a stronger community by: 

● Increasing educational opportunities for all ages 

● Increasing access to recreational parks, greenspace, and trails 

● Building spaces, natural and engineered, that generate a sense of space 

● Making accessibility and equity improvements to encourage everyone to 

participate 

● Supports for local healthy food systems and security 

 

Enhancing our local economy through climate action looks like: 

● Improvements to energy reliability and security, and a reduction in energy 

poverty 

● Waste reduction and optimization of local resources 

● Improves cost savings for businesses and residents 

● Creates local jobs 

● Growth in our local economy by incentivizing sustainable businesses and 

lifestyles 

 

Enhancing innovation through climate action looks like: 

● More community-based partnerships that result in the adoption of low GHG 

alternatives 

● More supporting partnerships with local, provincial, and national public, private 

and non-profit organizations to accelerate energy and sustainability transition 

 

2 PLANNING FOR CHANGE  

2.1 APPLYING A GUIDING FRAMEWORK FOR CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION  
The Township of Billings is committed to a community-based, inclusive planning approach for climate action 

that considers climate risk and impacts. The GHG reduction targets in this CEEP are supported by the 

majority of those that participated in the community-wide climate engagement conducted in the winter of 

2021. By conducting a community-wide survey, climate-change planning in the Township of Billings has 

achieved established that there is broad community support, thus providing municipal leadership and 

Climate Action Committee (CAC) members with the credible community feedback required to pursue 

ambitious and attainable climate action targets. Just like we adapted to COVID-19 and are mitigating the 

worst impacts of this virus – together we will confront climate change, learning from what our community 

has achieved by working together to manage this global pandemic. 

The framework for creating the Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) is based on the Partners 

for Climate Protection (PCP) protocol, which relies heavily on community engagement through the entire 

planning process. The publication of this first Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) began when 

the municipality passed the following motion in 2018 to join PCP and the Municipal Climate Innovation 

Program: 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   13 

TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS CLIMATE COMMITMENT 

 

On March 18, 2019,9 the Township of Billings joined the Partners in Climate Protection Program 

administered by FCM and ICLEI. The Partners for Climate Protection (PCP) program, from ICLEI — Local 

Governments for Sustainability (ICLEI Canada) and FCM, is a framework useful in guiding the Township of 

Billings in doing its part to mitigate and adapt to climate change. It consists of a five-step Milestone 

Framework that has been, and will be, the guide for municipal staff to bring climate action to Billings. There 

are now over 350 municipalities across Canada who are members of the PCP network and have developed 

long-term plans to take climate action on both a corporate and community level. 

2.2 PLANNING TIMELINE AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 
 

Table 3: Key CEEP events, milestones, and progress to-date 

Date/Period Event, Milestone or Progress Made 

May 2019  

Central Manitoulin and Billings hire a Climate Change Coordinator to begin CEEP 

process  

Work begins on collecting corporate and community energy and GHG emissions 

data for Central Manitoulin and Billings. 

June 2019  
Municipal staff are surveyed on climate change and awareness of GHG emission 

reduction co-benefits  

July-August 2019 
The CCC attends the Kagawong market and Summerfest in Billings, to interact 

with residents and begin community engagement outreach activities.  

October-

December 2019  

Weekly columns are published in the Manitoulin Expositor leading up to a Climate 

Change Open Houses in Billings in December. 

 
9 2019-082 Alkenbrack – Hunt  
BE IT RESOLVED that the Township of Billings review the guidelines on Partners for Climate Protection member 
benefits and responsibilities and then communicate to FCM its participation in the PCP program and its commitment 
to achieving the milestones set out in the PCP five-milestone framework; and BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the 
Township of Billings appoints the following persons to oversee implementation of the PCP milestones and be the 
points of contact for the PCP program within the municipality: Michael Hunt and Megan Bonenfant.  
Carried 

Figure 4: The Township of Billings CEEP Process Milestones 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   14 

Date/Period Event, Milestone or Progress Made 

December 2019  

Billings holds its open house with members of the public to discuss climate 

change planning on December 4th. This event included key supporting partners 

such as the Share/Go Green Committee from Manitoulin Secondary School, 

Manitoulin Streams, Council, and municipal staff.  

Jan-March 2020 Significant progress is made on GHG inventory for Central Manitoulin and Billings.  

March 2020  

The CCC attends an educational event resulting from a collaboration between the 

Climate Risk Institute and the Northern Ontario Climate Change Network (NCCN) 

Billings Council finalizes a Terms of Reference (TOR) for a Climate Action 

Committees (CAC) of Council to begin working with the CCC on the CEEP. 

April 2020  
The Billings CAC begins meeting with the CCC monthly to steward the planning 

process. 

September 2020  

The Billings CAC review community GHG inventory and make a recommendation 

to Council to proceed with a community-wide climate change engagement survey 

to improve community GHG information and collect widespread community 

feedback on GHG targets and climate change actions. 

The CCC attends Northern Ontario Permaculture Research Institute (NOPRI) to 

receive feedback from local sustainable food system advocates on planning 

process  

October 2020  

The CAC and CCC organize a series of events for Waste Reduction week, 

stewarding community discussions about composting, producer responsibility 

legislation and glass recycling on Manitoulin Island – approximately 35 community 

members attend virtual events and participate in the climate change youth artwork 

contest. 

The CCC presents Collaborative Model idea for community climate action to the 

Manitoulin Island Municipal Association and discusses a regional Electric Vehicle 

Charging Network strategy and business plan. 

New LED Streetlights are installed in Billings, reducing monthly energy bills.  

February 2021 

There are 4882 page views of the Climate Change Engagement survey to set 

community and corporate GHG emission targets and priorities – 188 people 

responded to the survey, more participated in other forms of community 

engagement.  

May 2021  

With the assistance of Alterum, and using community survey data, the community 

GHG inventory is updated, and modelling completed.  

Since March 2018 - the start of this planning process – more than 50 articles have 

appeared in the Manitoulin Expositor about climate change and this count does 

not include articles about flooding, high water, and windstorms. 20% of local 

media has been related to this municipal project.  

June – July 2021 
Final revisions to the CEEP report; Presentation to Council for acceptance and 
initialization of implementation. Further, CAC recommends that Council establish a 
standing CAC committee to guide CEEP implementation. 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   15 

3 CLIMATE CHANGE IN THE TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS  

3.1 BY 2050 – LOCAL CLIMATE CHANGE RISK AND IMPACT 
 

3.1.1.1 FACTORS IN CLIMATE RISK FOR MANITOULIN ISLAND1011 

3 Central Factors - make climate change risk unique for Manitoulin Island and impact all 10 of top risk 
factors for our island.  

Great Lakes: Our location in the middle of the Great Lakes means that our climate is influenced by several 
weather streams that collide over this massive freshwater ecosystem. In turn, this means over time; our 
weather is becoming more unpredictable and extreme. 

Northern Hemisphere: The northern hemisphere is warming faster than the southern hemisphere. Some 
people like this change but it is already starting to have significant impacts on growing seasons, 
infrastructure, and biodiversity. 

Manitoulin Island: By now, you might be thinking the Great Lakes and the Northern hemisphere are not 
that unique. When you combine them with the fact that we live on the largest freshwater island in the world, 
it creates another layer of climate risk vulnerability that can exponentially influence how unpredictable, 
extreme weather will impact our communities. This means that living on an island in the middle of the great 
lakes, in the Northern hemisphere, starts to compound the climate change implications for our island. Our 
climate change predictions are different than mainland Ontario - they show more extremes - much higher 

 
10 Climate is different from weather. Weather reflects short-term conditions of the atmosphere while climate is the 
average daily weather for an extended period at a certain location. 
11 Data used for climate projections on Manitoulin Island was derived from several sources, including the Partners for 
Climate Protection (FCM), the Institute for Catastrophic Loss Reduction (ICLR) & Climate Risk Institute, as well as the 
Wind Energy Institute of Canada. A basic data grid can be found in the appendices. 

Figure 5: Interactions of climate risk and impacts 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   16 

winds, longer more extreme precipitation events and when it gets hot, we are more susceptible to drought 
and wildfire than our mainland neighbours. 

Drought: By 2050 – Manitoulin Island is expected to see longer and more frequent periods of drought in 
the summer. 

Wildfire: Drought combined with extreme heat increase our risk of wildfire. Manitoulin Island has not 
experienced a significant wildfire for over 100 years. Sustainable forest management is practiced on the 
island, but it is not widespread. Wildfire risk and fire bans are predicted to increase by close to 30% by 2050 
on our island without mitigation and management of our forested areas. 
 
Extreme Heat: Days (+34C) are expected to increase by 30% by 2050. 
 
Extreme Winds: Winds are expected to increase in average strength and frequency by 18% by 2030, 
resulting in more property damage and unsafe open water conditions.  
 
Temperature Variation: Fluctuations in temperatures throughout the winter months will result in thinner 
ice cover on lakes and more freeze thaw damage on roads. 

Precipitation: Freezing rain events are expected to increase by 60% before 2050. Heavy precipitation 
(+20mm in a single event) is expected to increase by 20% by 2030. 

Flood: Flood risk all over Canada is changing, with risk increasing in many, but not all, areas of the country. 

This trend will continue. As islanders, we have a high flood risk from rising water in lakes. The key to 

understanding flood risk on Manitoulin Island will be to utilize Indigenous knowledge and increase scientific 

research - including using innovative mapping technics that will advance knowledge regarding how all our 

ecosystem characteristics influence flooding and allow us to enhance flood prevention and mitigation. Using 

innovative technology like Lidar – combined with on-the-ground field experience in water management and 

habit restoration will make a significant contribution to building a more flood resilient community by 2030. 

3.2 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS UPDATE 
As indicated in Milestone 1 of the PCP program (above) is to create a GHG inventory for both corporate 

and community emissions in the municipality. This Milestone was completed in August 2020 However, once 

the Climate Action Committee began meeting and discussing how to use the GHG inventory, committee 

members and staff recognized that further investigation would be required to improve the accuracy of the 

community GHG inventory, particularly regarding the information for residential buildings and 

transportation. In addition, while GHG inventories can help inform decision making – setting targets requires 

community support and consensus. Therefore, in December 2020 the CAC recommended to Council that 

a community-wide survey would be useful in improving community GHG data and to seek input and build 

consensus on climate actions and energy consumption//GHG reduction targets. 

After the community survey results became available, the CCC arranged for new data to be combined by 

a carbon modelling software firm called Alterum. Alterum’s carbon accounting software uses electricity 

intensity grid information, Statistics Canada, and other baseline data to building a community emissions 

profile. This data analysis can then be customized with the addition of specific community data, like Hydro 

One consumption information, survey responses, and other GHG data, resulting in a refinement of the 

community and corporate GHG inventory. The result is more accurate modelling and more reliable 

projections to help visualize target reduction goals and the impact of a combination of climate actions. 

Results from the updated GHG inventory can be found in Appendix D. The community data collected from 

the survey has improved our overall understanding of energy used in residential buildings and community 

transportation in Billings, and the application of the new information has been applied in section 5.4.1. In 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   17 

addition, Business as Usual (BAU) and other future emissions modelling projections have been included in 

Appendix D so that municipal staff and community organizations can use this information to track progress 

more easily moving forward. 

4 TAKING CLIMATE ACTION 

Taking action to prevent further climate change, as well as mitigate climate impacts occurring now and, in 
the future, and finally, adapting to climate change, are the ultimate goals of the CEEP process, to that 
end, this section outlines 

4.1 SHARED NATURAL SPACES  

Within the boundaries of Billings Township, our community sequesters more carbon than we currently emit, 

absorbing 22 069 tCO2e per year. Our forests, wetlands, grasslands, farmland, lakes, and streams are 

strongly connected to our cultural values, livelihoods, health, and wellbeing. The carbon that is sequestered 

here is already contributing positively to climate action. 

Natural spaces are often referred to as natural assets for the purpose of planning. No matter who owns 

land, all our natural systems and assets are connected. When it rains – water moves through the soil and 

into our shared lakes, aquifers, and streams where we all obtain our drinking water. When a forest is 

removed, it impacts the air that we all breath. To describe the interconnectedness of natural assets, 

planning documents often go one step further and refer to these spaces as a natural heritage system. The 

Township of Billings has had a long-term commitment to maintaining Natural Heritage System features and 

areas. This commitment is outlined in the District of Manitoulin Official Plan October 29, 2018: 

“The Manitoulin Planning Board, and its member municipalities, are committed to maintaining and 

promoting a healthy natural environment and protecting its unique and special Natural Heritage 

Features for the present generation and all successive generations”12 

As part of long-term planning policy – the District of Manitoulin Island Planning Board will undertake a 

consultation process within the next year to develop a Natural Heritage System Strategy. All community 

stakeholders interested in achieving climate action goals related to the protection, preservation and 

enhancement of Manitoulin Island’s shared natural spaces ought to participate in the development of this 

strategy. Moreover, this consultation process will provide all local governments party to Manitoulin Official 

Plan with the opportunity to accelerate the implementation of the goals articulated in the strategy. The 

planning board is responsible for shared planning policy, but it is the direct responsibility of the municipality 

to implement strategies within each community protect to preserve and enhance Natural Heritage System 

features. As part of the process, the Manitoulin Planning Board will also be seeking participation from 

indigenous communities to develop the Natural Heritage System Strategy, highlighting the importance of 

 
12 District of Manitoulin Official Plan D.6 Natural Heritage and Open Space Strategy pg. 148. Retrieved (July 2020): 
http://www.manitoulinplanning.ca/images/43/Manitoulin_OP_Approved_by_MMAH_October_29_2018_Reduced.pdf  

CEEP VISION STATEMENT IN ACTION #1 

SHARED NATURAL SPACES 

Minimize (mitigate) impacts of climate change on community by taking actions to protect, restore 

and enhance natural systems, protect people and property from natural hazards and promote 

sustainability best practices for all local businesses with a focus on enhancing support for the 

agricultural, forestry, tourism sectors. 

http://www.manitoulinplanning.ca/images/43/Manitoulin_OP_Approved_by_MMAH_October_29_2018_Reduced.pdf


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   18 

integrating indigenous knowledge into our community’s long-term strategy to care for our natural assets 

that interconnect. 

Currently, the Township of Billings and other communities on Manitoulin Island play a key role in caring for 

natural assets, but data gaps, vulnerability assessments for natural hazards (like wildfire and flood) are 

insufficient to help inform local decision making. Municipal capacity, in terms of available staff, time for 

training, and oversight is stretched to a maximum. Many of the strategies listed in the District of Manitoulin 

Island Official Plan related to protection, preservation and enhancement of natural spaces are a challenge 

to implement for all communities. Adequate response to climate change will require collaborative action to 

preserve and enhance natural spaces. This will include the investment of resources by local island 

governments, AND cooperation and collaboration with individuals, and organizations at the local 

organizations, provincial, federal levels. 

4.2 CHALLENGES AND THREATS 
One challenge for the Township of Billings and all municipal governments on the island is the reality that 

local governance structure in Northern Ontario is single tier, unlike Southern Ontario, where a two-tier 

system exists: There are pros and cons to both structures. One draw-back of not having an upper district-

wide tier, is the reality that there is no readily available executive or administrative structure to assist in 

finding shared solutions to challenges held in-common by many municipalities within the same geographic 

region. It is perhaps not surprising then, that with a few notable exceptions, we do not have a history of 

effective district-wide collaboration13. Resources, both human and fiscal, are stretched to the limit. 

Overcoming the barriers related to inadequate funding, limited technical expertise, and maxed-out staff 

capacity remains a series challenge. Given the structure and context within which they operate, it is 

inherently difficult for local island governments to embrace “the common good.” 

4.2.1 HOW DO OTHER COMMUNITIES OVERCOME THESE BARRIERS? 

To prevent floods, sequester more carbon and consider natural solutions in addition to engineered solutions 

many municipalities in Southern Ontario are grouped together through watersheds and local conservation 

authorities. These bodies have traditionally provided expert advice on how development activities in each 

water-shed based district impact the shared natural environment. The benefit of having a conservation 

authority in a regional district is that it brings together multiple local governments within the common 

watershed, which leads to a greater scientific understanding of how development activities in each local 

government impact the shared water resources regionally. 

In addition to the presence of conservation authorities in Southern Ontario, many larger municipalities often 

have municipal staff who specialize in fields like stormwater management, land resources and parks. These 

departments work with conservation authorities and community stakeholders to mitigate flood, wildfire, and 

other natural hazard risks and this scientific understanding helps to inform long-term planning, permitting 

and natural asset management processes at the local level. 

In Waterloo Region Ontario, a third-party non-for-profit called REEP Green Solutions that has been working 

with multiple municipalities, the University of Waterloo and other community members and organizations to 

address climate change impacts. This organization started in 1999 to help improve home energy efficiency 

 
13 Fire protection mutual aid, the Manitoulin Municipal Association, and the Manitoulin Planning Board are examples 
of exception. 

Adequate response to climate change will require collaborative action to preserve and enhance 

natural spaces. This will include the investment of resources by local island governments, AND 

cooperation and collaboration with individuals, and organizations at the local, provincial, federal 

levels 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   19 

but has since expanded its community climate action work to include forest/tree stewardship, stormwater 

and water conservation, renewable energy, and electrification of transit. 

In summary, this CEEP is not suggesting that a conservation authority should or must exist to adequately 

manage natural assets to achieve natural shared space climate goals. However, the identification of this 

potential environmental management and governance gap provides the opportunity to clearly outline one 

of the key barriers for Billings in implementing natural asset protection, preservation, and enhancement 

strategies. On a positive note, many of the environmental policy fundamentals that can lead Billings toward 

climate change solutions are already outlined in the District of Manitoulin Official Plan. 

 

4.2.2 STRENGTHS AND OPPORTUNITY – CARBON CREDITS & DATA SHARING 
 

Transform challenges into opportunity through innovative partnership 

While conservation authorities offer benefits where collaborative activities between local governments 

result in cleaner water, air, and land, the absence of a collaborative organizational and governance structure 

to continuously steward climate action on Manitoulin Island presents an opportunity for local governments 

to consider innovative approaches. All local governments on Manitoulin Island could benefit from the 

enhancement of local scientific and indigenous knowledge of our natural environment. 

Manitoulin Streams has played an important role on the Island in contributing to improved capacity to 

perform environmental, as have First Nations like Wiikwemkoong. This research capacity is required to 

adequately measure, monitor, and maintain the natural assets so vital to combating climate change. 

Manitoulin Streams is a local organizational asset that has demonstrated how careful and collaborative 

work in environmental protection can be implemented for widespread community benefit, including in 

Billings. 

The benefits accruing from a collaborative approach to Natural Asset Management Planning can be outlined 

using the climate action co-benefits framework presented earlier in this document14: 

 

Table 4: Planning natural asset management using the Co-Benefits Framework 

Symbol Explanation 

Health 

• Nature heals – the natural environment is a key determinant of healthy 
outcomes for any population. 

• Increasing scientific research and utilizing indigenous knowledge will 
improve understanding of our island ecosystem, resulting in a healthier 
environment. 

Nature 

• By joining together, the community can preserve, protect, and enhance 
more shared natural spaces and access more funding opportunities  

• Enhancing essential eco-systems in the Manitoulin Lake-Simcoe eco-
region to ensure they continue to provide habitat for people and wildlife.  

 

Community 
Building 

• Preserving, enhancing, and increasing shared natural spaces for people 
to gather and socialize. 

• Implementing community-based collaborative projects to protect, preserve 
and enhance our natural assets - building community connection and a 
“sense of place.” 

• More events and community projects for the natural environment was in 
the top 3 actions supported in the community climate change survey  

 
14 Karlsson, Mikael; Alfredsson, Eva; & Westling, Nils, 2020. Climate policy co-benefits: a review. 
https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2020.1724070 

https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2020.1724070


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   20 

Symbol Explanation 

 
Economic 

Development 
 

• Natural asset management can create more local jobs in forestry, 
agriculture, and other primary industries, as well as environmental science 
and technology. 

• Preservation and protection of the land and water contributes directly to 
increased value in Manitoulin Islands largest economic sectors – Tourism 
– in all its diversity, and Agriculture. 

 
Innovation 

• Sharing natural asset, flood and water quality data will lead to a better 
overall understanding of scientific and indigenous knowledge in the 
community. 

• Use the most innovative technology and methods (e.g., drone, GIS, and 
Lidar) to create a Natural Asset Inventory and flood maps. 

• Build local knowledge of these technologies to ensure regular monitoring, 
mitigation and adaptation actions can be taken as climate change 
increases the vulnerability of local habitats. 

 
Moreover, if combined, this data can be used to value land, discover interconnected waterways and eco-

systems so that accurate economic and environmental contributions of natural assets to the community 

can be considered locally. Once natural spaces have adequate valuations one can conduct vulnerability 

assessments and the economic loss resulting from climate change induced extreme weather. Plans to 

protect, preserve, monitor, and enhance spaces can be executed. Finally, when data is made public – 

everyone in the community will benefit by having access to the environmental due diligence performed and 

this will provide every landowner in the district an understanding of the carbon sequestered on their land 

and how protecting and preserving natural assets can generate property income by selling carbon credits.  

Advancing our scientific understanding and indigenous knowledge of our natural assets and most 

importantly sharing how to use this information to maintain and enhance our land, water and air will 

ultimately lead to positive community-wide outcomes, like: 

1. Increased Resilience: The community’s ability to bounce back and sustain increased extreme 

weather events with less recovery time.  

2. Risk Avoidance: Once community members have access to improved scientific understanding 

and indigenous knowledge about Manitoulin Island’s natural systems, our community will be able 

to identify key areas of concern that are more vulnerable to climate related impacts like flooding, 

wildfire, and drought. This data will help municipal leaders and property-owners/residents to 

prioritize adaptation or mitigation actions – like building away from a flood zone or managing high 

risk forests to reduce wildfire risk. 

4.2.3 TAKING ACTION – SHARED NATURAL SPACES 

In comparison with the other “Taking Action” sections in this plan, acting for our natural environment to 

increase carbon sequestration and mitigate climate change will require the greatest level of regional 

collaboration. By pooling information and resources, we can meet the increased capacity demand that will 

be required to support these activities. Key objectives (Table 3) are long-term goals while specific actions 

(Table 4) will provide a short to mid-term plan to jump start climate action for our shared natural spaces in 

pursuit of key objectives. 

 
 

  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   21 

Table 5: Natural Shared Spaces – Key collaborative objectives for taking corporate and community climate action 

Key Objective # Detail 

 
Corporate – Ѻ 
Municipality leads 
development of project 
with supporting partners 

+ 
Community – Ө 
Develops capacity and 
resources in partnership 
with NGOs/community 
partners, with support 
from the municipality. 

N1 

Increase local capacity, knowledge sharing, and educational 
opportunities by teaming up with local partners to deliver grant 
application support and services for local businesses to 
sequester more carbon and protect, preserve, and enhance 
natural spaces. 

N2  

Create a valuation and protection system of stormwater and 
natural purification systems linked to drinking water sources in 
the community. 

N3  

Continue and enhance the effective management, rehabilitation, 
and valuation of natural shared spaces to increase our climate 
mitigation and adaptation capacity in preparation for increased 
climate change impacts. 

 
Table 6: Action to protect, restore, enhance natural spaces, key actions, partners, roles, resources - N1, capacity 

N1  Increase local capacity, knowledge sharing and educational opportunities by teaming up with local 
partners to deliver grant application support and services for local businesses to sequester more 
carbon and protect, preserve, and enhance natural spaces. 

Natural 
Asset Action 

Action Detail Local Government Role Supporting Partners Investment 
(Resources) 

Required 

N1Ө1  
 
 
 
 
 

Promote, educate, and 
incentivize the adoption 
of climate-friendly 
practices in the 
agricultural, forestry 
and sustainable tourism 
sectors 
 

Support these community 
led actions by combining 
capacity/resources with 
other local governments 
and partners 
 
CAC work collaboratively 
and directly with 
community partners and 
other local governments 
to coordinate joint grant 
submissions, governance, 
and on-the-ground 
implementation activities 
on a per grant/project 
basis 

Project lead (to be 
identified) leads a 
collaborative approach 
through an advisory panel 
which includes: 

• Local businesses 
in key sectors 
including 
agriculture, 
forestry, and 
tourism 

• Other local 
governments: 
municipalities and 
First Nations. 

• Local, regional, 
and provincial 
NGOs 

• Academic partners 
and sector experts 

$, Staff Time - 
Municipal  
$$ - Provincial  
$ - Federal  
$ - Community 
 
Pool together 
municipal, partner 
and community 
investment to 
leverage Provincial 
& Federal funding 
opportunities 

 
N1Ө2 
 
 
 

Encourage ecologically- 
regenerative 
agricultural practices 
that will increase cover 
crops to control run off 
and soil erosion, 
riparian zones, tile or 
controlled natural 
system drainage 

N1Ѻ1 
 
 
 

Encourage high energy 
efficiency, low-GHG 
facilities and operations 

Consider the creation of 
Incentive based by-laws 
to encourage the 
protection, preservation, 
and enhancement of 
natural spaces in all 
property development and 
maintenance processes 

N1Ѻ2 
 
 
 

Create the municipal 
organizational structure 
to support N1Ө1 and 
N1Ө2 
 

Adjust municipal 
committee structure to 
support these community 
initiatives by:  
 
Appoint a staff person and 
CAC member(s) to work 
directly with community 
partners and local 

 $ - Municipal  
 
Community - 
capacity and 
involvement in 
organizational 
discussions 
 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   22 

N1  Increase local capacity, knowledge sharing and educational opportunities by teaming up with local 
partners to deliver grant application support and services for local businesses to sequester more 
carbon and protect, preserve, and enhance natural spaces. 

Natural 
Asset Action 

Action Detail Local Government Role Supporting Partners Investment 
(Resources) 

Required 

governments to 
coordinate joint grant 
submissions, governance, 
and on-the-ground 
implementation activities 
on a per grant/project 
basis 
 
Appoint CAC members to 
relevant, existing Council 
committees 
 
CAC members and CAC 
staff-lead participate 
quarterly in joint 
collaborative meetings 
with partners 

 
Table 7: Action to protect, restore, enhance natural spaces – actions, partners, roles, resources – N2, water 

N2 Create a valuation and protection system for stormwater and natural purification systems linked to 
drinking water sources in the community. 

Natural 
Asset 
Action 

Action Local Government Role Supporting Partners Investment 
Required 

N2Ө3 
 
 
 
 

Develop a source water 
monitoring program that 
can proactively identify 
areas of health and 
safety concern. 
 

Support these community 
led actions by combining 
capacity/resources with 
other local governments 
and partners, as 
appropriate. 
 
 

Project lead (to be identified) 
leads a collaborative 
approach through an 
advisory panel which 
includes: 

• Local businesses in 
key sectors 
including 
agriculture, forestry, 
and tourism 

• Other local 
governments: 
municipalities and 
First Nations. 

• Local, regional, and 
provincial NGOs 

• Academic partners 
and sector experts 

 
Consider external advisors 
with a wide range of water 
resources credentials. 
 
Ministry of Natural 
Resources  
 
Manitoulin Streams (possible 
to integrate flood mapping 
into Natural Asset Inventory 
– see below) 

$ - Municipal  
$$ - Provincial  
$$ - Federal  
$$ - Private Sector 
 
$ - Community  
 
Pool together 
municipal and 
community 
investment to 
leverage Provincial & 
Federal and private 
funding 
opportunities. 
 
** Note: Flood 
mapping is 
insufficient (10m 
resolution) which 
means it is difficult to 
use this data to 
inform decision 
making or identify 
vulnerable areas. 

N2Ө4 
 
 
 
 
 

Combine, update, and 
manage a flood mapping 
and management 
system.  

In collaboration with 
Manitoulin Planning Board 
and other local 
governments, Billings will 
need to consider where a 
project like this will fit into 
the organizational structure 
at the municipality. 
 
 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   23 

N2 Create a valuation and protection system for stormwater and natural purification systems linked to 
drinking water sources in the community. 

Natural 
Asset 
Action 

Action Local Government Role Supporting Partners Investment 
Required 

N2Ѻ3 
 
 
 
 

Support water protection 
initiatives  

Update stormwater 
management plans and 
consider natural solutions 
whenever possible to 
manage stormwater. 
 
(e.g., Create or restore 
nearby wetlands rather 
than installing new 
culverts, dams or 
engineered flood 
management systems) 
 
Support these community-
led actions by combining 
capacity/resources with 
other local governments 
and partners. 
 
Work directly with 
community partners and 
local governments to 
coordinate joint grant 
submissions, governance 
and on the ground 
implementation activities 
on a per grant/project 
basis. 
 

With stable financial support 
from local governments, 
apply for grants to start and 
implement water monitoring 
program. 
 
Project lead (to be identified) 
leads a collaborative 
approach through an 
advisory panel which 
includes: 

• Local businesses in 
key sectors 
including 
agriculture, forestry, 
and tourism 

• Other local 
governments: 
municipalities and 
First Nations. 

• Local, regional, and 
provincial NGOs 

• Academic partners 
and sector experts 

• Manitoulin Planning 
Board  

• Ministry of Natural 
Resources 

• Manitoulin Streams 
(possible to 
integrate flood 
mapping into 
Natural Asset 
Inventory – see 
below) 

$ - Municipal 
$$ - Provincial 
$$ - Federal 
$ - Community 
 
Pool together 
municipal and 
community 
investment to 
leverage Provincial & 
Federal and private 
funding 
opportunities. 

 
Table 8: Action to protect, restore, enhance naturals spaces – key actions, partners, roles, resources – N3, mitigation, 
adaptation 

N3 Ensure the effective management, rehabilitation, valuation, and enhancement of natural shared spaces 
to increase our climate mitigation and adaptation capacity in preparation for increased climate change 
impacts. 

Natural 
Asset 
Action 

Action Local Government Role Supporting Partners Investment 
Required 

(Resources) 

N3Ө1 
 
 
 

Increase scientific 
understanding and utilize 
indigenous knowledge of 
current natural systems 
to protect and enhance 
local shared natural 
spaces  

Support these community 
led actions by combining 
capacity/resources with 
other local governments 
and partners. 
 
 

Project lead (to be identified) 
leads a collaborative 
approach through an 
advisory panel which 
includes: 

• Local businesses in 
key sectors 
including 
agriculture, forestry, 
and tourism 

$ - Municipal  
$$ - Provincial  
$$ - Federal  
$ - Community  
 
Pool together 
municipal and 
community 
investment to 
leverage Provincial & 
Federal and private 

N3Ѻ1 
 
 

Participate in community-
based project N3Ө1: 
Create a Natural Asset 
Inventory and per O. 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   24 

N3 Ensure the effective management, rehabilitation, valuation, and enhancement of natural shared spaces 
to increase our climate mitigation and adaptation capacity in preparation for increased climate change 
impacts. 

Natural 
Asset 
Action 

Action Local Government Role Supporting Partners Investment 
Required 

(Resources) 

Reg. 588/17 develop a 
Natural Asset 
Management Plan 
(NAMP) and integrate it 
into the corporate Asset 
Management Plan (AMP) 
by the regulatory 
deadline of July 1, 2023 

• Other local 
governments: 
municipalities and 
First Nations. 

• Local, regional, and 
provincial NGOs 

• Academic partners 
and sector experts 

 
With stable financial support 
from local governments 
apply for grants to start and 
implement a Natural Asset 
Inventory for local 
governments and community 
natural assets.  
Once a Natural Asset 
Inventory is complete – the 
community can use this to 
make a Natural Asset 
Management Plan (NAMP) 
that will map future projects 
that require restoration, 
protection, or enhancement 
to reduce climate risk. 

funding 
opportunities. 
 

N3Ө2 
 
 
 
 
 

Increase tree cover and 
protection 

Consider development of a 
community-based 
collaborative tree, shrub, 
and plant supply program 
to increase climate resilient 
tree species and manage 
tree cover loss from 
climate related impacts. 
 

Project lead (to be identified) 
leads a collaborative 
approach through an 
advisory panel which 
includes: 

• Local businesses in 
key sectors 
including 
agriculture, forestry, 
and tourism 

• Other local 
governments: 
municipalities and 
First Nations. 

• Local, regional, and 
provincial NGOs 

• Academic partners 
and sector experts 

 
With stable financial support 
from local governments 
apply for grants to start and 
implement a tree, shrub, and 
plant cover program. 

Review municipal by-laws 
to encourage tree 
protection and 
preservation. 
 

Consultation with Manitoulin 
Streams and other 
community groups. 

$ - Municipal  
$ - Community  
 
Capacity  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   25 

N3 Ensure the effective management, rehabilitation, valuation, and enhancement of natural shared spaces 
to increase our climate mitigation and adaptation capacity in preparation for increased climate change 
impacts. 

Natural 
Asset 
Action 

Action Local Government Role Supporting Partners Investment 
Required 

(Resources) 

N3Ѻ2 
 
 
 

Protect and enhance 
municipal owned and 
operated natural spaces.  

Work with community 
partners to train outdoor 
municipal staff and 
volunteers to identify 
species at risk, invasive 
species and protect, 
restore, and effectively 
manage natural systems. 
 

Training capacity delivered 
with CAC / community 
resources. 
 
Consultation with Manitoulin 
Streams and Western 
Manitoulin Community 
Garden and other local food 
sovereignty groups to: 
 
Facilitate training and create 
educational materials for 
natural system preventative 
maintenance programs on 
municipal owned land 

$ - Municipal  
$$ - Provincial  
$$ - Federal  
$ - Community 
Pool together 
municipal and 
community 
investment to 
leverage Provincial & 
Federal and private 
funding 
opportunities. 
 

 

4.3 BUILDINGS 

By 2050 – all new buildings in Canada must meet more rigorous GHG emission standards. Heating and 

powering homes and community buildings accounts for about half of the GHG emissions created by 

Canadians. In Billings, homes, and community buildings account for 43% of GHG emissions. Next to 

protecting and enhancing natural assets to mitigate the impact of climate change, systematically upgrading 

the homes and buildings to improve energy efficiency and reduce overall energy costs, will create the 

greatest climate change mitigation impact in the township. 

In the recent climate engagement survey – 50% of survey participants indicated they would be considering 

home renovations to improve energy efficiency within the next 5 years. Survey participants also supported 

setting a 50% GHG emissions reduction goal for community and corporate homes and buildings. 

4.3.1  MUNICIPAL BUILDINGS AND FACILITIES  

To meet these ambitious and attainable goals, the township will need to consider general best practices for 

energy efficiency and net-zero planning every time a renovation or new building is considered in the asset 

management planning process. The townships current strategic plan states: 

Continue to pursue rational, cost-effective, and efficient use of municipal property, buildings, and 

facilities, to maximize the availability of public space, in the context of the results of the structural 

condition assessment reports.15 

 
15 Priority Area: Municipal Infrastructure Maintenance and Improvement, Action Item #2, Appendix A: Priorities and 
Action Items: Detailed Implementation Process and Schedule, pg. 13, Township of Billings Strategic Plan 2018-2021. 

 

CEEP VISION STATEMENT IN ACTION  

Reduce GHG Emissions by 50%, below 2018 levels, in corporate and community buildings by 2030. 

Actions will increase energy efficiency and the adoption of renewable energy and low carbon 

technologies, thereby building climate resilience in new and existing buildings. 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   26 

4.3.1.1 OPPORTUNITY: COMMUNITY GREEN BUILDING PROGRAMS 

FCM’s Green Municipal Fund (GMF) has operated for 20yrs to support innovative green building designs 

of community buildings. Since August 2020, discussions with GMF on potential projects on Manitoulin 

Island has resulted in the development of actions listed in Table 6. 

To prepare for green building (aka, green construction) funding opportunities it is critical to have a CEEP 

that is integrated into the municipal Asset Management Plan. This way, when applying to any type of funding 

for municipal building upgrades, Billings can apply a standardized approach to evaluating the 

environmental, financial, service, usability and long-term maintenance and operational considerations on 

each project. FCM provides funding to complete feasibility studies for capital/renovation projects and capital 

grants/loans for construction of green municipal buildings. These municipal building funds are competitive, 

and every time Billings Council is considering renovations or capital construction to municipal buildings, the 

following best practices ought to be considered in conjunction with actions outlined in Table 6: 

• If feasibility study funding is required, the municipality should plan for a multi-month grant response 

period. Therefore, it is ideal to have engineering, contractor and other renewable energy and 

building energy efficiency experts already selected through a preferred vendor RFP process. 

Selecting qualified engineering, contractors and renewable sector experts is essential to meeting 

environmental performance requirements for grant opportunities. 

• The municipality can invest in Front End Engineering Design (FEED) for any project and skip 

applying for a feasibility study grant for renovation and capital grant project. However, in this 

situation, submissions still require all the elements that would be done in a feasibility study. The 

municipality will want to ensure that a feasibility study checklist is used every time a renovation or 

capital project is contemplated to understand the true costs of a building. Integrating the feasibility 

checklist into engineering design contracts will ensure that professional services completed on 

FEED meet grant submission requirements. Ideally, all RFPs will be structured for FEEDs to ensure 

that projects have adequate information to qualify for multiple grants. Often, green building grants 

can be stacked with normal infrastructure or building accessibility grants – this gives a project a 

better overall business plan and higher score for innovation on grant applications. 

4.3.1.2 STRENGTHS - RENEWABLE ENERGY 

The Township of Billings owns a 750kW hydroelectric generating station that is currently leased until 2028 

to Oakville Enterprises Corporation (OEC) Inc. and is separately incorporated as Kagawong Generating 

Station (KGS). The KGS typically generates more than 3000MWh of electrical power each year. 

GREEN MUNICIPAL BUILDINGS FEASIBILITY CHECKLIST 

 Baseline information on current environmental performance – this means keeping GHG 
Inventory and energy consumption up to date, so it can be easily retrieved when a 
project is being considered 

 A technical explanation of how the proposed project will meet or exceed the GMF 
environmental eligibility criteria, environmental criteria vary per building type and 
renovation  

 Include contextual details for various project options. 
 Describe the selection criteria and models that support expected environmental 

performance. 
 Assess operational and maintenance costs – are staff trained and qualified to be 

maintaining new renewable energy equipment? Factor in capacity costs for on-going 
maintenance to ensure equipment is optimized building operation  

 Describe key project risks, propose solutions, and offer risk management 
recommendations – include insurance and contractual risk transfer considerations  

 Draft a project schedule. 
 Produce a life-cycle analysis. 
 Propose a financial plan 

 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   27 

In addition to the hydro generating station in Kagawong, Billings has a ground source heat pump at the 

Park Centre. Combined with the hydro station, these two renewable energy community building features 

demonstrate a strength and opportunity to provide education to residents on how these renewable energy 

sources help to reduce GHG emissions and energy costs. Some municipalities in Canada have begun 

organizing tours of community buildings that feature renewable energy to teach residents how to manage, 

maintain and optimize renewable energy systems. Working with local non-for-profits to deliver community 

tours of these renewable energy solutions already operating in the region could help improve community 

engagement and support for future renewable energy projects for municipal buildings. 

4.3.2 TAKING ACTION: MUNICIPAL BUILDINGS, FACILITIES 
 

Table 9: Municipal Buildings - Key objectives, with detailed actions, notes and considerations 

Municipal 
Buildings Action 

Sub-Component # 

Objectives Action Details and Notes 

MB1Ѻ Improve 
organizational 
capacity 

• The corporate climate actions in the 
CEEP will replace the Conservation 
and Demand Management (CDM) 
plan, as it has more ambitious 
reduction targets and a specific 
implementation, monitoring and 
measurement strategy. 

• The municipality will hire a certified 
energy management professional 
(Certified Energy Manager (CEM) or 
Energy Advisor (EA) to advise on the 
establishment of an appropriate 
energy management system that can 
be updated monthly and track 
projects. This is an action that would 
potentially benefit from a 
collaborative approach with other 
local governments. 

• The municipality will Integrate energy 
data into the AMP, as this plan is 
developed, so it can be actively 
managed and reviewed regularly 
through existing organizational 
structures. 

• A municipal staff member will be 
trained on the basics of energy 
management and how to spot air 
leakage, moisture, and insulation 
issues in a municipal facility. 

• Improve municipal staff capacity to 
implement energy efficiency projects 
for buildings: 

o Create an energy efficiency 
and reduction strategy 

o Integrate energy and 
emissions considerations 
into the municipal Asset 
Management Plan (AMP) 

o Update AMP and associated 
documents listed in 
Appendix C: Implementation 
Chart 

• Provide quarterly updates to Council 
and relevant Council committees on 
energy and emissions consumption 
and management to ensure the 
municipality is on target to meet 
reduction goals. 

MB2Ѻ Energy 
Efficiency: Minor 
and major refits 

• To improve energy efficiency 
management, the municipality will: 

o Create a sustainability policy 
and procedure manual, 
which will Include checklists 
that Council, committees, 
and staff can use when 
evaluating energy efficiency 
components of a building 
during regular AMP review.  

o Set a standard for reporting 
to Council that facilitates 
effective decision-making. 

o Continue to modify the 
organizational structure to 
allow for consideration of 

• Consider minor and major building 
envelope upgrades, building 
automation and lighting upgrades as 
part of all municipal building renewal 
projects. 

• Perform energy audits on buildings 
when renovations are being 
considered, including blower door 
tests (pre/post project) to ensure the 
project can qualify for incentives. Do 
the energy audit at this same time as 
the pre-construction conditional 
assessment. 

• Note: While the municipality 
considers energy retrofit upgrades on 
renovation and new building projects 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   28 

Municipal 
Buildings Action 

Sub-Component # 

Objectives Action Details and Notes 

current energy performance, 
regular maintenance 
time/costs, engineering life. 

 

it is not codified in any municipal 
policies, procedures, or AMP. This 
means the benefits of energy 
efficiency projects are not easily 
tracked. 

MB3Ѻ Energy 
Efficiency: 
Preventative 
Maintenance and 
regular monitoring  
 

• The municipality will include the 
maintenance, fill dates, and repair 
dates on all equipment associated 
with energy systems in AMP. 

• Ensure that the maintenance/regular 
monitoring details for assets are 
included with capital project 
proposals. 

• Consider updating all municipal 
building maintenance procedures to 
optimize energy use. 

• Consider seasonal checks and 
updates to committee and Council 
with quarterly Energy Management 
Reports (EMRs). 

 

MB4Ѻ Energy 
Efficiency 
Standards 

• Allow the CEEP to override the CDM 
for corporate energy efficiency 
targets. 

• Examine the best method of including 
rigorous building standards into asset 
mgmt. For example, this might be by 
establishing a by-law or including 
elements of the ISO 50001 standard 
into asset mgmt. policy and planning. 

• Identify specific capital and 
maintenance budget allocations that 
relate to achieving energy and 
emissions operational maintenance 
standards. 

• Set an energy efficiency capital 
expenditure budget target during the 
annual yearly budgeting process. 

• Incorporate building envelope, 

automation and lighting upgrade 

standards and targets for municipal 

buildings/facilities renewal projects in 

a municipal by-law to create a plan to 

achieve ISO50001 standards. 

• Note: The Conservation and Demand 
Management Plan for 2019 to 2024 
has several goals and objectives from 
an organizational perspective that 
require regular attention and 
oversight from Council committees. 
 

MB5Ѻ Energy 
Efficiency – Deep 
Energy Retrofits 
and Achieving Net-
Zero Emissions 

• For retained assets, conduct Front-
End Engineering Designs (FEED) 
with DER and NZ lifecycle analysis in 
the context of AMP. 

• When considering building envelop, 
roofing or other major renovations – 
invest the time and energy required 
to apply for feasibility study grants to 
compare minor, major and deep 
energy retrofits, lifecycle costs and 
return on investment. 

• When considering any new municipal 
buildings – prepare the required 
feasibility studies to make these 
buildings net-zero ready. 

• If a building/facility has a conditional 
assessment of poor or very poor, 
establish a feasibility study priority 
list. Feasibility scope should consider 
financial implications for Deep Energy 
Retrofit (DER) and Net-Zero (NZ) and 
accessibility standard upgrades to 
maintain service levels compared to 
repurposing and market conditions 
for consolidation of assets.  

 

MB6Ѻ Energy 
Efficiency – Water 
Efficiency 

• Once smart meters are installed at 
the Park Centre, start tracking water 
usage alongside energy usage for 
geothermal and hydro. 

• Consider rain-water capture 
technologies whenever replacing 
roofs to offset water consumption 
where possible. 

• Install smart water metering to major 

equipment at facilities to better 

understand water consumption trends 

and ensure that equipment is 

operating at optimal efficiency. 

• Note: Billings does not measure or 
actively manage water consumption 
in any municipally owned buildings or 
facilities. 

 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   29 

4.3.3 COMMUNITY BUILDINGS 

When it comes to residential homes and community buildings the township can have indirect influence 

improving energy and emissions performance. However, in a small rural community like Billings, 

programs and help accessing provincial and federal grants can be delivered more effectively by working 

collaboratively with other partners to provide energy efficiency improvement services to people that live 

on Manitoulin Island. 

Energy is a significant cost in Canadian communities, seasonal fluctuations in temperature has great 

influence on our energy costs. Average annual energy spending can be as much as $12 million in 

communities of less than 10,000 people16. With a population of a little more than 13,000 people17, 

islanders spend more of our annual income on energy than almost every Canadian. 62% percent of 

Manitoulin Island residents spend over 6% of their annual income on energy costs18, which is the second 

highest energy burden rate in Canada. Terminology commonly used to describe high home energy cost 

burdens is energy poverty. 

Energy poverty refers to the experience of households or communities that struggle to heat and cool their 
homes and power their lights and appliances. Those in this situation face multiple challenges and impacts, 
including: 

• Discomfort from living in cold and drafty homes. 

• Disruptions from abrupt utility shutoffs, such as inability to cook and spoiled food. 

• Sacrificing other essentials such as groceries and medication to keep up with energy bills. 

• Increased incidence of respiratory illness in children and infants 

• Higher stress and poorer mental health outcomes for adults. 

• Difficulty participating fully in community life19 

 
16 Partners in Climate Protection: Small and Rural Communities Climate Action Guidebook: https://www.pcp-
ppc.ca/resources/guide-climate-action-in-small-and-rural-communities) 
17 This is the district population. Statistics Canada, 2016 Census. 
18 Canadian Urban Sustainability Practitioners (CUSP) Energy Poverty and Equity Explorer. Retrieved (February 
2021): https://energypoverty.ca/mappingtool/  
19 Canadian Urban Sustainability Practitioners. Retrieved (2021) from: https://energypoverty.ca 

Figure 6: Manitoulin energy poverty cost burden 

https://www.pcp-ppc.ca/resources/guide-climate-action-in-small-and-rural-communities
https://www.pcp-ppc.ca/resources/guide-climate-action-in-small-and-rural-communities
https://energypoverty.ca/mappingtool/
https://energypoverty.ca/


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   30 

 

Energy poverty also makes energy planning challenging at a local government level for several reasons. 

Prominent among those reasons, is the reality that there is no “typical” demographic that experiences 

energy poverty. The condition can impact people in variable income brackets, backgrounds, and 

geographical regions. Reviewing the energy poverty tool used to create Figure 7 above reveals that rural 

and northern Canadian communities have higher energy burdens.20 The key demographic data impacting 

energy poverty on Manitoulin Island is the age of homes, median income and costs associated with having 

several home heating/energy sources because of unreliable hydro service. 

Electricity from Ontario’s power grid is the main source of energy for over 80% of Manitoulin’s residents, 

and grid-supplied electricity is the cleanest source, next to renewably generated off-grid electricity. The cost 

of electricity from the Ontario grid is relatively expensive and can be a relative financial burden for some 

households. Traditionally21, wood heating is a relatively inexpensive on Manitoulin Island, although firewood 

prices have fluctuated during the pandemic22. Sustainable forestry practices exist in several communities, 

including a wood pellet manufacturing and home heating program in Wiikwemkoong. 

The reality of the reliance on electricity for heating represents what might be viewed as “a double-edged 

sword” – on one side is the fact that Ontario has a low-carbon electricity grid, which means most residents 

are purchasing relatively clean energy already and using propane, wood, or oil as backup or supplemental 

supply for heating, cooling, or appliances. The downside is that the delivery charges and affordability of 

clean energy from Ontario’s grid is the most expensive heating option. The cost of energy from Hydro One 

has a significant influence on energy poverty for residents of Manitoulin, and influences consumer 

behaviour in terms of seeking alternatives such as firewood. Moreover, power is delivered to Manitoulin 

Island via one transmission station in Little Current, referred to by Hydro One staff as Manitoulin TS. From 

the Manitoulin TS electricity is distributed throughout the island and the most prolonged outages are due to 

line disruptions between the Manitoulin TS and homes23. While Hydro One has increased risk management 

mitigation effort by widening right of ways and increasing the frequency of removing vegetation growth 

surrounding these high-risk lines, projected increases in extreme weather events related to climate change 

may cancel out these increased preventative maintenance measures. This makes grid reliability an on-

going consideration in building greater energy resilience on Manitoulin. 

According to the community-wide survey that was completed for this CEEP, and can be found in the 

appendices, prolonged power outage is the number one worry from citizens when they think about the 

impact of climate change in our community. This finding was not surprising, given the one-transmission-

line scenario. Despite the presence of renewable energy generation developments on Manitoulin, this 

energy is fed into the Hydro One grid and is therefore not available to islanders through a direct, parallel 

distribution system. When it comes to power outages, islanders are left to rely on alternative fuel and 

electricity sources to ensure adequate back-up in the event of a power outage – and many households and 

businesses have no, or inadequate, back-up electricity. Therefore, the Township of Billings maintains a 

designated emergency response centre (Kagawong Park Centre) with back-up power for the geothermal 

system provided by a propane-fuelled generator. 

These research findings on energy poverty and reliance on electricity from Ontario’s power grid in the 

community present unique challenge and opportunity for climate change and energy planning locally. By 

identifying weaknesses, it is possible to target action to build a more resilient and climate-friendly 

 
20 Ibid. 
21 This is relative to electric heating, and there are indications that this is no longer the case – firewood prices have 
increased during the last few years. In addition, the relative cost of heating with wood is dependent on several 
factors, including the efficiency of the wood burning appliance in use.  
22 The information regarding firewood cost fluctuations during the pandemic is anecdotal. 
23 Hydro One – Email inquiry by Climate Change Coordinator, March 6, 2020  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   31 

community that has sufficient back-up energy to prevent human health impacts in the event of prolonged 

power outages. 

4.3.4 TAKING ACTION: BUILDING BUILDINGS ON OUR STRENGTHS 

In developing the CEEP, the Township of Billings Climate Action Committee has considered several trends 

and has also explored opportunities to accelerate the development of community-wide support systems 

that can incentivize energy efficiency and low carbon energy generation. There has also been consideration 

given to the fact that, while local governments can directly influence positive behavioral changes in building 

efficiency, a community-wide effort will require provincial and federal financial support to enable local 

resource deployment and capacity development. There is a need for consistent advocacy to ensure small 

and rural communities can sustainably access an adequate level of support, and this represents a role for 

local government leadership. 

 

Table 10: Community benefits from collaborative action on community buildings using the co-benefit framework 

Co-Benefit Broad Objectives and Considerations 

 

• Decrease Energy Poverty 

• Decrease incidence of respiratory illness in children and infants 

• Lower stress and poor mental health outcomes for adults 

 

• Sustainable, energy efficient and low carbon energy sources in community 
buildings help protect, preserve, and enhance the natural environment by 
significantly lower GHG emissions. 

 

● Increase the quality of community energy and emissions data so incentive and 
grant program engagement with community members can be custom tailored 
for Billings residents. 

● Share local expertise, knowledge and strengths in the construction and 
building-code sector. 

 

 

● Maximize and accelerate community-wide access to energy efficiency services 
and grants. 

● increase affordability and economic opportunity to create a more resilient and 
affordable community. 

● Build on local expertise, knowledge and strengths in the construction and 
building-code sector. 
 

 

● Build the capacity required to provide sustainable professional support locally 
to deploy innovative energy efficiency and low carbon infrastructure. 

● Deliver innovative community-based energy auditing solutions that provide 
detailed quotes, return on investment, lifecycle analysis, engineering, 
contractor, and materials information for low carbon home energy solutions. 

 
Sometimes to transform challenges into opportunities it is first important to look towards existing local 

strengths and successes in other Canadian communities to envision how these actions can come to life to 

reach the ambitious target of 50% energy and emissions reductions by 2030. 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   32 

4.3.4.1 LOCAL STRENGTH #1: COMMUNITY SUPPORT 

188 Billings residents responded to the community-wide climate change engagement survey that was 

completed as part of the CEEP process. These engagement results and participation are a community 

strength and provide data results that can help target programs, services, and assist is in reaching out 

goals. To meet a goal of 50% energy and emissions reductions by 2030 – residents in the municipality must 

update 11 pieces of fossil fuel burning equipment used to heat or power the home each year, over the next 

30 years. Table 7 and Appendix C (the updated GHG Inventory) provide the data supporting this assertion. 

 

Table 11: Residential heating equipment 2021 versus 2030 - results of the GHG inventory (Appendix C) 

Residential Home Heating 

Method 

Year 

 2018 2030 

Oil furnaces 32 16 

Wood furnaces 177 89 

Propane  111 56 

 

However, with 50% of the survey participants also indicating that they were planning energy efficiency 

renovations or upgrades in the next 5 years, 11 equipment upgrades a year is attainable. By providing local 

expertise and grant support this target could be accelerated, but this will require increased educational, 

technical, and administrative expertise to maximize access to grant opportunities and technical 

development in the region. 

4.3.4.2 LOCAL STRENGTH #2: LOCAL BUILDING EXPERTS  

Municipal building officials play a key role in the implementation of property and buildings standards locally. 

They work directly with members of the public and while they spend a lot of time inspecting and enforcing 

local, provincial, and other building code standards, their in-depth knowledge, experience and 

understanding of buildings locally is important to advancing climate-action. Climate change plans ought to 

acknowledge that the municipal staff have direct contact, influence and expertise in construction and 

building more climate resilient structures. Building upon community strengths that allow municipal staff and 

local contracting/engineering experts to review current local policies to that encourage voluntary green 

buildings standards is a strategy that is working around the country. Moreover, collaborative voluntary green 

building projects can promote job creation, upskilling the workforce, sustainable development growth and 

innovation in the community. 

4.3.4.3 LOCAL STRENGTH #3: SIZE MATTERS 

In this case, Manitoulin Island’s small population size matters. With 739 households within the Township of 

Billings boundaries24, working with the community to deploy energy efficiency retrofits and low carbon 

energy source upgrades, relatively small investments and household transitions have a big impact. Pair 

this with the fact that bureaucracy should technically be less of a barrier for implementation of non-financial 

incentive and green building standards, makes being small a strength.  

More examples and case-studies on how other small and rural communities are implementing green 

building incentives and voluntary standards can be found by picking up almost any other community’s CEEP 

but the best practices and examples relied upon for this plan are as follows: 

 
24 MPAC Household count for the Township of Billings – retrieved July 2019 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   33 

● Towards Low Carbon Communities: Creating Municipal Green Development Standards (An 
Implementation Toolkit for Municipal Staff) – Clean Air Partnership (Accessed October 2020) 
https://www.cleanairpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/GDS-toolkit.pdf 

● Small and Rural Communities Climate Action Guidebook Partners for Climate Protection (PCP) 
Program (April 2021) https://www.pcp-ppc.ca/resources/guide-climate-action-in-small-and-rural-
communities 

 
 
Table 12: Taking action - reducing energy poverty while improving community resilience, housing, affordability, and 
creating healthy, comfortable homes 

Table 12 Taking Action: Reducing energy poverty while improving community resilience, housing 
affordability and healthy comfortable homes  

Buildings 
(B) 

Action Local Government Role Supporting Partners Investment 
Required 

BӨ1 Conduct energy 
auditing, 
grant/incentive 
application support, 
educational and 
financing programs 

Support these community 
led actions by combining 
capacity/resources with 
other local governments 
and partners. 
 
Work collaboratively with 
community partners and 
other local governments to 
coordinate joint grant 
submissions, governance 
and on the ground 
implementation activities. 
 

Lead: (to be determined) 
 
The lead will oversee the 
creation of an advisory panel, 
comprised of: 

• local energy advisors, 
contractors, and 
qualified persons to 
conduct home energy 
upgrades. 

• Academic Partners 
and Sector experts. 

• Indigenous and Non-
Indigenous 
Neighbours and local 
governments. 

$ Municipal 
$$ Provincial 
$$ Federal 

4.4 TRANSPORTATION  
Transportation is the second largest source of GHG emissions on Manitoulin Island. About 85% of people 

living on Manitoulin Island own a vehicle. According to survey respondents, most commute for work 

irregularly which is may be correlated to the proportion of the population who are retired. An increase in the 

ability of people to work remotely, recently spurred by the implications of the COVID-19 pandemic is another 

trend contributing to reduced personal vehicle use. 

14 internal combustion powered vehicles will need to be replaced by electric vehicles in the township, each 

year, to reach 2030 and 2050 GHG reduction goals. This section will focus primarily on the community 

actions that can be pursued to reach these goals, with only brief comment on recommendations for the 

township to consider for electrifying the municipal fleet. 

4.4.1 TAKING ACTION: THE MUNICIPAL FLEET 

On a corporate level, the municipality is committed to reviewing low carbon transportation opportunities for 

the municipal fleet and has incorporated fuel efficiency considerations into heavy truck RFP’s. This practice 

must continue from now until 2050. Electrification of heavy vehicles and other utility trucks that the 

municipality relies on for operations is dependent on projected industry advancements and cost reductions 

of electrifying heavy vehicles. This is likely to begin accelerating in the next 10yrs. Each time the municipality 

tenders for a new vehicle in our small fleet in the next 30yrs, the market conditions will have changed and 

RFP’s need to review each time to ensure that electrification opportunities are not missed. In the meantime, 

the municipality should continue staff training practices that promote climate-friendly and fuel-efficient 

https://www.cleanairpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/GDS-toolkit.pdf
https://www.pcp-ppc.ca/resources/guide-climate-action-in-small-and-rural-communities
https://www.pcp-ppc.ca/resources/guide-climate-action-in-small-and-rural-communities


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   34 

driving habits. When it comes to municipal staff and driver safety – Billings is best in class, and this is a 

strength that will need to continue as electrification of the municipal fleet is considered. 

Immediate opportunities, while the municipality waits for the inevitable market changes and electrification 

innovations in the heavy vehicle sector – investing in smaller, road certified utility vehicles to perform 

outdoor maintenance activities-has been discussed throughout the CEEP process. Investing in one or two 

road certified utility vehicles is a viable option to replace older trucks than cannot access parks, trails, and 

other natural spaces that municipal staff must access for maintenance. Investment in an electric utility 

vehicle would also mean that the municipality could install EV chargers at municipal garages so that when 

heavy vehicles are feasible to transition, the infrastructure is ready for charging. 

4.4.2 TAKING ACTION: COMMUNITY OWNED TRANSIT 

During the development of this project, a new cooperative, non-for-profit transit organization named United 

Manitoulin Island Transit (UMIT) was founded. This transit organization is currently operating because of 

an administrative relationship with Central Manitoulin, allowing them to access a transit-oriented grant that 

is only available to municipalities. In the absence of any local governments taking on the responsibility for 

stewarding public transit on the island, the collaborative community-based approach designed by UMIT has 

begun to fill the gap. 

Since beginning a bus route operation in the Spring of 2020 – a route that does not currently service the 

Township of Billings - UMIT has accumulated a significant amount of transportation data that has allowed 

them to analyze their operations and adjust services. In December 2020, after the release of several new 

federal government programs to support the expansion of electric vehicle charging networks all over 

Canada, UMIT began discussing transportation electrification opportunities with the Climate Change 

Coordinator from Central/Billings. UMIT has an ideal community-based corporate structure to deliver a 

regional electrified transit system on Manitoulin Island and armed with data from this project and their own 

consistent data collection on usage the future of rural transit solutions will require: 

• The creation of innovative business plans that can adapt to fluctuating seasonal usage. 

• The electrification of ride-share fleets to realize marginal revenue gains while paying drivers fairly. 

• The collection and use of applied, real-time usage data to coordinate transit and maximize system 

efficiencies. 

Electrified public transit systems offer and host of potential community co-benefits, some of which are 

outlined in table 16: 

Table 13: Community co-benefits from increased ride sharing and an electrified transit system for Manitoulin 

Co-Benefit 

Category 

Potential Community Benefits 

 

• Transportation is one of the largest stressors for modern families. Shared 
transportation can alleviate some of this stress and lead to better health 
outcomes  

• Shared transportation helps facilitate safe travel and keeps traffic levels low on 
our highways and could lead to less instances of impaired driving. 

 

• Improving EV infrastructure facilitates the transition to electric vehicles for 
everyone, and helps us reach GHG reduction more quickly protecting the 
environment  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   35 

Co-Benefit 

Category 

Potential Community Benefits 

 

• Shared transportation options can improve inter and intra community 
relationships and reduce isolation for individuals. 

 

• Shared transportation options allow significant cost savings for families that will 
not have to purchase and maintain additional vehicles. 

• Incorporating online apps and data sharing for transportation sharing can 
involve financial opportunities for local entrepreneurs 

• New economic opportunities arise with the introduction of ridesharing and less 
reliance on personal vehicles for all transportation needs. 

 

• Shared transportation options will assist in tracking GHG emissions by 
facilitating data collection relating to transportation trends. 

 

RURAL TRANSIT CASE STUDY: REGIM 
REGIM is a transit system comprised of partner municipalities in small, rural, island communities 

responsible for organizing transit in the territory of Gaspesie-Les Iles, in Quebec. This community has 

strikingly similar demographics, geography, and a slightly larger population than Manitoulin Island. Looking 

at the way they have structured a unique electric ride-share program that also supports the expansion of 

community EV charging stations for members of the public to use is like looking at Manitoulin Island’s future 

transit system. 

Over time, and with minimal financial burden on local municipalities, this organization has leveraged 

relatively small community and municipal investments to secure significant federal and provincial grants. 

This funding has contributed to fleet expansion and the installation of EV charging stations. This transit 

service provides an array of options for users, bike share, electric vehicle car sharing services, 

ridesharing/carpooling apps for smartphones and a small bus system25.  

Table 14: Taking action – Reducing transportation costs and developing a connected, safe community 

Transit 
(T) 

Action Local Government Role Supporting Partners Investment 
Required 

TӨ1 Work with local 
government partners to 
expand low and zero 
emission vehicle uptake 
and charging networks 

Identify and collaborate 
with local partners 

Lead: (to be determined – 
possibly UMIT?) 
 
Indigenous and Non-
Indigenous Neighbours and 
local governments 
 
Angel Bus Network?  

$ Municipal 
$$$ Provincial 
$$$ Federal 
$ Community 
$ Private 

TӨ2 Expand public transit, 
ridesharing, and support 
fleet electrification  

TӨ3 Increase public 
awareness of climate-
friendly travel modes. 
Educate and disseminate 
knowledge regarding 
these modes 

 
25 RÉGÎM (Retrieved January 2021) https://regim.info/en/about-the-regim/the-regie/  

https://regim.info/en/about-the-regim/the-regie/


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   36 

4.5 WASTE 
For well over a decade, Manitoulin Island local governments have known that our landfills are filling up too 

fast and the cost to ship our waste off-island will be prohibitive. About 10yrs ago, several local governments 

worked together to have a waste audit and report completed for the island. The report was supposed to 

help create a collaborative waste management approach to deal with over 10 aging landfills on the island. 

The ultimate recommendation was to ship household waste to Dodge Landfill, and this was not the 

collaborative solution local governments could agree with. In the absence of a collaborative approach, each 

municipality opted to manage recycling contracts and landfill/waste management independently.  

In 2018, Billings had 64 tons of recycling hauled to Blind River and 576 tons of household waste went into 

the Billings landfill. The GHG emissions from all waste activities in Billings community, after recycling is 

hauled away (16tCO2e) and household garbage is about 800tCO2e. This is about 5% of the overall GHG 

emissions produced in Billings. The environmental impact of community waste on the environment is not 

just measured in GHG emissions and these GHG emission calculations do not consider the GHG emissions 

from private citizens that burn or bury waste, which is a common practice in the community. 

4.5.1 CHALLENGES AND THREATS 

4.5.1.1 OLD LANDFILLS, FRACTURED BED ROCK AND REGULATORY RISKS: 

As mentioned in Shared Natural Spaces section, Manitoulin Island has unique geology. It is called 

carbonate bedrock and is composed mainly of limestone and dolostone. Take a stroll on the famous Cup 

and Saucer trail or look closely at the rocks surrounding Bridal Veil Falls and anyone can see the 

uniqueness of these rock formations and how they can form large visible cracks. Throughout time, the 

weather and surface water enlarge these cracks – eventually forming karst, grikes and underground caves 

that interconnect to streams, rivers and lakes that supply drinking water26. Across most of Manitoulin, 

including the Billings landfill location these subterranean bedrock formations are extensive and while the 

landfill is located reasonably far from settlement areas, hazardous waste from the landfill could still cause 

ground water contamination because many cracks, karsts and grikes interconnect and are a mere 1.25km 

distance below ground from the Kagawong River. Thankfully, the landfill site does have some monitoring 

stations, and landfilling methods continue to improve. However, there is no way of knowing the true risk of 

interconnected cracks in the bedrock, unless detailed Lidar mapping, hydrogeology, and field studies, as 

suggested in the Shared Natural Spaces section (4.2), are completed for the region. This makes the data 

collected for natural spaces additionally useful in protecting human health and drinking water from potential 

future landfill contamination. 

Leaky landfills designed on top of fractured bedrock would not be approved by the province today without 

liners and collection systems to capture the methane gas and hazardous substances that seep out of 

landfills, called hazardous leachate. The province may approve the expansion of these landfills because 

the original design pre-exists hazardous leachate and methane gas collection requirements but there is 

undoubtedly risk that these sites are a potential threat to groundwater. This makes leaking landfills a known 

and manageable risk that requires community investment to prevent further migration of contaminants into 

drinking water sources. Since we now know that sites with fractured bedrock are not a good choice for 

 
26 M. Coniglio, P, Karrow, P Russell, Manitoulin Rocks! Rocks, Fossils and Landforms of Manitoulin Island (Earth 
Sciences Museum, University of Waterloo in partnership with the Geological Association of Canada and the Gore Bay 
Museum, 2006) 

CEEP VISION STATEMENT IN ACTION # 4 

Reduce overall consumption by promoting circular economy concepts and increase waste diversion through 

recycling rate increases and home composting program 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   37 

landfill location, public health and groundwater impact will continue to need consideration for ongoing 

operation, and especially expansion, of existing sites. 

4.5.1.2 REGULATORY NEW PRODUCER RESPONSIBILITY RECYCLING SYSTEM IN ONTARIO: 

Right now, every local government on the island procures recycling haulage services from a third-party to 

haul recycling off-island. In Ontario, municipalities under 5000 are not required to recycle glass – so the 

third-party recycling contractor stopped picking up glass and glass started filling up island landfills. Small 

and rural communities that individually procure recycling services will always be at a disadvantage and 

subject to private sector and provincial regulatory risk. A good example of this is that Billings indicated that 

it would be willing to move over to the new producer responsibility recycling system as early as 2023 but 

was pushed to 2025. Either way, by 2025 producer responsibility legislation in Ontario will require producer 

to be fully responsibility for Blue Box services provincewide27. While some policy experts state that this will 

save taxpayer dollars, give producers incentive to redesign products and make them easier to recycle – it 

is inevitable that this will have an impact on small and rural communities that may transition to this new 

system more slowly or may see an increase in recyclable materials on the municipally operated landfills if 

producers refuse to pick up all recyclable items for communities under 5000, like they have done for glass 

recycling on the island. 

4.5.2 STRENGTHS AND OPPORTUNITIES – COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND SHARED PROCUREMENT 

Food Waste – An Overlooked Climate Mitigation Measure 

42% of the GHG emissions created from the food we eat are created during the production, processing, 

transportation, and disposal phase28. Approximately, one third of Canada’s food is never eaten producing 

unnecessary emissions throughout the entire food system, as well as methane when it is disposed of in the 

landfill29. It is estimated that close to 40% of the waste deposited in the Billings landfill is food waste. By 

reducing food waste in the landfill, Billings could realize GHG emissions reductions, save tax dollars due to 

lower volumes of waste in the landfill and reduce the potential for hazardous leaching. 

Although Billings has implemented a composting program in the past, close to 50% of the residents that 

participated in the climate change survey did not know about the program. Only 5% said they would not 

want to compost from home – indicating that home composting could be the most cost efficient and easiest 

way for Billings to reduce GHG emissions from waste, especially if consistent education and engagement 

is pursued as part of an integrated waste diversion approach. 

4.5.3 TAKING ACTION: MUNICIPAL AND COMMUNITY WASTE REDUCTION  

Based on the challenges, threats, strengths, and opportunities for safe and improved waste reduction in 

Billings – climate actions will focus on steps that can be taken by the municipality (corporately) and in the 

community by residents in collaboration with the municipality, other local governments, and organizational 

partners. 

  

 
27 Producer Responsibility for Ontario waste diversion programs. Retrieved from 
https://www.ontario.ca/page/producer-responsibility-ontarios-waste-diversion-programs 
28 US Environmental Protection Agency, Opportunities to Reduce Greenhouse Gas Emissions through Materials and 
Land Management Practices (2009) Retrieved from https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-
08/documents/ghg-land-materials-management.pdf  
29 National Zero Waste Council, Reducing Food Waste and Cutting Canada’s Emissions: Policies for Reaping the 
Environmental, Economic, and Social Benefits (2016). Retrieved from 
http://www.nzwc.ca/Documents/NZWCSubmissionOnPan-CanadianFrameworkForCombattingClimateChange.pdf  

https://www.ontario.ca/page/producer-responsibility-ontarios-waste-diversion-programs
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-08/documents/ghg-land-materials-management.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-08/documents/ghg-land-materials-management.pdf
http://www.nzwc.ca/Documents/NZWCSubmissionOnPan-CanadianFrameworkForCombattingClimateChange.pdf


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   38 

Table 15: Community co-benefits from waste reduction, using the co-benefits framework 

Co-Benefit 

Category 

Potential Community Benefits 

 

• Reducing leachate and methane gas coming from the landfill helps ensure 
long-term access to safe drinking water sources in the community. 

 

• Reducing leachate and methane gas coming from the landfill helps ensure a 
clean environment. 

• Converting brush into chip waste will assist with composting this waste, 
increase soil quality in our environment and reducing GHG emissions. 

 

 

• Sharing of tools and other items, as well as other circular economy events, 
helps promote interaction in the community and facilitate positive relationships 

• Additional community events like a composting program or circular economy 
activities facilitate data collection relating to GHG emissions. 

 

• Sharing of tools and other items helps save money for households but 
providing a low-cost alternative to investing in these items themselves 

• Maintaining a clean environment such as the Kagawong River helps maintain 
the tourist industry for our community as the river and the falls a prime 
destination for tourists. 

• Methane gas collection at the landfill can be used as an energy source, 
reducing municipal energy usage, and saving money. 

• Increasing household composting can reduce the need for purchasing 
commercial fertilizers for home gardens, saving money. 

 

• Having no power sources at the landfill now presents opportunity for innovative 

applications of renewable energy, waste to energy technologies and gas 

capture systems. 

 
Table 16: Taking Action – waste management - reducing overall consumption and landfilling 

Waste 

(W) 

Action Local Government Role Potential Supporting 

Partners 

Investment (Resources) 

Required 

WӨ1 Re-institute an in-home 

composting support 

program 

Partial financial 

contribution to the 

composting program and; 

Promotion – 

communication through 

website, social media 

with other waste 

management information  

• Private sector 

• School Board 
(note that 
Manitoulin 
Secondary 
School is in 
Billings, and is 
a significant 
waste 
generator for 

Municipal $/Staff time 

Other investment should be 

secured through the private 

sector, provincial & federal 

grants, and community 

fundraising efforts (e.g., to 

begin the community owned 

WӨ2 Track composter use, 

waste, and GHG 

emission reductions from 

community-based 

composting program  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   39 

Waste 

(W) 

Action Local Government Role Potential Supporting 

Partners 

Investment (Resources) 

Required 

WӨ3 Create local circular 

economy opportunities – 

organize reuse and 

repurposing events, 

repair seminars and 

eventually consider a 

permanent tool share 

library and reuse centre.  

Communications and 

advertising through 

website, social media 

with other waste 

management information 

sharing. 

the 
municipality 

• Alterum (as a 
possibility) for 
data 
management 
of program 
and resulting 
GHG savings  

and operated tool share 

library and reuse centre)  

WѺ1 Integrate leachate and 

methane gas collection 

systems into Kagawong 

sequential fill design  

Create a committee of 

Council to improve waste 

management oversight 

and operations. 

Start setting aside a 

larger percentage of tax 

revenue annually to meet 

future infrastructure 

needs at landfill sites. 

External expertise can 

provide technical, cost, 

GHG savings, joint 

compactor procurement 

and grant application 

support to secure 

compactors and 

woodchippers at landfill 

site. 

$$ - Municipal 

$$ - Provincial 

$$- Federal 

 

 

WѺ2 Install a power source at 

the landfill – hydro or 

renewable to operate 

more compaction and 

wood chipping equipment  

WѺ2 Increase municipal staff 

support at the landfill to 

improve covering, chip 

clean yard waste instead 

of burning and operate 

recycling compaction 

equipment. 

WѺ4 Integrate tourism 

advertisements with 

waste diversion and 

management messaging 

Every time the 

municipality advertises 

tourism digitally or in 

print, include messaging 

about keeping natural 

tourism attractions clean 

and waste free.  

Local businesses to 

create advertisements 

that encourage waste 

free tourism  

$ - Municipal  

 

WѺ5 Continue to grow the 

Kagawong Market to 

increase access to local 

food. Encourage re-use 

type vendors at the 

market 

Economic Development 

Committee work more 

effectively with the 

market management 

Local food producers  Municipal $, plus capacity 

and volunteer time of 

organizing community 

members 

 

  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   40 

5 PLAN IMPLEMENTATION 

5.1 RECOGNITION OF THE VALUE OF COLLABORATION 
This plan presents an inspiring but challenging list of actions to make significant progress against climate 

change in our municipality. The sheer length of this document and the depth of detail can make it seem 

daunting, as climate change is certainly the most wide-ranging crisis of this century. One of the main 

challenges in implementing this plan is finding and allocating the resources (human and financial) to 

undertake the actions. The following list is a summary of some of the major considerations in proceeding 

with implementation: 

• Actions need to be prioritized with a mind to timing, logistics, dependencies (i.e., are some actions 
dependent on the implementation of others?) and the level of financial and staff-time resources 
required. 

• Which actions require what type of collaborative engagement, and with whom? 

• Which actions are the “quick wins,” those that can feed and maintain momentum by demonstrating 
progress? 

• The need for developing local and partnered plans to go forward to implement each action. 

• What processes and mechanisms could/should be used to monitor implementation and assess 
performance? 

Reviewing this list makes it clear that there is a significant amount of work needed to move forward with 
implementation of the CEEP. The municipality will need to dedicate adequate human and financial 
resources, over time, to ensure the success of the plan. This implementation challenge should not be 
underestimated, given the already existing reality that municipal administrative responsibility has grown 
significantly and rapidly over the past few years. The increased administrative burden of implementing the 
CEEP is further reason for the municipality to ensure that adequate human resources are in place to meet 
our administrative responsibilities. 

It is also clear that partnering with other local governments and NGOs (on potentially varied scales – local, 

regional, and provincial) will be vital to plan implementation and ensuring its ultimate success. Climate 

change is a world-wide challenge and working together is essential to be able to meet this crisis. A 

collaborative approach is required to implement the community (Ө) actions in this plan and once 

established, this collaborative approach can begin to provide capacity and support if needed to implement 

corporate (Ѻ) actions. 

Since the inception of this CEEP planning process, it has been acknowledged by both the Township of 

Billings and the Municipality of Central Manitoulin that sharing staff resources and collaborating on plan 

development processes, has been beneficial. Earlier this year, both municipalities expressed their intent to 

continue working collaboratively on CEEP implementation. For Billings this took the form of a motion at the 

March 15, 2021, Regular Meeting of Council, as follows: 

2021 – 110 Motion: Barker – Jackson  

That Council approves the continuation of the Central Manitoulin/Billings climate change planning 

and implementation partnership, once the current FCM/MEP grant has concluded and further, that 

Council approves the continuation of the Central Manitoulin/Billings climate change partnership 

resources including but not limited to sharing a staff resource (job title, hours etc. to be determined) 

and maintaining Council Climate Action Committee (s) once the current FCM/MEP grant has 

concluded provided that Central Manitoulin also approves……. Carried 

There is strong support from both Councils to continue this work and share resources. However, at the time 

of writing climate change related staffing details have not yet been finalized. 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   41 

Table 17: Examples of successful climate-change-related collaborations 

Collaborative Successes 
Case-Study Samples 

Evidence in Support of CEEP 
Implementation 

Measurable Implementation 
Outcomes 

Hazardous Waste Days - 

Manitoulin Island (Local) 

A 17-year partnership 

between local Manitoulin 

Island municipalities to 

jointly procure and organize 

hazardous waste pick-up 

and safe disposal of 

residential hazardous 

waste. 

Shared service between multiple 

municipalities on Manitoulin Island 

is possible  

Collaborative waste management 

procurement, programs and 

services is sustainable and 

manageable in the District of 

Manitoulin Island.  

Decreased service and 

administrative fees for each 

partner 

Reduction of hazardous waste 

materials and environmental 

reduced contamination risk 

Manitoulin Streams (Local) Collaborating on natural solutions 

for the protection, conservation and 

enhancement of shared natural 

spaces is possible on Manitoulin 

Island.   

This non-profit has worked on 

natural asset protection, 

preservation, and conservation 

projects all over Manitoulin Island – 

project partners have included First 

Nations, municipal governments, 

agricultural small businesses, and 

educational institutions.  

Flood management and 

protection of public and private 

property  

Habitat enhancement and 

restoration  

Biodiversity protection and 

conservation  

Enhanced carbon sequestration  

 

Local Food Manitoulin – 

Community Gardens (Local) 

 

Island-wide projects that provide 

customized and tailored community 

solutions is possible in Manitoulin 

Island.  

Community gardens that received 

initial financial support and on-

going staff support from local 

governments were able to continue 

operating with less risk once grant 

funds for start up costs were 

exhausted.  

Malnutrition in the community is 

decreased.  

Local jobs, volunteer and learning 

opportunities are created.  

Sustainable and sovereign food 

systems are created to building 

resiliency.  

Local food becomes more 

affordable and accessible.  

GHG emissions from the overall 

food system are decreased  

Reep Green Solutions 

(Ontario – Waterloo Region) 

A collaborative non-profit 

that pairs academic 

research with practical 

action in the community and 

includes multiple municipal 

Multi-municipal partnerships to 

implement climate action, 

particularly in service areas that 

are not generally offered my 

municipal governments have 

existed for over a decade in 

Ontario. 

Provides organizational structure 

to deliver climate action programs 

and services that local 

governments do not have the 

resources to provide. 

Increases residents’ access and 

success in obtaining provincial 

and federal grants to plant trees 



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   42 

Collaborative Successes 
Case-Study Samples 

Evidence in Support of CEEP 
Implementation 

Measurable Implementation 
Outcomes 

governments as 

stakeholders.  

Projects that could apply 

here on Manitoulin Island: 

Home Energy Efficiency, 

Healthy Yards and 

Neighborhoods (backyard 

tree planting, home flood 

and wildfire protective 

services) 

https://reepgreen.ca/ 

REEP is just one highly successful 

model that started with community 

energy efficiency and has 

expanded its community climate 

action services over a 20yr period.  

Municipal governments have a role 

to play in the organization, but they 

are not ultimately responsible for it 

and can choose to opt-in in 

programs that are most appropriate 

for their community.  

or improve home energy 

efficiency. 

Our Energy Guelph  

https://www.ourenergyguelp

h.ca/ 

With an initial 5yr funding 

commitment from the municipal 

government, this non-for-profit will 

be financially independent within 

the first 4yrs of operation and will 

be responsible for delivering 

community energy efficiency 

services, expanding electric vehicle 

charging station infrastructure, 

leveraging initial capital to secure 

grants and providing technical and 

sustainability consulting services 

with the local community that helps 

the municipality reach and monitor 

community GHG emission goals. 

Mobilization of local grass roots 

community action that starts with 

municipal led support for the start-

up phase of the non-for-profit.  

By year 5, non-for-profit self-

sustaining, reinvesting any profits 

back into the expansion of 

services and programs.    

 

  

https://reepgreen.ca/
https://www.ourenergyguelph.ca/
https://www.ourenergyguelph.ca/


Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   43 

6 CONCLUSION 

Climate change is real – it is a threat to current and future generations. The Township of Billings recognized 

this and has played a leadership role in the community by beginning to tackle this through creation of the 

CEEP. This leadership was demonstrated by joining the PCP program, completing the climate change 

engagement survey, and approving the CEEP. This CEEP is the start – we must now all continue building 

on the relationships and collaborative opportunities, on various scales, that have presented themselves 

throughout this planning process to implement and monitor climate change actions in this plan. 

Municipalities need not tackle climate action alone; many allies can and have been found in the local 

community. Other municipalities on Manitoulin Island have already expressed interest in sharing costs and 

resources that will benefit all communities involved. Establishing partnerships with existing and new 

community groups to drive community climate action is a key component of success. This success has 

already been realized through the establishment of collaborative partnerships like those illustrated in Table 

10 on the island. Council’s commitment to the CEEP will ensure that the work of climate action continues, 

hopefully guided, on Council’s behalf, through a continuation of the Billings Climate Action Committee. 

  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   44 

7 GLOSSARY AND ACRONYMS 

The Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) uses several key terms and acronyms that are 

consistent within climate change conversations and literature. Whenever possible, plain language is used 

to describe scientific or economic concepts related to climate change. Many definitions outlined below have 

been adjusted into plain language descriptions that can be found in the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 

Change (IPCC) and the Partners in Climate Protection Protocol (Canadian Supplement).  

Definitions and Acronyms 
Adaptation  
 

An action taken to change societal, behavioural or infrastructure to 
anticipate the impact of more extreme weather due to climate change 

Asset Management Plan  
AMP 

A tactical plan for managing municipal infrastructure (buildings, roads, 
parks) to deliver a standard of service agreed upon by the community for 
this infrastructure 

Capacity 
 

The combined strengths, attributes, and resources available to an 
individual, community, organization and/or local government that can be 
used to achieve established goals. 

Carbon Dioxide 
Equivalent  
 
CO2e 

A metric used to compare emissions from various greenhouse gases. The 
global warming potential of any greenhouse gas can be converted to this 
carbon dioxide metric so that emissions can be represented using a 
common factor. 

Carbon Sequestration A natural or artificial process by which carbon dioxide is removed from the 
atmosphere and held in a solid (including biomass) or liquid form.  

Carbon Sink  Anything that absorbs more carbon dioxide from the atmosphere than it 
releases. 

Climate Action 
Committee 
 
CAC  

The Council appointed committee responsible for the creation, oversight, 
recommendations, and future implementation of climate actions included in 
this Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) for the Township of 
Billings. 

Climate Change  
 

A change in average weather patterns that persist over long periods – at 
least 30 years or more. For this document – climate change refers 
specifically to human-caused changes in long term weather patterns that 
have occurred since the Industrial Era.  

Climate-friendly  
 

An action that is not harmful to the environment because it is not 
contributing to making climate change worse by burning/consuming carbon 
dioxide or other greenhouse gases. 

Conservation and 
Demand Management 
Plan CDM  
 

A regulatory reporting and management requirement for all public sector 
organizations under the Province of Ontario Energy Act, 2009 (O. Reg 
397/11). A tactical plan for managing energy and emissions to meet 
community and/or organizational environmental responsibility goals and 
objectives. 

Decarbonization  
 

The reduction of greenhouse gas emissions using low or lower carbon 
power sources that achieve a lower output of greenhouse gasses into the 
atmosphere. 

Deep Energy Retrofit  
DER 

Energy conservation measure taken to minimize energy use for an existing 
building (usually by 50% or more) compared to baseline energy use.  

Energy Poverty  
 

The experience of households or communities that struggle financially to 
heat and/or cool their homes and power their lights and appliance. 

Federation of Canadian 
Municipalities FCM  
 

A national organization that brings together more than 2000 municipalities 
in Canada and represents over 90% of Canadians.  

Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions  
GHGs 

Gases in the atmosphere that absorb and emit infrared radiation 
contributing to the greenhouse effect.  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   45 

Definitions and Acronyms 
Independent Electricity 
Service Operator  
IESO 

Operates the Ontario power system in real time, ensuring reliability of the 
provinces power, balancing the supply of and demand for electricity on a 
second-by second basis and directing its flow across high-voltage 
transmissions lines to Ontarians. 

Impacts  
 

Impacts in the context of this report shall refer to the consequences from 
climate change, good and/or bad, expected and realized on human and 
natural systems. 

Intergovernmental Panel 
on Climate Change  
IPCC  

An international body established under the United Nation to assess the 
science, impacts and response options to climate change 

Key Performance 
Indicator KPI  

A quantifiable measure used to evaluate the success of an organization, 
individual or process in achieving a goal. 

Low-Carbon Resilience  
LCR 

Strategic alignment of climate adaptation and mitigation actions that 
simultaneously reduce enterprise/organizational risk, and produce health, 
economic, ecological, and social benefits. 

Low Carbon  Power that is produced with substantially less greenhouse gas emissions 
than traditional fossil fuel/coal power generation. 

Mitigation  Actions that contribute to the reduction of GHG emissions and/or increase 
carbon sequestration to prevent the worst impacts of climate change. 

Major Retrofits  Modifications to an existing building that reduce energy or water 
consumption but require a larger investment – replacing window glazing 
and doors, updating inefficient heating, cooling systems, installing smart 
meters or other devices to help manage consumption. 

Minor Retrofits  Modifications to an existing building that are low cost, easy to implement 
and offer good value for money and effort to reduce energy or water 
consumption – could include, sealing with caulking or spray foam, adding 
insulation, or upgrading lighting systems. 

Net-Zero  
 
NZ  

A target that completely negates the amount of greenhouse gases produce 
by human activity – generally achieved by reducing emissions and 
implementing methods to absorb greenhouse gases from the atmosphere. 

Natural Asset and 
Natural Asset Inventory  
 

Soil, air, water, flora, fauna which can deliver valuable services such as 
timber, fish, solar energy, erosion control, flood protection, drinking water, 
air purification. A natural asset inventory is a practice that measures and 
values these assets based on services they provide in a defined 
jurisdiction. 

Partners in Climate 
Protection Protocol  
 
PCP 

Partners in Climate Protection is a national network of over 400 
municipalities with a shared goal of acting against climate change. The 
protocol, developed by PCP, is a set of detailed accounting and 
quantification guidelines for greenhouse gas emissions in a local 
government boundary. 

Resilience  The capacity to recover quickly from difficulties. 

 

  



Township of Billings Community Energy and Emissions Plan (CEEP) 

July 2021 (Revised Nov 2021)                                                                                   46 

8 APPENDIXES 

The following appendices are available as separate documents on the Township of Billings website. 

A. CLIMATE ACTION COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 
Explains the mandate and procedures of the Township of Billings ad hoc CAC 

B. LOCAL CLIMATE PROJECTIONS 
Detailed climate atlas data and other sources used to make climate predictions for Manitoulin Island 

C. UPDATED GREENHOUSE GAS INVENTORY FOR THE TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 
As analyzed and reported by Alterum (creator of energy and emissions profiles) 

D. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT SURVEY 
As analyzed and reported by Ethelo (community engagement specialists) 



 

 

THE CORPORATION OF 
THE TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 

 

Bylaw 2022-10 

 

Being a bylaw to control the land usages for land identified as Shoreline Road Allowances within 

Billings Township. 

 

WHEREAS the Ontario Municipal Act 2001 S.O. 2001, c. 25 section 8 provides that the powers of the 

municipality shall be interpreted broadly as to confer broad authority to enable the municipality to 

govern its affairs as it considers appropriate to enhance a municipality’s ability to respond to municipal 

issues; and 

WHEREAS the Ontario Municipal Act 2001, S.O. 2001, c. 25 section 28(1) states the following: 

28(1) Except as otherwise provided in this Act or under section 8 of the Public Transportation and 

Highway Improvement Act or in a by-law passed under this Act, a municipality has jurisdiction or joint 

jurisdiction, as the case may be, over the following highways: 

1.  All highways over which it had jurisdiction or joint jurisdiction on December 31, 2002. 
2.  All highways established by by-law of the municipality on or after January 1, 2003. 
3.  All highways transferred to the municipality under this Act, the Public Transportation and 

Highway Improvement Act or any other Act.  2001, c. 25, s. 28 (1) 
 

AND WHEREAS the Council for the Township of Billings wishes to control the uses of Township Property 
that is associated with Shoreline (Marine) Road Allowances. 
 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Township of Billings hereby enacts as follows: 
 
1.0 DEFINITIONS 

1.1 “Abutting Owner” shall mean the owner of lands abutting the Shoreline Road Allowance 

that is located adjacent to their property, between their property and the water body. 

1.2 “Alteration” means any human-induced change in an existing condition of a specified area 

or its buffer. Alterations include, but are not limited to, grading, filling, channelizing, 

dredging, clearing of vegetation, construction, compaction, excavation, or any other activity 

that changes the character of the specified area. 

1.3 “Agreement” means a signed document in which the Property Owner provides to the 

Township a signed indemnification (Hold Harmless) agreement absolving any claims against 

the Township that are a result of improvements or alterations performed by the Property 

Owner. 

1.4 ” Campfire” shall mean a fire set for cooking or warmth, approved by Chief Fire official or a 

Designate, that is no greater than 66 centimetres in diameter and no more than 1 metre 

high; does not include barbeques. 

1.5 “Council” shall mean the elected Council of the Township of Billings. 

1.6 “Designate”  shall mean an individual authorized by the Township to act on behalf of the 

Township. 

1.7 “Hold-Harmless Agreement” (also known as an Indemnity Agreement) shall mean an 
Agreement that allows one party to protect another party against any future losses or 
claims that may result from a particular activity. 

1.8 “Officer” shall mean an officer of the Ontario Provincial Police, an Officer of the Ministry of 
Northern Development, Mines, Natural Resources and Forestry Resources or a Bylaw 
Enforcement Officer or Designate appointed by Council to enforce the Township bylaws. 

1.9 “Permanent Structure” shall mean on real property, is a structure that is placed on the land 
for the foreseeable future that is affixed to the ground.  

1.10 “Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, bridge authority, agent or 
trustee and the heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives of a Person 
whom the context can apply according to law. 

1.11 “Personal Property” shall mean any movable thing or intangible item of value that is 
capable of being owned by a person and not recognized as real property. 

1.12 ” Private Property” shall mean belongings or land that belongs to a person or a group 
for their own exclusive use. 

https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/designate
https://www.lawdepot.ca/contracts/hold-harmless-agreement/?loc=CA


 

 

1.13 “Private Property Sign” shall mean a sign that indicates, in writing or by symbol, that 
the property is privately owned. 

1.14 “No Trespassing Sign” shall mean a sign that indicates, in writing or by symbol, that 
property is privately owned by a property owner. 

1.15 “Off-Road Vehicle” means any vehicle while it is being operated on a road not 
maintained by a federal, provincial, state, or local agency, not including entrance or 
departure ways to private property, or any vehicle which cannot be licensed to drive on a 
public road and is designed and manufactured primarily for off-road usage. 

1.16 “Property Owner” shall mean the individual or company that has owner’s rights to 
the property such as a block of land or building. The property owner is responsible for the 
payment of any rates and taxes that arise.  

1.17 “Property Survey” shall mean a document that shows property lines including any land, 
structures, and features that are legally owned (versus that which are not owned) as a 
schematic diagram of angles and measurements. 

1.18 “Road Allowances” shall mean allowances originally laid out for roads by a Crown 
surveyor, including both road allowances shown on an original township survey and road 
allowances shown along the water in a plan of subdivision. Road allowances are generally 66 
feet in width. 

1.19 “Road Superintendent” means the Road Superintendent for the Township of Billings, 
the Council of the Township or any such other person as may be authorized by the Council 
to act on their behalf in this particular capacity. 

1.20 “Shoreline (Marine) Road Allowance (SRA)" shall mean the unflooded portion of an 
original allowance for a road reserved along the shore of a navigable waterway, but not an 
allowance that has become an open public street. 

1.21 “Site Plan” shall mean a drawing of walkways, parking areas, landscaping or exterior 
design on a parcel of land where development is proposed. 

1.22 “Township Property” is land that is owned or controlled by the Corporation of the 
Township of Billings. 

1.23 "Unopened Road Allowance" shall mean either a Road Allowance shown on original 
Crown surveys but not an allowance that has become an open public street, or a municipal 
road which has been closed. 
 

2.0 General Requirements 

2.1 The Township has the right to reserve any portion of a Shoreline Road Allowance where 

council considers it appropriate and in the public interest to guarantee access to waterfront 

and abutting property. 

2.2 All removable structures, except for items identified in Section 3 shall be removed from 

Shoreline Road Allowances by June 30, 2022. 

 

3.0 PROHIBITIONS 

3.1 No Person shall place or post Private Property signs on Township Property. 

3.2 No Person shall place or post No Trespassing signs on Township Property. 

3.3 No Person shall make Alterations to lands that are part of the 66-foot Shoreline (Marine) 

Road Allowance without obtaining an Agreement with the Township and after a Site Plan 

has been Approved by the Roads Superintendent, a Designate or the CAO/Clerk. 

3.4 No Person shall make Alterations to Township Property without obtaining an Agreement 

with the Township and a Site Plan has been approved by the Roads Superintendent, a 

Designate or the CAO/Clerk. 

3.5 No Person shall install a permanent structure on lands that are part of a 66-foot Shoreline 

(Marine) Shore Allowance. 

3.6 No Person shall place any boat docking/launching equipment, structure, barrier, fence or 

any thing that is an impediment that will block or impede pedestrian traffic, vehicle traffic or 

Off-Road Vehicle traffic on a Shoreline Road Allowance. 

3.7 No Person shall store personal property on a Shoreline Road Allowance. 

3.8 No Person shall park or store a vehicle on a Shoreline Road Allowance 

3.9 No Person shall make any Shoreline Alteration that will affect fisheries or natural water 

habitat without permission from the Ministry of Northern Development, Mines, Natural 

Resources and Forestry. 

 

4.0 EXEMPTIONS 

https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/off-road-vehicle
https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/road-superintendent


 

 

4.1 Property Owners who currently have fixed structures on the Shoreline Road Allowance 

directly abutting their property and that have signed a Hold Harmless Agreement with the 

Township. 

4.2 Property Owners who have an existing structure that houses a water pumping system for 

the property 

4.3 Property Owners who have removable docks or boat lifts may store their removable docks 

or boat lifts on the Shoreline Road Allowance between October 31st to May 31st of each 

year.  

4.3.1 The storage of items identified in Sections 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 that are being stored on 

a Shoreline Road Allowance shall not hinder pedestrian traffic or travel by Off 

Road Vehicles. 

4.3.2 The items identified in Sections 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 that are stored on a Shoreline Road 

Allowance shall be clearly marked so as to prevent contact or collision with Off 

Road Vehicles. 

 

5.0 ENFORCEMENT 

5.1 This bylaw will be enforced by an Officer or Designate appointed by the Council to enforce 

the bylaws of the Township, an Officer of the Ontario Provincial Police or an Officer of the 

Ministry Northern Development, Mines, Natural Resources and Forestry. 

5.2 Any person who contravenes or fails to comply with any provision of this Bylaw is guilty of 

an offence and upon conviction is liable to a fine as provided by the Provincial Offences Act, 

R.S.O. 1990, chapter P.33 as amended. (See Schedule “A”) 

5.3 No person shall hinder or obstruct or attempt to hinder or obstruct an officer who is 

exercising a power or performing a duty under this Bylaw. 

 

6.0 SEVERABILITY 

6.1 If any provision or part of this Bylaw is declared by any court or tribunal of competent 

jurisdiction to be illegal or inoperative, in whole or in part in particular circumstances, the 

balance of the bylaw or its application in other circumstances, shall not be affected and shall 

continue in full force and effect. 

 

7.0 APPLICATION 

7.1 This bylaw applies to all properties within the Township of Billings that abut or that are 

adjacent to any identified Shoreline Road Allowance. 

 

8.0 ADMINISTRATION 

8.1 This Bylaw shall be known and cited as the Shoreline Road Allowance Bylaw. 

 

9.0 ENACTMENT 

9.1 This Bylaw shall come into force upon the final passing thereof. 

 

 

Read for the first, second and third time and enacted this ___ day of _________, 2022 

 

 

 

____________________________________                    ___________________________________ 

Ian Anderson, Mayor                                                              Kathy McDonald, CAO/Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

THE CORPORATION OF 
THE TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 

 

Bylaw 2022-10 

 

Being a bylaw to control the land usages for land identified as Shoreline Road Allowances within 
Billings Township. 

 
SCHEDULE A: Provincial Offences Act Part: 1 

 

Item Short Form Wording Provision Creating or Defining Offence Set Fine 

1 Post Private Property Sign on 
Township Property 

3.1 $250.00 

2 Post No Trespassing Sign on 
Township Property 

3.2 $250.00 

3 Alter Shoreline Road Allowance 
without written Agreement 

3.3 $800.00 

4 Alter Township Property without 
written Agreement 

3.4 $800.00 

5  Install permanent Structure on 
Shoreline Road Allowance 

3.5 $800.00 

6 Impede or block pedestrian traffic 
on Shoreline Road Allowance 

3.6 $500.00 

7 Store personal property on 
Shoreline Road Allowance 

3.7 $250.00 

8 Park or store vehicle on Shoreline 
Road Allowance 

3.8 $250.00 

9  Alter shoreline without contacting 
Ministry of Natural Resources 

3.9 $800.00 

10  Attempt to Hinder or obstruct an 
Officer 

4.3 $500.00 

11 Hinder or obstruct an Officer 4.3 $500.00 

 
Note: The penalty provision for the offences indicated above in section 5.2 of this Bylaw No. 2022-10 

of which a certified copy has been filed. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  



 

 

Employee Wellness Policy 

Scope 

With the issues of mental and emotional wellness and physical wellness, being brought to the public 

forefront, the Township of Billings recognizes that the mental, emotional and physical wellness of all of 

its employees is important. 

 

Mental and emotional health include a person’s emotional, psychological and social well being and 

physical health would include personal health and lifestyle activities. Having sound mental, emotional 

and physical health is important as it also determines how a person will handle stress, make sound 

choices and how he/she will react when dealing with family, co-workers and the general public. Mental, 

emotional and physical health is important for the social well-being of the employee, their family and 

their employer. 

 

The Township recognizes that it has a responsibility to develop and implement a policy that will create 

an awareness of mental, emotional and physical wellbeing and that the Township will offer confidential 

assistance in in the event of an employee requiring assistance. The Township will strive to ensure that it 

will recognize and support employee wellbeing by ensuring that managers and staff work collaboratively 

in eliminating unhealthy stressors and workplace hazards. 

 

Policy & Procedures 

Employee Awareness 

1. The Township will provide, on a monthly basis, information handouts relating to mental, 

emotional or physical well being. 

2. The Township will post, on a bi-monthly basis, mental, emotional or physical health themed 

posters in its facilities where workers meet at the start of their shifts. 

3. The Township will provide, in conjunction with other municipalities, an annual half - full day 

awareness seminar that will have guest speakers and workshops that focus on mental, 

emotional and physical well being. 

 

Employee Assistance 

1. In the event that an employee comes forward seeking assistance with a mental, emotional or 

physical health concern, the Township will, in confidence, provide contact information for the 

employee source support information relating to their situation. 

2. In the event that an employee comes forward seeking assistance with a mental, emotional or 

physical health concern, the Township will provide, if required and if capable, a modified work 

program that will assist in return to regular duties 

3. In the event that an employee comes forward seeking assistance with a mental, emotional or 

physical health concern, the Municipality will provide assistance to the employee with providing 

documents and making contact with the Township’s group insurance providers. 

 



 

 

 

Employee Wellness Policy and Procedures  

Implementation Objectives 

 

1. Write a wellness policy for Township/Municipal H&S Policies. 

a) Policy is in a draft format ready for JH&SC, Management and Council approvals. (Jan. 21/22) 

 

2. Prepare and present wellness policy and procedures to Councils. (Feb. 14/22) 

 

3. Source and provide materials for management and supervisory training. 

a) Online training and resource materials for management and supervisors have been sourced 

through CCOHS. (Jan. 21/22) 

b) Develop a 30 – 60-minute training session for management and supervisor awareness. (Feb. 

7/22) 

 

4. Develop a plan for training sessions, training topics and a time table. 

a) Contact has been made with the Mood Disorders Society of Canada. 

-Discussions have been held with the MDSC regarding mental wellness programs and the 

associated costs. (Jan. 07/22) 

               b)   Produce a schedule for employee training sessions. 

               c)    Develop a list of topics for employee information sessions.    

 

5. Locate and put up physical/mental wellness posters. 

a) An Online Source for posters has been found. (Nov. 17/21) 

 

6. Plan a half – full day multi municipality mental wellness seminar for all staff and workers that 

would include a personal testimonial, workshops, videos and guest speakers. 

a) Set a seminar target date for October 2022. 

b) Develop and present tentative program costs. (Jan.21/22) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Mood Disorders Society of Canada 

Re: Pricing for Elephant in the Room 

1.  Elephants, Brochures and Bracelets 

• For 40 anti-stigma elephants, brochures and bracelets the bulk pricing is $7.50 for an 

individual set  

• Cost = $300.00 and the cost of shipping would need to be added to this price, note that 

there is no tax as we are a non-profit 

• we would send the above materials to you in advance of the implementation 

 

2. Workplace Posters 

• 1 x 1 Workplace EITR poster which would include the logo’s of the three groups =$75.00 this 

poster would contain common wording for all three organizations, the poster size is 8.5 x 11 

inches and the master graphic would be sent to you online for you to print out for the 

participants 

• Art if you are looking to customize the poster for each organization, the price point for three 

customized posters will be a total of = $175.00.  We would send you the 3 master graphics 

softcopy for you to print onsite 

 

3. Mental Health Presentation 

• For 1 x 1 hour Mental Health presentation via zoom the cost is = $1,250.00  

• If you would like 2 x 1 hour presentations by zoom the fee will be = $2,500.00 

• As this presentation is being quoted for a winter deliverable, we would include SAD as it is a 

winter month mental health condition 

 



1

Tiana Mills

To: Kathy McDonald
Subject: RE: Billings Landfill Saturday Hours

From: Bill Concannon  
Sent: Wednesday, February 09, 2022 11:21 AM 
To: Kathy McDonald <kmcdonald@billingstwp.ca> 
Subject: Billings Landfill Saturday Hours 
 
Hi Kathy, 
 
Please consider this my second formal request letter in order to have the Billings Landfill opened up once again on 
Saturdays starting as soon as possible. 
 
Having it closed down on a weekend day has been challenging for many Billings taxpayers especially as many consider 
Sundays to be a day of rest. 
 
It was explained to me that the reasoning behind the continued closure on Saturdays was that only 4 Billings residents 
or tax payers requested it be returned to being open on Saturdays. I believe that the consensus would be far greater 
than the suggested 4. 
 
Does council need proof of this before changing the open hours back to pre-pandemic days? If so, what sort of proof 
would they require? 
 
If council refuses to return to opening on Saturdays, please be so kind as to inform me on what to do to get this done. 
 
As always, I appreciate your help. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Bill Concannon 
 



The Township of Billings 
Lake Kagawong Resource Committee 

February 3, 2022 
 
 

PRESENT (electronically): Bryan Barker (Chair), Bob Clifford, Brian Foreshew, Sharon Jackson, Kathy 
McDonald (staff), Stan Pierce and Steve Webber 
Regrets: John Hoekstra 
  

1. Opening 
Motion by Stan Pierce, seconded by Bob Clifford 
That this meeting of Lake Kagawong Resource Committee be opened at 7:00 p.m. with Chair 
Bryan Barker presiding. 
 Carried 

 
2. Additions to the Agenda 

None  
 

3. Approval of the Agenda 
Motion by Bob Clifford, seconded by Stan Pierce 
That the agenda for the February 3, 2022 meeting be accepted as presented. 
  Carried 
 

4. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest 
None 

 
5. Adoption of the Minutes – January 20, 2022 

Motion by Steve Webber, seconded by Brian Foreshew 
That the minutes of the January 20, 2022, meeting be accepted as presented. 
  Carried 

 
6. Delegations 

None 
 

7. Old Business 
a) Report on Water Levels at the dam  

Brian Foreshew was unable to gain access to the gauge to read the level as he felt the ice 
looked unsafe. 
Kathy to Check with OCEC to see what their winter protocol is. 
 

b) Report on the status of OEC Website – Stan Pierce 
Stan Pierce reported that the Website is not up-to-date. The website only goes up to 
December 19, 2021. 
Kathy to check on the status of the webpage. 

 
 
 
 



8. New Business 
a) OEC-Update regarding extension of OEC Contract 

 
Discussion regarding suggestions for changes to the lease agreement 
- When the water levels are down the operator should take immediate action 
- This should apply to the upper limit as well. They are quicker to respond when the water 

level is up 
- Discussion as to what was part of the lease agreement and what was part of the Water 

Management Plan 
- This is a good opportunity to sit at the table with the operator and discuss the Water 

Management Plan 
- Bryan Barker suggested that OEC may entertain any concerns and incorporate into the 

lease as a Memorandum of Understanding 
- Possibly invite Bill Touzel to attend the next meeting 
- Current lease has no accountability to either party 
- There are no outstanding Ministry of Labour orders 
- Other concerns may be addressed by a guide that people can look at so they know the 

ins and outs of the operation 
 

9. Correspondence 
None 
 

10. Information 
None 

 
11. Closed Session 

None 
 

12. Recommendations to Council  
Moved by Brian Foreshew, seconded by Bob Clifford 
That the Committee recommends the following to be included as part of lease agreement: 
That any convention of terms of the lease may result in a review of the lease. 
And 
Subject to a mandatory five-year evaluation of the existing lase for purposes of legal review, 
example changes made by the lessee or lessor, or outside agencies, environmental impacts and 
climate change. 

 
13. Next Meeting 

February 3, 2022 
 

14. Adjournment 
Motion by Stan Pierce, seconded by Bob Clifford 
That the meeting be adjourned at 8:45 p.m. 
 Carried 

 
 



 

1 
 

 
February 3, 2022 
 
MEMORANDUM TO:  Municipal Chief Administrative Officers and Clerks  
 
SUBJECT: Steps to Cautiously and Gradually Ease Public Health 

Measures While Protecting Hospital and Health Care 
Capacity 

 
 
Today, I am writing to provide an update on Ontario’s response to the current COVID-19 
pandemic situation. As a result of public health and workplace safety measures that 
were put into effect on January 5, 2022, there appear to be signs of stabilization in key 
public health and health system indicators. I want to express my deep gratitude to 
municipal practitioners who have worked tirelessly to support their communities 
throughout the pandemic. 
 
On January 20, 2022, the government announced that province will exit Modified Stage 
Two and return all public health units to Step Three on January 31, 2022. 
 
In the absence of concerning trends in public health and health system indicators, 
Ontario will follow a cautious and phased approach to lifting public health measures, 
with 21 days between each step.  Ontario set out its intended approach over the next 
several weeks. 
 
January 31, 2022 
On January 31, 2022, Ontario begins the process of gradually easing restrictions, while 
maintaining protective measures, including but not limited to: 

• Increasing social gathering limits to 10 people indoors and 25 people outdoors. 
• Increasing or maintaining capacity limits at 50 per cent in indoor public settings, 

including but not limited to: 
o Restaurant, bars and other food and drink establishments without dance 

facilities; 
o Retailers (including grocery stores and pharmacies) 
o Shopping malls; 
o Non-spectator areas of sports and recreational fitness facilities, including 

gyms; 
o Cinemas; 

Ministry of Municipal  
Affairs and Housing 
   
Office of the Deputy Minister 
  
777 Bay Street, 17th Floor  
Toronto ON   M7A 2J3  
Tel.: 416 585-7100  
  
  

Ministère des Affaires  
Municipales et du Logement 
 
Bureau du sous-ministre 
 
777, rue Bay, 17e étage 
Toronto ON   M7A 2J3 
Tél. : 416 585-7100 

 



 

2 
 

o Meeting and event spaces, including conference centres and convention 
centres; 

o Recreational amenities and amusement parks, including water parks; 
o Museums, galleries, aquariums, zoos and similar attractions; and 
o Casinos, bingo halls and other gaming establishments 
o Religious services, rites, or ceremonies. 

• Allowing spectator areas of facilities such as sporting events, concert venues and 
theatres to operate at 50 per cent seated capacity or 500 whichever is less. 

 

 

Enhanced proof of vaccination, and other requirements would continue to apply in 
existing settings.    

Please see Ontario Regulation 364/20, Rules for Areas at Step 3 and at the Roadmap 
Exit Step for the full list of measures. 
 
February 21, 2022 
Effective February 21, 2022, Ontario intends to lift public health measures, including: 

• Increasing social gathering limits to 25 people indoors and 100 people 
outdoors. 

• Removing capacity limits in indoor public settings where proof of vaccination is 
required, including but not limited to restaurants, indoor sports and recreational 
facilities, cinemas, as well as other settings that choose to opt-in to proof of 
vaccination requirements. 

• Permitting spectator capacity at sporting events, concert venues, and theatres 
at 50 per cent capacity. 

• Limiting capacity in most remaining indoor public settings where proof of 
vaccination is not required to the number of people that can maintain two 
metres of physical distance. 

• Indoor religious services, rites or ceremonies limited to the number that can 
maintain two metres of physical distance, with no limit if proof of vaccination is 
required. 

• Increasing indoor capacity limits to 25 per cent in the remaining higher-risk 
settings where proof of vaccination is required, including nightclubs, wedding 
receptions in meeting or event spaces where there is dancing, as well as 
bathhouses and sex clubs. 

Enhanced proof of vaccination, and other requirements would continue to apply in 
existing settings. 
 
March 14, 2022 
Effective March 14, 2022, Ontario intends to take additional steps to ease public 
health measures, including: 

• Lifting capacity limits in all indoor public settings. Proof of vaccination will be 
maintained in existing settings in addition to other regular measures. 

https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/200364
https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/200364
https://covid-19.ontario.ca/public-health-measures


 

3 
 

• Lifting remaining capacity limits on religious services, rites, or ceremonies. 
• Increase social gathering limits to 50 people indoors with no limits for outdoor 

gatherings. 
 

 

PROOF OF VACCINATION 
As announced on December 10, 2021, it is now mandatory to use the enhanced 
vaccine certificate with QR code to gain access to settings that require proof of 
vaccination. The QR code can be used digitally or by printing a paper copy. Individuals 
can download their enhanced certificate with QR code by visiting https://covid-
19.ontario.ca/get-proof. 
 
In addition, businesses are also now required to verify the certificate using the Verify 
Ontario app, which is available to download for free from the Apple App and Google 
Play stores. The app can be used without an internet connection and never stores 
personal information.  
 
Individuals will continue to need to show a piece of identification that matches their 
name and date of birth to their enhanced COVID-19 vaccine certificate when visiting 
select businesses and organizations. 
 
Note that businesses and organizations no longer need to collect information for case 
and contact management. 
 
There are two exclusions to the use of mandatory enhanced vaccination certificates in 
Ontario: nine First Nations communities and international visitors to Ontario who do not 
have a scannable QR code.  
 
Community members of nine First Nations can continue to use their original paper or 
electronic proof of vaccination along with identification where proof of vaccination is 
required. They do not need to have an enhanced vaccine certificate with QR code to 
enter the premises. This exclusion reflects the Province’s commitment respecting 
Indigenous data sovereignty and decisions made by these communities.  
 
These First Nations include:  

• Anishinaabeg of Naongashiing  
• Big Grassy First Nation 
• Lac La Croix First Nation  
• Mitaanjigamiing First Nation 
• Nigigoonsiminikaaning First Nation 
• Ojibways of Onigaming First Nation  
• Rainy River First Nation  
• Seine River First Nation 
• Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation 

 
Visitors to Ontario from outside of Canada (OOC) who do not have a QR code that can 
be successfully scanned by the Verify Ontario app are also excluded. In that case, they 

https://news.ontario.ca/en/release/1001327/ontario-taking-action-to-protect-against-omicron-variant
https://covid-19.ontario.ca/get-proof/
https://covid-19.ontario.ca/get-proof/
https://news.ontario.ca/en/backgrounder/1000806/using-your-vaccination-receipt-frequently-asked-questions


 

4 
 

must show businesses their international vaccine receipts and a valid non-Canadian 
passport or valid NEXUS cards ID for visual verification of their proof of vaccination. 
This is an interim measure until visitors from OOC can be assigned a temporary 
traveler’s QR code via the Federal government upon their entry to Canada.  
 
To review proof of vaccine for international visitors who may not have a compatible QR 
code, businesses and organizations should visually confirm: 

 
• That the first name, last name and date of birth of the person on the vaccination 

documentation matches the non-Canadian passport provided; and 
• That their vaccine documentation meets the definition of fully vaccinated and at 

least 14 days have lapsed since the second l dose of vaccine.  
  
The government has updated the regulation, Guidance for Businesses and 
Organizations and Questions and Answers to support the implementation of the 
enhanced vaccine certificate with a QR code and the Verify Ontario app.  
 
BUSINESS SUPPORTS 
I also wanted to take this opportunity to share information about new programs that may 
be helpful to municipal Economic Development staff who are supporting your local 
businesses during these restrictions. The government has launched the Ontario 
Business Costs Rebate Program to support businesses required to close or reduce 
capacity due to the public health measures put in place to blunt the spread of the 
Omicron variant. Through the new program, the government will provide eligible 
businesses with a rebate payment of up to 100 per cent for property tax and energy 
costs they incur while subject to these restrictions. Applications for the program opened 
on January 18, 2022. Learn more about the program and apply here. 
 
The government is also introducing a new COVID-19 Small Business Relief Grant that 
will give eligible businesses subject to closure under the modified Step Two of the 
Roadmap to Reopen a $10,000 grant. The money is expected to flow to eligible 
businesses in February.  
 
Lastly, the government is also improving cash flows for eligible Ontario businesses by 
making up to $7.5 billion available through a six-month interest- and penalty-free period 
for Ontario businesses to make payments for most provincially administered taxes. This 
penalty and interest-free period started on January 1, 2022. This supports businesses 
now and provides the flexibility they will need for long-term planning. 
 
COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT 
The ministry recognizes that municipalities have been a key partner in the defence 
against this virus through the coordinated compliance and enforcement activities your 
staff have been undertaking in your communities. The Ontario government is continuing 
to help workplaces stay safe and stay open by carrying out COVID-19 safety 
campaigns. These campaigns are developed in consultation with local public health 

https://www.ontario.ca/laws/regulation/200364
https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/coronavirus/docs/guidance_proof_of_vaccination_for_businesses_and_organizations.pdf
https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/pro/programs/publichealth/coronavirus/docs/guidance_proof_of_vaccination_for_businesses_and_organizations.pdf
https://u21118854.ct.sendgrid.net/ls/click?upn=lD4dx-2BnG5q0hGva6EtJJPXutpHdD30hzQII7KMNv14bTK7PvQuWvXqshdr-2FcpszVZKlpjx9uLx03jiev8vlviYAPmHn01kGzNq0DjQ7l771MlyKij3J8bBn1OEjuDaXgQbWcrHV7OnSFRAiaid8qj3BL6AvvxAa1B4UhYEHjOkk5M5fY1LSw77g03La9I4-2BOL-2F1AlXpe5AuzzYIgyGyfchUlOzMeRw-2FjeZ4sJiM4-2BCX9oH7SfDSQdZdmKAFIdELs0aHzzeakiDFMzSuFqJEW84LICjlHkm9-2BYjcvJK7Qc73R2wRvV-2B3t3rpVwK2b6Jl4UIrPfUrXdjpo0hW7hO68-2Fw-3D-3DEW1G_ui4sBaGGFapffsNwC7iwykxt6HKmFjCkry4CXCWJvaWFL4kgqnqhqdVLu8gk0qgW-2ByQ2zg-2FRnyFBy6BN-2BOnGoY09JqqAF3R3ug0hxmsPf2bFMz0DAjA8sPeg-2FqAeAdTsS-2BNPw7al83HzCdprVGQ8WjAB-2BsUeTQKOqFDta2JYCf3AOdfB-2Bzn-2FpeOPH5q5ixFHF6x0UHM68cXb2luxRGWqZZPDKdj1OPbHlQO2YzFW1lU-3D
https://u21118854.ct.sendgrid.net/ls/click?upn=lD4dx-2BnG5q0hGva6EtJJPXutpHdD30hzQII7KMNv14bTK7PvQuWvXqshdr-2FcpszVZKlpjx9uLx03jiev8vlviYAPmHn01kGzNq0DjQ7l771MlyKij3J8bBn1OEjuDaXgQbWcrHV7OnSFRAiaid8qj3BL6AvvxAa1B4UhYEHjOkk5M5fY1LSw77g03La9I4-2BOL-2F1AlXpe5AuzzYIgyGyfchUlOzMeRw-2FjeZ4sJiM4-2BCX9oH7SfDSQdZdmKAFIdELs0aHzzeakiDFMzSuFqJEW84LICjlHkm9-2BYjcvJK7Qc73R2wRvV-2B3t3rpVwK2b6Jl4UIrPfUrXdjpo0hW7hO68-2Fw-3D-3DEW1G_ui4sBaGGFapffsNwC7iwykxt6HKmFjCkry4CXCWJvaWFL4kgqnqhqdVLu8gk0qgW-2ByQ2zg-2FRnyFBy6BN-2BOnGoY09JqqAF3R3ug0hxmsPf2bFMz0DAjA8sPeg-2FqAeAdTsS-2BNPw7al83HzCdprVGQ8WjAB-2BsUeTQKOqFDta2JYCf3AOdfB-2Bzn-2FpeOPH5q5ixFHF6x0UHM68cXb2luxRGWqZZPDKdj1OPbHlQO2YzFW1lU-3D
https://u21118854.ct.sendgrid.net/ls/click?upn=lD4dx-2BnG5q0hGva6EtJJPfjzXuD8-2BqKxBrfipxpbllz6rx-2F-2BsSJ7uniFqpcxdE-2FjN6-2Bw2zM6-2BrimITh6jsILx65Q9TEejz2tfFrYaCSCDMU4ugbAB9kcF0Q8lipzWbP14NQ5sWTp2HyGp-2FBJst-2F4EsDZSxyPecSsPvuvnXmcSf3eByHHT5-2BDjA2pFR5KqIV228KAD7-2FJwHNWiFlsLbIcPWjeRD0FMp0zhqB70IAkvFlg4I5n6Wx3Yq2T1zX0JwAib5voQrcCZ4vSTl-2BLEfDGWZy2tfF8WXliohgc6AKODVA-3D4qWb_ui4sBaGGFapffsNwC7iwykxt6HKmFjCkry4CXCWJvaWFL4kgqnqhqdVLu8gk0qgW-2ByQ2zg-2FRnyFBy6BN-2BOnGoZlct9mWfzZS-2Ff-2F020kT3fPJGs-2FiXWHNop-2FNA4QWvZl5bUes6o-2B3PgStAhsoeWsgqhOVauFOt-2BjKGKnJ-2FZHojhNvzJZECWCaLLBUG2QxNudVwYdo6vtrb6wTtcHSMXLx-2B0lRq6v7bDqoQZg57CF3t-2B8-3D
https://www.ontario.ca/page/businesses-get-help-covid-19-costs#section-0
https://www.ontario.ca/page/businesses-get-help-covid-19-costs#section-0


 

5 
 

units, and bylaw enforcement departments, and support Ontario’s Plan to Safely 
Reopen Ontario.  
 
As you are aware, these campaigns include visits to workplaces that present 
heightened risk factors for potential transmission of COVID-19. If you are interested in 
having a provincial team support local compliance and enforcement activities in your 
community, please contact William (BJ) Alvey, Manager and Executive Advisor of 
Regulatory Compliance Ontario by email at: William.BJ.Alvey@ontario.ca or by phone 
at 905-572-7648. 
 
RAPID ANTIGEN TEST KITS 
The Provincial Antigen Screening Program (PASP) provides free rapid antigen test kits 
to high-risk communities, organizations and workplaces, including 
municipalities.  Please refer to the Ontario Together portal for information on how to 
apply for rapid antigen tests, training, on-site rapid testing and reporting requirements.  
 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank you for your flexibility and cooperation 
throughout this pandemic. Our municipal partners continue to play an essential role in 
the response to COVID-19. 
 
Sincerely,  
 

 
 
Kate Manson-Smith 
Deputy Minister 

mailto:William.BJ.Alvey@ontario.ca
https://covid-19.ontario.ca/provincial-antigen-screening-program
https://covid-19.ontario.ca/get-free-rapid-tests


By email 

February 11, 2022 
 
 
RE: Evacuation Planning – Request for Municipal Support to EMO’s Preparations 
for the 2022 Flood and Wildland Fire Season 
 
Dear Community Emergency Management Coordinator (CEMC), 
 
Last year proved to be one of the province’s most challenging wildland fire seasons on 
record, with approximately 1,200 fires across Northern Ontario. The threat of these fires 
resulted in the evacuation of over 3,700 community members from six First Nation 
communities to locations in both northern and southern Ontario. 
 
On behalf of Emergency Management Ontario (EMO), I would like to express our 
sincere thanks and appreciation for the support and assistance from across the 
province that was provided to the impacted communities. 
 
The support provided by our emergency management partners helped ensure residents 
were safe, comfortable, and had the necessary resources available.  
 
REQUEST: 
 
I am asking all municipalities to help us support Indigenous Peoples: First Nations, Inuit 
and Métis, many of whose communities are impacted annually by floods and/or wildland 
fires, by proactively identifying sufficient capacity to concurrently host potential 
evacuees from various communities in Ontario. I would like to clarify that this request is 
not for any one municipality to solely confirm capacity to support thousands of 
evacuees; from our recent experience, the capacities committed by individual host 
municipalities ranged from ~100 up to ~1,000 evacuees. 
 
As the CEMC for your respective municipality, I am requesting your support to discuss 
this request with your Emergency Control Group (ECG) and respond with your 
respective hosting capabilities and capacities prior to the start of the 2022 F&WF 
season by February 25, 2022. At the end of this letter is a hyperlink to a form that will 
expedite your response. 
 
In the event your municipality has not hosted evacuees beforehand, I have appended a 
summary of the key responsibilities for municipal/regional hosts and/or hub locations 
during an emergency as well as supports EMO can offer. My staff are happy to engage 
with you if more details are required. 
 

Ministry of the Solicitor General 
 

Ministère du Solliciteur général    
  
Office of the 
Fire Marshal and  
Emergency Management  
 
25 Morton Shulman Avenue 
Toronto ON  M3M 0B1 
Tel: 647-329-1200 
 

Bureau du 
commissaire des incendies et  
de la gestion des situations d'urgence 
 
25, rue Morton Shulman 
Toronto ON  M7A 1Y6 
Tél.: 647-329-1200 
 
 



For further context, during the 2021 wildland fire season, in addition to some Indigenous 
and independent facility hosts, the Provincial Emergency Operations Centre (PEOC) 
coordinated evacuations to the following municipal/regional host and/or hub locations: 

• Town of Cochrane 
• City of Kenora 
• Town of Kapuskasing 
• City of Greater Sudbury  
• City of Thunder Bay 
• City of Timmins 
• Town of Sioux Lookout  
• City of Sault Ste. Marie 
• City of London 
• Peel Region and the City of Mississauga 

 
Prior to the start of the 2021 flooding season, the PEOC was able to confirm an 
evacuation capacity of approximately 2,000 spaces across a few municipalities in 
northern Ontario who agreed to host. While the risk of flooding in the James Bay area 
thankfully did not lead to any PEOC-coordinated evacuations, the risk to several remote 
First Nation communities due to wildland fires did require evacuation levels that 
exceeded this pre-identified capacity.  
 
To meet the imminent need to host evacuees in the midst of the wildland fire season, an 
additional ~2,000 spaces were required, creating intense pressure on federal, 
provincial, various municipal, and Indigenous partners, as well as stress and anxiety 
amongst impacted community members. Ultimately the PEOC was able to successfully 
coordinate the evacuations by relying on a combination of those municipalities who had 
committed to the pre-identified 2,000 spaces, a few First Nation communities who were 
able to host, and by independently securing hotels and services in a few southern 
Ontario municipalities.   
 
We know that the risk of flooding and wildland fires (F&WF) is present every spring and 
summer, especially affecting remote First Nation communities. Ontario needs to be 
prepared to respond to the potential risks should evacuations be required, which is why 
we are starting our planning efforts now. One critical component of our contingency 
planning is to identify locations and their capacities that can support evacuees 
throughout the 2022 F&WF season (typically April to September, with the possibility to 
start earlier and extend longer).  
 
If your municipality is potentially able to host evacuees, please indicate in your response 
the range of evacuees you could support (i.e. capacity to host). Additionally, we would 
appreciate an understanding of what supplementary resources and supports you would 
require from provincial, federal and/or Indigenous partners for that level of support and 
to increase your hosting capacity by another 25%.  
 
As you consider this request, please note that offering to host does not automatically 
mean you will be called upon to provide hosting/hub support during the 2022 F&WF 
season. Hosting decisions will be collaborative and determined based on a number of 
factors such as the risk of flooding and/or wildland fires and the impacts to communities 
prompting evacuations, the number of individuals requiring evacuation, particular 
requests of the evacuating communities, keeping families and communities together to 



the extent possible, and the availability of hosting capacity from Indigenous 
communities and federal partners.  
 
If your municipality is unable to host evacuees, we would still appreciate a response 
describing what specific gaps/challenges prevent you from doing so and what additional 
resources and supports you would require from provincial, federal and/or Indigenous 
partners to host any number of evacuees.  
 
To help inform your response, I also encourage you to consider registering for The 
United for Resilience: First Nations Emergency Management Symposium in mid-
February which is a collaborative event organized by Nishnawbe Aski Nation (NAN), 
Windigo First Nations Council, Independent First Nations Alliance, EMO, Indigenous 
Services Canada, the City of Timmins, and Northern College.  Building from lessons 
learned and experiences from this past wildland fire season, the symposium will also 
help inform the expected 500+ participants’ expectations for understanding of, and 
planning for the upcoming flood and wildland fire seasons. 
 
EMO and the province recognize that hosting evacuees is a complex endeavour, even 
more so during this pandemic, that can further challenge your community’s emergency, 
health, and social service resources. However, this is essential work and demonstrates 
our collective support for Indigenous communities. 
 
Rest assured that EMO is also engaging the federal government on a number of 
recommendations we have made which we believe will further enable municipalities and 
the province to have the tools in place to better host evacuees. For example, EMO is 
encouraging the removal of the indemnification clauses from municipal-federal hosting 
agreements, timelier reimbursements, increasing range of eligible expenses to be 
reimbursed (e.g. private health support services), and increased support to First Nations 
for their own emergency preparedness capacity and capabilities. 
 
To successfully coordinate evacuations of this scale, truly requires a multi-partner team 
effort and I thank you in advance for your consideration to support affected Indigenous 
communities in Ontario.  
 
I look forward to receiving your response by February 25, 2022 using the following link. 
 
In the coming weeks, EMO Field Officers will follow up with you directly to discuss 
results of this request and answer any questions you may have. In the meantime, if you 
have any questions, issues using the provided link or are eager to connect, feel free to 
send an email to contact Drew Maddison, Program Manager, Field Operations, at 
Drew.Maddison@ontario.ca. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=KRLczSqsl0u3ig5crLWGXFNUUVqWn5VBj61WPLh1UbFUOTZZTjJBN0ZXN0hPSkswVVlYWjdMOFpLSS4u
mailto:Drew.Maddison@ontario.ca


 
Thank you for your continued commitment to emergency management in Ontario. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Teepu Khawja 
Chief, Emergency Management Ontario 
Assistant Deputy Minister, Ministry of the Solicitor General 
 
c:  Drew Maddison, Program Manager, Field Operations  
  



APPENDIX: HOST RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
The host municipality plans for and provides temporary accommodations, wrap-around 
supports and services for evacuees, and is reimbursed through federal funding via a 
hosting agreement with Indigenous Services Canada (ISC).  
 
Typical responsibilities for host communities include culturally appropriate provision of: 

• Registration of evacuees 
• Transportation from and to the airport upon return  
• Lodging and food 
• Healthcare 
• Emergency social services 
• Safety and security 
• Education (in collaboration with the Ministry of Education) 
• Recreation 
• Amenities (e.g., personal care items and infant supplies) 
• Local transportation for family reunification  

 
Beyond the demonstration of goodwill and cost reimbursement, for assisting 
communities during their time of need and in circumstances beyond their control, there 
are also some economic benefits to your municipality (e.g. support to local business 
sales, restaurants, and hotels and a 10% administrative fee through ISC’s hosting 
agreement which allows municipalities to include this in addition to their cost 
reimbursements).  
 
Hosting evacuees also provides an opportunity to build your own emergency 
preparedness capacities and expertise. 
 
In addition, EMO along with provincial, federal, indigenous, and NGO partners will 
provide guidance and assistance to host municipalities throughout the evacuation 
process to ensure success. EMO will also provide the following supports: 
• EMO Field Officers will be readily available leading up to, and through F&WF 

season, to assist, guide, and advise host municipalities including on-site EMO liaison 
presence during evacuations. 

• Ensure full awareness of all parties' roles and responsibilities (per Joint Emergency 
Management Steering Committee Service Level Evacuation Standards (JEMS)).  

• Continue to work with provincial ministries to maximize COVID-19 vaccination 
across Ontario (e.g., ORI 3.0 for Indigenous communities). 

• Plan for additional health resources, and capacity for Indigenous cultural 
organizations to support evacuees within your municipality. 

• Work with federal and Indigenous leadership and Provincial Territorial Organizations 
(PTOs) to identify viable First Nation host communities to help build provincial 
capacity for hosting evacuees and identify resources/supports they can provide in a 
municipal host community throughout the evacuations. 

• Continue engaging and sharing the benefits of hosting evacuees through a number 
of municipal forums (e.g. AMO, NOMA, ROMA, CAO, and Clerks Forum, etc.) to 
maximize the number of host communities and reduce the burden on the few; and 

• Upon request, coordinate discussions between your municipality and EMO with 
federal, provincial, and Indigenous partners to address any barriers to host, or 
increase hosting capacity identified in your responses.  

                                       



 

 

TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 
MINUTES 

Climate Action Committee (CAC) 
 

November 24, 2021                                                                                                Virtual Meeting – Zoom@7pm 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Bryan Barker (Chair), Bob Clifford, Paul Darlaston, John Hoekstra, Chris Theijsmeijer 
(joined at 7:28 pm) 
REGRETS: None. 
Staff: Todd Gordon (EDO, Recorder) 
Members of the Public: 1 
Media: Lori Thompson – Manitoulin Expositor 
 

1) OPEN 

The meeting was called to order at 7:02 pm. 
Moved by P. Darlaston; Seconded by John Hoekstra. Carried. 

 

2) APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

The agenda for the November 24, 2021, meeting was approved. 
Moved by B. Clifford; Seconded by Paul Darlaston. Carried. 

 

3) DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST  

None. 
 

4) ADOPTION OF MINUTES 

The minutes for the October 6th, 2021, meeting were approved, as corrected (Item 8, III, date). 
Moved by B. Clifford; Seconded by P. Darlaston. Carried. 

 

5) DELEGATIONS 

None. 
 

6) OLD BUSINESS 
 

I. CEEP – Final Revisions 

The final version of the CEEP was presented to the Committee in the agenda pkg. A further 
round of typographical corrections and formatting adjustments had been made, without any 
substantive content changes. The final, revised CEEP will be available on the municipal website, 
with hard copies available for Committee members who request one. The updated Billings GHG 
inventory will also replace the current inventory on the website. 
 

II. CCIC - Update 

The Committee was informed that local advertising had been undertaken for the position of 
Climate Change Implementation Coordinator (CCIC).  



 

2 
 

7) NEW BUSINESS 

 
I. COP 26 

Paul Darlaston provided the Committee with a synopsis of the COP 26 process and outcome to 
date. 
 

II. Climate Action Committee - TOR 

The Committee was provided with an opportunity to review the draft CAC Terms of Reference 
(TOR) as revised to reflect the committee’s status change from ad hoc to standing, and to reflect 
the committee’s evolving role – from advising Council in CEEP creation, to advising Council in CEEP 
implementation. 

III. Climate Action Committee - Makeup  
 
This item was actually discussed during the review of the TOR. In that discussion, the Committee 
discussed seeking a secondary school student to sit on the CAC, and the likelihood of finding a 
Billings student who may be interested. 
 

8) CORRESPONDENCE 
 

None 
 

9) INFORMATION 
 

None 
 

10) CLOSED SESSION 
 

None 
 

11) RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL 
 

None 
 

12) NEXT MEETING 
 

January 19th, 2022 @ 7:00 pm - Virtual (Zoom) 
 

13) ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 8:38 pm, on a motion by P. Darlaston. 
 



 

 

TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 
Economic Development Committee 

MINUTES 
December 15, 2021, 7:00 pm                                                        Electronic Meeting (Zoom Meetings) 

PRESENT: Ian Anderson (Mayor), Councillor Sharon Alkenbrack (Chair), Suzanne Darlaston, Councillor Sharon 
Jackson, Diane Larocque, Tracey Paris 
Staff: Todd Gordon, Economic Development Officer; Tiana Mills, Deputy Clerk 

REGRETS: Chris Dietrich 
Members of the Public: None 
 

1. Opening of Meeting  
Motion by Tracey Paris; Second by Suzanne Darlaston. Carried 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm. 

 

2. Approval of Agenda 
Motion by Ian Anderson; Second by Sharon Jackson: 
That the agenda for the December 15, 2021 meeting be accepted as written. Carried. 

 

3. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest  
None 
 

4. Adoption of Minutes 
Motion by Diane Larocque; Second by Tracey Paris: 
That the minutes of the November 10, 2021 meeting be accepted as presented. Carried. 

 

5. Delegations 
None 

 

6. Council Update Report 
Chair Alkenbrack provided a brief overview of the previous Council meetings (Dec 2, Nov 22, Nov 
18,2021). 

 

7. Financial Report 
The EDO reported that there was no formal financial report and that there had been no EDC-related 
expenditures since the November meeting. 

 

8. EDO Update 
The EDO provided an update on various municipal projects. 
 

9. Old Business 
a) Winter Promotions Campaign – Discussion 
Committee discussion, with the EDO and the Deputy Clerk (social media page host) on what themes 
should be used/highlighted, businesses that are open; activities that can be promoted. The EDO and 
Deputy Clerk agreed to work on a trial posting for mid-January. 

 

b) EDC Membership – New member 
Hopefully, the new EDC member will join the Committee for the January 2022 meeting. 
 
c) EDC Mandate/Regrouping - Discussion 
More discussion of constraints versus opportunities, or constraints as opportunities. Discussion of 
readiness for economic development – what steps need to be taken first before concrete specific 
initiatives are undertaken. The EDO agreed to share information/links regarding “readiness for economic 



 

2 
 

development,” and also look for resources on asset-mapping. The EDO also shared the text of a recap 
email from the Teeny-Tiny Summit on “Rural Resurgence.” 

 
10. New Business 

None 
 

11. Correspondence 
None 

 

12. Information 
None 

 

13. Recommendations to Council 
None 

14. Next Meeting: January 12th, 2021 at 7:00 pm, Zoom Meetings 
 

15. Adjournment: The meeting was adjourned at 8:23 p.m. on a motion by Tracey Paris. 



 

 

TOWNSHIP OF BILLINGS 
Economic Development Committee 

MINUTES 
January 18th, 2022, 7:00 pm                                                        Electronic Meeting (Zoom Meetings) 

PRESENT: Ian Anderson (Mayor), Councillor Sharon Alkenbrack (Chair), Suzanne Darlaston, Chris Dietrich, 
Councillor Sharon Jackson, Diane Larocque, Tracey Paris 
Staff: Todd Gordon, Economic Development Officer 

REGRETS: None 
Members of the Public: None 
 

1. Opening of Meeting  
Motion by Suzanne Darlaston; Second by Diane Larocque: 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm. 

 

2. Approval of Agenda 
Motion by Sharon Jackson; Second by Tracy Paris: 
That the agenda for the January 18th, 2022 meeting be accepted as written. Carried. 

 

3. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interest  
None 
 

4. Adoption of Minutes 
Motion by Diane Larocque; Second by Tracey Paris: 
That the minutes of the December 15th, 2021 meeting be accepted as presented. Carried. 

 

5. Delegations 
None 

 

6. Council Update Report 
Chair Alkenbrack provided a brief overview of the previous Council meeting – January 17th, 2022). 

 

7. Financial Report 
The EDO reported that there was no formal financial report and that there had been no EDC-related 
expenditures since the December meeting. 

 

8. EDO Update 
The EDO provided an update on various municipal projects. This included his role change from Economic 
Development Officer (EDO), to Municipal Project Manager (MPM). The MPM will continue to work with 
the EDC, as staff representative/liaison. 
 

9. Old Business 
a) Winter Promotions Campaign – Discussion 
Committee discussion regarding follow-through with a January FB post – it was agreed that a generic first 
FB post should be made. 

 

b) EDC Mandate/Regrouping - Discussion 
The Chair asked committee members to each identify two “assets” about Billings that represent 
opportunity for community/economic development. 
Councillor Jackson identified the reality that most people in attendance were relative newcomers – and 
asked them to use that perspective in thinking about assets/opportunities. As in, “what attracted you 
initially to Billings/Kagawong? She went on to highlight the trails and plenty of natural 
spaces/recreational opportunities as assets that always come to mind for her. 



 

2 
 

Chris Dietrich highlighted the history of the township – the richness and diversity of it, as assets. He used 
the examples of the Danny Dodge story and Harbour Island. He suggested that although the Museum and 
Heritage Centre have profiled these stories and others, there may be other ways that the community 
could harness history for community economic development. Secondly, he highlighted the 
environmental/natural assets of the township. 
Diane Larocque spoke about the summer market/summer activities, including unique businesses, and the 
attraction quality of the waterfront, as well as the overall landscape, particularly Bridal Veil Falls. 
Suzanne Darlaston responded to Councillor Jackson’s query and thought about when she was first 
attracted to the area, speaking about the appeal of a small community with ready access to services in 
slightly larger centres. She would like more thought given to services and activities for seniors – which 
may cross into the realm of the Parks, Recreation and Wellness Committee. She is also concerned that in 
making infrastructure improvements to Kagawong – needed though they may be – some of the character 
of the community may be lost, including some of the natural beauty. She’d like to see effort put into re-
greening and preserving the hamlet character – encouraging pedestrian movement, and not giving way 
too much to vehicle movement and parking. 
Tracey Paris thought the proximity to abundant and diverse natural spaces, and the “rustic” feel of Billings 
and Kagawong appealed to her when coming here to live. She thinks that the balance between 
vehicles/parking and pedestrian movement can be maintained in Kagawong going forward, and that 2021 
saw a lot of pedestrian movement in spite of it being a construction year. 
Mayor Anderson spoke about consciously thinking about much of the island – at least Central and 
Western Manitoulin – when choosing a place to build and settle earlier in his work career. He spoke of 
the ready, safe access to the North Channel, as well as a good feel/good “fit” with the community of 
Billings and Kagawong, as a factor in staying in the area. 
Chair Alkenbrack also highlighted the abundance and diversity of green space and the natural 
environment, the relative quietness of Kagawong – even during the busy Tourist season. She’d like to see 
that balance maintained – enough economic activity for people to maintain decent livelihoods without so 
much activity that the shared benefits of living in Billings are not lost. 

 
10. New Business 

• It was not formally on the agenda, but the Chair reminded the MPM that he had agreed to discuss the 
possibility of the municipal marina stocking angling supplies with other staff (treasurer, marina 
manager, CAO). The MPM agreed to do so. 

• Not a formal agenda item - The MPM reminded the committee that budget discussions should be on 
the agenda for the February meeting 

 

11. Correspondence 
None 

 

12. Information 
None 

 

13. Recommendations to Council 
None 

14. Next Meeting: February 9th, 2021 at 7:00 pm, Zoom Meetings 
 

15. Adjournment: The meeting was adjourned at 8:05 p.m. on a motion by Chris Dietrich. 



 

Bylaw Report 

Year end Report 2021 

 

 

I apologize for the delay in getting this report to you for your review as I had missed the agenda 

submission date for the Council meetings. 

I believe that Council, staff and myself will agree that 2021 was a progressive year in terms of 

the development of Township bylaws. By having the “special Council meetings” to review and 

discuss each bylaw on a line-by-line format has provided the Township residents with a very 

transparent view of the bylaw development process. The process also elicited many responses 

from the Township residents that were taken into consideration as well. 

In terms of bylaw enforcement, 2021 was successful in the fact that there was considerable 

bylaw enforcement compliance from Township residents without having to issue many citations 

for bylaw infractions. 

 

Enforcement  

Over the course of 2021 there were 30 incident contact reports produced that were either the 

result of a formal complaint from a resident being filed or an issue identified during a bylaw 

compliance patrol. 

 

The following is a breakdown of the contacts: 

a) Trailer on vacant properties. X 10 

b) Dogs running at large. X 4 

c) Altering Township property. X 4 

d) Lighting complaints. X 2 

e) Property standards complaints. X 3 

f) Zoning bylaw concerns. X 3 

g) Open Fire Complaints. X 1 

h) Trespass Complaints. X 2 

i) Special Event. X1 

 

It should be noted that each contact is followed up with one or more personal contacts and 

correspondence with the person’s involved. 

Of these, there are 2 of the cases that have not been fully resolved. 

Also, there were 12 weekends where bylaw compliance patrols took place. 

 



Bylaws  

There was a total of 9 bylaws that were produced over the course of 2021. Each of these bylaws 

that were produced required document research, legislative research as well as the preparation 

of the bylaw document and an internal review prior to being forwarded. 

 

 The enforceable bylaws that were produced and passed by Council in 2021 are as follows: 

a) Bylaw to enforce bylaws 

b) Domestic Animal /Exotic Pet Bylaw 

c) Noise Bylaw 

d) Recreational Trailer Bylaw 

There are currently 2 bylaws that are being reviewed by Council, and there are 3 bylaws ready 

to be brought forward. 

 

Respectfully 

 

Arthur Moran 

Bylaw Enforcement Officer 

 

 



Township of Billings
ACCOUNTS FOR PAYMENT JAN 28 - FEB 16 2022

 Cheque No.Cheque Date  Payee  Amount

7136 Feb 15, 2022 Township of Billings 415.87 

7137 Feb 16, 2022 Allens Auto Parts 1,196.06 

7138 Feb 16, 2022 Anderson, Ian 100.00 

7139 Feb 16, 2022 Bonenfant, Megan 3,000.00 

7140 Feb 16, 2022 Bridal Veil Variety 605.59 

7141 Feb 16, 2022 Hore, William 250.00 

7142 Feb 16, 2022 Jefkins, Harold 50.00 

7143 Feb 16, 2022 Manitoulin Centennial Manor 10,041.61 

7144 Feb 16, 2022 Manitoulin Planning Board 8,907.45 

7145 Feb 16, 2022 McDougall Energy Inc. 1,314.07 

7146 Feb 16, 2022 Mindemoya Home Hardware 120.67 

7147 Feb 16, 2022 Minister of Finance ( Policing) 17,993.00 

7148 Feb 16, 2022 Purolator Courier Ltd 48.21 

7149 Feb 16, 2022 Rush Truck Centres of Canada Limited 199.87 

7150 Feb 16, 2022 Town of Northeastern Manitoulin & the Islands 2,499.00 

DS Jan 31 2022 Wells Fargo - Lease 108.01 

DS Jan 31 2022 Municipal Property Assessment Corp 8,951.67 

DS Jan 31 2022 Superior Propane 1,160.10 

DS Feb 1 2022 Canada Life - RSP 1,350.14 

DS Feb 2 2022 Payroll 14,323.80 

DS Feb 10 2022 Manulife 2,300.46 

DS Feb 10 2022 OCWA - Contract 9,904.00 

DS Feb 14 2022 Payroll Remittance 12,242.98 

DS Feb 15 2022 Canada Life - RSP 1,375.50 

DS Feb 16 2022 Payroll 14,729.24 

Total 113,187.30 

Generated On: Feb 16, 2022


